
 

 

Copeland Borough Council 
The Market Hall 
Market Place 
Whitehaven 
CA28 7JG  

 
COUNCIL 
AGENDA 

 
Venue: The Atrium, The Copeland Centre, Catherine Street, 

Whitehaven. CA28 7SJ  
Date:   Wednesday, 28th July, 2021 
Time:   2.00 pm 
Contact Officer: Clive Willoughby  Tel: 07385 362806 

 
 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Declarations of Interest in Agenda Items   

3. Local Government Reform - Verbal Update   

4. Parliamentary Boundary Review 2023  1 - 68 

5. Constitution  69 - 220 

6. Financial Matters Relating To Covid-19 - Distribution of Further 
Central Government 'Additional Restrictions Grant Scheme' - 
Noting of Urgent Action  

221 - 240 

7. Motion, received under rule 12 of Chapter 5 of the Constitution, 
from Councillor Joseph Ghayouba  

241 - 242 

 
Membership: Councillors Jeanette Forster (Chair), David Banks, 
Jackie Bowman, Hugh Branney, Graham Calvin, James Date, Gemma Dinsdale, 
Gwynneth Everett, Allan Forster, JosephGhayouba, Fred Gleaves, 
Jeffrey Hailes, Mike Hawkins, Tom Higgins, Linda Jones-Bulman (Deputy Chair), 
Joan Hully, John Kane, Charles Maudling, Ged McGrath, Michael McVeigh, 
Sam Meteer, Graham Minshaw, David Moore, Steven Morgan, Brian O'Kane, 
Sam Pollen, Andy Pratt, Russell Studholme, Peter Tyson, Carl Walmsley, 
Eileen Weir, Doug Wilson and Felicity Wilson 

 
Contacts:  Direct Dial: 07385 362806 
   E-mail: clive.willoughby@copeland.gov.uk 
   Website: www.copeland.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



Full Council – 28 July 2021 
 
REVIEW OF PARLIAMENTARY CONSTITUENCIES – REPORT OF ELECTORAL REVIEW 
PANEL 
 
LEAD MEMBER: Eileen Weir, Chair of Electoral Review Panel 
LEAD OFFICER: Pat Graham, Chief Executive 
REPORT AUTHOR: Stephanie Shaw, Electoral & Democratic Services 

Manager 
 
Summary: 
 
 
 
 
Recommendation: 

Reports the recommendations of the Electoral Review 
Panel on the proposals of the Boundary Commission for 
England for revised Parliamentary Constituencies in 
Cumbria 
 
That Council considers the initial proposals for Cumbria 
and the recommendations of the Electoral Review Panel, 
and that a response based on these recommendations 
and alternative proposal be forwarded to the Boundary 
Commission for England as the Council’s formal response 
to the consultation. 
 

 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The Boundary Commission for England (BCE) is an independent and 

impartial non-departmental public body which is responsible for reviewing 
Parliamentary constituency boundaries in England. 

  
1.2 The BCE has the task of periodically reviewing all the Parliamentary 

constituencies in England.  It is currently conducting a review based on the 
rules set by Parliament in 2020.   

 
1.3 The Parliamentary Constituencies Act 2020 provides for a fixed number of 

parliamentary constituencies for the whole of the UK and new rules for the 
calculation of electorate figures for use when constituencies are reviewed 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



by the BCE. The BCE is required to make a formal report to the Government 
on the outcome of the current review by 1 July 2023. 

 
1.4 This report summerises the provisions of the 2020 Act and reports the initial 

proposals of the BCE in the current review for constituencies in Cumbria.  
 
1.5 It also sets out a response to the proposals, including an alternative 

proposal considered by the Electoral Review Panel for Council to consider 
and approve, with the formal response to be submitted to BCE by 2 August 
2021. 

  
2. BACKGROUND TO THE REVIEW 
 
2.1 Whilst retaining the overall number of constituencies across the UK at 650, 

the 2020 Act applies a distribution formula that results in an increase in the 
number of constituencies in England (From 533 to 543).   

 
2.2 The Act require that every constituency across the UK (except five specified 

exceptions) must have an electorate that is no less than 95% and no more 
than 105% of the UK electoral quota.  The electoral quota is 73,393.  Every 
constituency (except the five protected constituencies) must have an 
electorate as at 2 March 2020 that is no smaller than 69,724 and no larger 
than 77,062. 

 
3. NEW PROPOSALS FOR CUMBRIA 
 
3.1 The North West has been allocated 73 constituencies – a reduction of 

two from the current number. The proposal for Cumbria is for six 
constituencies as it currently has.  
 

3.2 Due to the population size of Cumbria, the figures are too large for the 
county to be allocated five whole constituencies, but too few for six.   It is 
therefore, proposed that a sub-region be created by pairing Cumbria with 
Lancashire.  More information can be found on page 7, paragraph 11 to 13 
of the initial proposals document attached at appendix 1.   

 

Page 2



3.3 The proposals affecting Copeland are for a constituency called ‘Copeland 
and the Western Lakes’ made up of the 17 Copeland Borough Wards, 
together with two Allerdale Wards; Crummock & Derwent Valley and 
Keswick and four wards from South Lakeland; Ambleside & Grasmere, 
Bowness & Levens (Part), Broughton & Coniston and Windermere. Full 
details can be found on Page 13, paragraph 39 of the initial proposals 
document attached at appendix 1.   

 
3.4 A detailed map for the new proposals is attached as Appendix 2 to this 

Report. 
 
4 VIEWS ON THE PROPOSALS FOR CUMBRIA 
 
4.1 The Electoral Review Panel recognises the Boundary Commission for 

England is working to criteria laid down by government, however it 
questions the apparent simplistic approach of basing the number of electors 
in each constituency, as in effect, the main criteria for this consultation.  

 
4.2 The council were involved in the previous consultation regarding 

constituency boundaries in 2011 and 2016.  In 2016 the Boundary 

Commission proposed to reduce the number of MPs in Cumbria from 6 to 5. 

Exceptions have been made for other areas, why not Cumbria based on its 

geographical size.  Members feel that the 2016 proposal is still valid and are 

still in favor of such a move. Our proposal for a constituency based on West 

Cumbria closely follows our thinking in 2016. 

4.3 The Electoral review Panel considered the proposals at a meeting on 1 July 

2021, at which four members were present. Having considered the effects 

on the inhabitants of the Borough, the Panel members present strongly 

disagreed with the proposal to link Whitehaven and the rest of Copeland 

with Windermere for the following reasons: 

4.3.1 Special geographic considerations  

The proposed constituency is split roughly in half in terms of geographic 

area, with the main towns of Windermere in the east and Whitehaven in 

Page 3



the west. The two sides are separated by the high fells of Cumbria including 

the highest mountain in England, Scafell Pike. The only direct road access is 

over the tortuous and steep Hard Knott and Wrynose Passes. This route is 

inaccessible in winter due to snow and all year round to large or articulated 

vehicles. Even by this route the distance between Windermere and 

Whitehaven is 40.1 miles and AA Route finder optimistically quotes a 

travelling time of 1 hour and 49 minutes. The alternative routes either north 

via Keswick or south via Broughton in Furness have travel times of 1 hour 13 

mins (48.8 miles) and 1 hour 30 mins (56.8 miles). 

Journey times by public transport between the railway stations in the two 

towns are over 2 hours 20 mins and can be more than 3 hours. There are no 

direct bus or train services, and by either means of transport two changes 

are required. 

The implications of the size and accessibility across the proposed 
constituency would affect any MP trying to represent the area, but also, 
disproportionately, constituents trying to access their MP and their office. 
It should also be considered that connectivity in the more rural areas is 

poor, which would also further restrict residents from contacting their MP. 

4.3.2 Local ties  

Not only is there a lack of any natural local tie between the two halves of 

the proposed constituency, but each side has strong ties with different 

towns.  

The eastern half of the proposed constituency looks to Kendal further south 

and east for the majority of its services including maternity and other 

hospital services, retail and as a major centre for employment. It is also 

where inhabitants would access the west coast mainline, either directly or 

via connecting trains on the Windermere branch line.  

 Whitehaven is the major service centre for most of the western half of the 

proposed constituency, containing a district general hospital, shops and 

Page 4



employment opportunities. Access to rail services is via the Barrow to 

Carlisle branch line along the Cumbrian coast.  

4.3.3 Economic Considerations 

The eastern half of the proposed constituency relies heavily on tourism, the 

service industry and agriculture for its economic lifeblood and employment 

opportunities. There is little history or tradition of heavy industry. By way of 

contrast, the western half of the area, particularly the larger population 

centres on the West Cumbrian coast, rely heavily on the nuclear industry at 

the Sellafield site and its associated service sector for employment. These 

areas are also characterised by substantial stocks of both modern social 

housing and high density nineteenth century homes associated with the 

extractive industries which dominated both the economy and the landscape 

of the West Cumbria coastal plain in the nineteenth and early twentieth 

centuries. 

4.4 For the above reasons, and particularly the topographical division of the 

area by the Cumbrian Fells, the Council considers that the proposed 

constituency would have little real sense of place; and that its two distinct 

eastern and western halves would have little in common in historical, 

economic, social or cultural terms. In effect it would have a devastating 

detrimental impact on the loss of the individual identities of the very 

different East / West communities. 

 
5. ALTERNATIVE PROPOSAL 
 
5.1 The Electoral Review Panel firmly believes that there is a strong imperative 

in favour of retaining a parliamentary constituency based on the West 

Cumbria coastal plain as was proposed by the Boundary Commission in 

2016, for the following reasons: 

Page 5



5.1.1 The area’s unique topographical characteristics separated as it is from the 

remainder of Cumbria by the Cumbrian Fells mountain range, and poor 

lateral infrastructure links. 

5.1.2 The economic reliance of the area on the largest industrial site in the UK at 

Sellafield and its associated service industries. 

5.1.3 The nature of the housing stock in the main population centres in the 

coastal plain. 

5.2 The Electoral Review Panel is therefore proposing that Council support the 

recommendation of an alternative to the Commission’s initial proposals, a 

West Cumbria constituency, consisting of the following wards of the 

Borough of Copeland: 

Arlecdon & Ennerdale, Beckermet, Cleator Moor, Corkickle, Distington, 

Lowca & Parton, Egremont, Gosforth & Seascale, Hillcrest, Kells, Moor Row 

& Bigrigg, Moresby, Sneckyeat, St Bees, Whitehaven Central and 

Whitehaven South. 

The following wards of the Borough of Allerdale:  

Harrington & Salterbeck, Flimby, Maryport North, Maryport South, 

Moorclose & Moss Bay, Seaton & Northside, St John’s, St Michael’s and 

Stainburn & Clifton. 

Total Electorate – 79,318 

6. CONCLUSION 
 
6.1 For the above reasons the Electoral Review Panel considers there is a strong 

case for retaining a constituency that recognises the integrity of West 
Cumbria as a coherent geographical entity and that retains the West 
Cumbrian nuclear sites.  
 

6.3 The Electoral Review Party recognises that the electorate figures are above 
the 5% allowance, however, it is felt that given the large geographic area of 
Cumbria, an exception should be considered. 

Page 6



 
7.     STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS  
 
7.1 Legal Comments; No legal issues arise from this report 
 
7.2 Monitoring Officer Comments are: No issues arise from this report 
 
7.2 The Section 151 Officer’s comments are: No financial implications arise 

from the report. 
 

7.3  EIA Comments: No issues arise from the report 
 
7.4     Policy Framework: Not applicable 
 
7.4     Other Consultee Comments, if any: none 
 
8 HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS BE PROJECT MANAGED AND HOW ARE THE 

RISKS GOING TO BE MANAGED? 
 
8.1 The review will be managed by the Electoral and Democratic Services 

Manager. 
 
9      WHAT MEASURABLE OUTCOMES OR OUTPUTS WILL ARISE FROM THIS 

REPORT? 
 
9.1 Council response to consultation submitted by 2 August 2021. 
 
List of Appendices  
Appendix 1 – Initial Proposals for North West Region 
Appendix 2 – Proposed Copeland and the western lakes constituency map 
Appendix 3 – alternative proposal Map  
 
List of Background Documents: All documents relating to the review can be 
viewed at bcereviews.org.uk 
 
 
 

Page 7

https://www.bcereviews.org.uk/


 
List of Background Documents: All documents relating to the review can be 
viewed at bcereviews.org.uk 

Page 8

https://www.bcereviews.org.uk/


Initial proposals for new 
Parliamentary constituency 
boundaries in the  
North West region

June 2021
Page 9



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region 1

Contents

 Summary 2
Who we are and what we do 2
The 2023 Review 2
Initial proposals 2
What is changing in the North West region? 2
How to have your say 3

1 What is the Boundary Commission for England? 4

2 Background to the 2023 Review 5
The rules in the legislation 6
Timetable for our review 7

Stage one – development of initial proposals 7
Stage two – consultation on initial proposals 8
Stage three – consultation on representations received 8
Stage four – development and publication of 
revised proposals 9
Stage five – development and publication of the final 
report and recommendations 9

3 Initial proposals for the North West region 10
Initial Proposals for the Cumbria and Lancashire 
sub-region 12
Initial Proposals for the Cheshire and Merseyside 
sub-region 17
Initial proposals in the Greater Manchester sub-region 21

4 How to have your say 25
How can you give us your views? 26
What do we want views on? 27

 Appendix: Initial proposals for constituencies, 
including wards and electorates 28

 Glossary 54

Page 10



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region2

Summary

Who we are and what we do
The Boundary Commission for England (BCE) is an independent and impartial 
non-departmental public body, which is responsible for reviewing Parliamentary 
constituency boundaries in England.

The 2023 Review
We have the task of periodically reviewing the boundaries of all the Parliamentary 
constituencies in England. We are currently conducting a review on the basis of 
legislative rules most recently updated by Parliament in 2020. Those rules tell us that 
we must make recommendations for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries by 
1 July 2023. While retaining the overall number of constituencies across the UK at 
650, the rules apply a distribution formula that results in an increase in the number 
of constituencies in England (from 533 to 543). The rules also require that every 
recommended constituency across the UK – apart from five specified exceptions 
(two of them in England) – must have an electorate that is no smaller than 69,724 and 
no larger than 77,062.

Initial proposals
We published our initial proposals for the new Parliamentary constituency boundaries 
in England on 8 June 2021. Information about the proposed constituencies is now 
available on our website at www.boundarycommissionforengland.independent.gov.uk

What is changing in the North West region?
The North West region has been allocated 73 constituencies – a reduction of two 
from the current number. Of the existing constituencies, 33 are within the electorate 
quota, 28 are below, and 14 are above. Our proposals leave ten of the existing 
75 constituencies unchanged. A further three constituencies are unchanged, except to 
realign with new local government ward boundaries.

As it has not always been possible to allocate whole numbers of constituencies to 
individual counties, we have grouped some county council and unitary authority 
areas into sub-regions. The number of constituencies allocated to each sub-region is 
determined by the combined electorate of the local authorities they contain.

Consequently, it has been necessary to propose some constituencies that cross county 
or unitary authority boundaries, although we have sought to keep such crossings to 
a minimum.

Page 11

http://www.boundarycommissionforengland.independent.gov.uk


Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region 3

Sub-region Existing allocation Proposed allocation

Cheshire1 and Merseyside 26 26

Cumbria and Lancashire2 22 20

Greater Manchester 27 27

In the North West region, we are proposing four constituencies that cross county 
boundaries. We are also proposing the division of three wards in the Wirral, Cumbria and 
Greater Manchester. It has been necessary to propose a constituency which crosses the 
county boundary between Cumbria and Lancashire. We are therefore proposing that the 
existing Morecambe and Lunesdale constituency would extend north across the county 
boundary into the District of South Lakeland.

Although we have considered Lancashire and Merseyside in separate sub-regions, 
we are proposing a constituency which crosses the county boundary. It combines 
four wards of the District of West Lancashire with the town of Southport. Although 
not required by the electorates, we consider that this allows us to better respect 
both local ties and the boundaries of existing constituencies across Cheshire and 
southern Lancashire. 

We propose two cross-county boundary constituencies between Cheshire and 
Merseyside. The first of these uses the natural geographic boundary of the River Mersey 
to bisect the Borough of Halton. The proposed Widnes and Halewood constituency 
would extend north into the Borough of Knowsley, across the county boundary. 
The second constituency crosses the Cheshire West and Chester boundary with the 
Wirral. This crossing is necessary in order to avoid creating a constituency which 
spans the River Mersey, and because it is not possible to allocate a whole number 
of constituencies to the Metropolitan Borough of Wirral. In Greater Manchester it has 
been possible to propose a pattern of constituencies  which are all  included within the 
boundaries of the former metropolitan county.

How to have your say
We are consulting on our initial proposals for an eight-week period, from 8 June 2021 
to 2 August 2021. We encourage everyone to use this opportunity to help us shape the 
new constituencies – the more responses we receive, the more informed our decisions 
will be when considering whether to revise our proposals. Our consultation portal at 
www.bcereviews.org.uk has more information about our proposals and how to give us 
your views on them. You can also follow us on Twitter @BCEReviews or at 
facebook.com/BCEReviews.

1 Comprising the four unitary authorities of Cheshire East, Cheshire West and Chester, and the boroughs of Halton, and 
Warrington, hereafter together referred to as Cheshire.
2 Comprising the county of Lancashire, and the two unitary authorities of Blackpool and Blackburn with Darwen, 
hereafter referred to as Lancashire.

Page 12

https://www.bcereviews.org.uk
http://www.facebook.com/BCEReviews


Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region4

1 What is the Boundary 
Commission for England?

1 As already mentioned, BCE is an independent and impartial non-departmental 
public body, which is required to review Parliamentary constituency boundaries 
in England. We must conduct a review of all the constituencies in England 
every eight years. Our role is to make recommendations to Parliament for new 
constituency boundaries.

2 The Chair of the Commission is the Speaker of the House of Commons, but 
by convention he does not participate in the review. The Deputy Chair and two 
further commissioners take decisions on proposals and recommendations for new 
constituency boundaries. Further information about the commissioners can be 
found on our regular website.

You can find further information on our regular website at  
www.boundarycommissionforengland.independent.gov.uk, 
or on our consultation portal at www.bcereviews.org.uk.  
You can also contact us with any general enquiries by emailing  
information@boundarycommissionengland.gov.uk,  
or by calling 020 7276 1102.

Page 13

https://boundarycommissionforengland.independent.gov.uk
https://www.bcereviews.org.uk
mailto:information%40boundarycommissionengland.gov.uk?subject=


Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region 5

2 Background to the 
2023 Review

3 We are currently conducting a review of Parliamentary constituency boundaries 
on the basis of rules most recently updated by Parliament in 2020.3

3 The Parliamentary Constituencies Act 2020, available at www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2020/25/contents

 These rules 
require us to make more equal the number of electors in each constituency. 
This report covers only the work of the Boundary Commission for England (there 
are separate commissions for Northern Ireland, Scotland and Wales) and, in 
particular, introduces our initial proposals for the North West region.

4 The legislation states that there will be 650 Parliamentary constituencies covering 
the UK – the same as the current number. England has been allocated 543 
constituencies for the 2023 Review, ten more than there are currently. There are 
also other rules that the Commission has regard to when conducting the review – 
a full set of the rules can be found in our Guide to the 2023 Review4

4 Available at www.bcereviews.org.uk and at all places of deposit.

 published in 
May 2021, but they are also summarised later in this chapter. Most significantly, 
the rules require every constituency we recommend (with the exception of two 
covering the Isle of Wight) to contain no fewer than 69,724 electors and no more 
than 77,062.

5 This is a significant change to the old rules under which Parliamentary boundary 
reviews took place, in which achieving as close to the average number of 
electors in each constituency was an aim, but there was no statutory fixed 
minimum and maximum number of electors. This, together with the passage of 
time since constituencies were last updated (based on data from 2000), means 
that in England, existing constituencies currently range from 54,551 to 111,716 
electors. Achieving a more even distribution of electors in every constituency 
across England, together with the increase in the total number of constituencies, 
means that a significant amount of change to the existing map of constituencies 
is inevitable.

6 Our Guide to the 2023 Review contains further detailed background information, 
and explains all of the policies and procedures that we are following in conducting 
the review. We encourage anyone wishing to respond to the review to read 
this document, which will give them a greater understanding of the rules and 
constraints placed on the Commission, especially if they are intending to comment 
on our initial proposals and/or make their own counter-proposals.

Page 14

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2020/25/contents
https://www.bcereviews.org.uk


Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region6

The rules in the legislation
7 As well as the primary rule that constituencies must have no fewer than 

69,724 electors and no more than 77,062, the legislation also states that, 
when deciding on boundaries, the Commission may take into account:

• special geographical considerations, including in particular the size, shape 
and accessibility of a constituency;

• local government boundaries which existed, or were prospective, 
on 1 December 2020;

• boundaries of existing constituencies;
• any local ties that would be broken by changes in constituencies; and
• the inconveniences attendant on such changes.

8 In relation to local government boundaries in particular, it should be noted that for 
a given area, where we choose to take account of local government boundaries, 
if there are prospective boundaries (as at 1 December 2020), it is those, rather 
than existing boundaries, of which account may be taken. This is a significant 
change to the former legislation, which referred only to the local government 
boundaries as they actually existed on the relevant date.

9 Our initial proposals for the North West region (and the accompanying maps) 
are therefore based on local government boundaries that existed, or – where 
relevant – were prospective, on 1 December 2020. Our Guide to the 2023 Review 
outlines further our policy on how, and to what extent, we take into account local 
government boundaries. We have used the existing and prospective wards as 
at 1 December 2020 of unitary authorities, and borough and district councils 
(in areas where there is also a county council) as the basic building blocks for 
our proposals.

10 In a number of existing constituencies, changes to local government wards 
since those constituencies were last updated (in 2010) have resulted in the new 
ward effectively being split, between the constituency the old ward was wholly a 
part of, and at least one other existing constituency. As part of our proposals, we 
will by default seek to realign the boundaries of constituencies with up-to-date 
ward boundaries, thus reuniting wards that are currently divided between existing 
constituencies. In places where there has been only minor change to a ward, this 
may see an existing constituency boundary change only very slightly to realign 
with the new ward. However, where wards in an area have been changed more 
significantly, this may result in the area covered by the new ward becoming part of 
a different constituency than the one in which the area was previously.

Page 15



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region 7

11 Although the 2023 Review of Parliamentary constituencies will inevitably result 
in significant change, we have also taken into account the boundaries of existing 
constituencies so far as we can. We have tried to retain existing constituencies 
as part of our initial proposals wherever possible, as long as the other factors 
can also be satisfied. This, however, has proved difficult. Our initial proposals 
retain just under 14%5

5 This figure excludes constituencies that have been changed only to realign with changed local government boundaries.

 of the existing constituencies in the North West region – 
the remainder are new constituencies (although in a number of cases the changes 
to the existing constituencies are fairly minor).

12 Our proposals are based on the nine English regions as defined in the legislation; 
a description of the extent of each region also appears in the Guide to the 2023 
Review. This report relates to the Eastern region. There are eight other separate 
reports containing our initial proposals for the other regions. You can find more 
details in our Guide to the 2023 Review and on our website. While our use of the 
regions does not prevent anyone from making proposals to us that cross regional 
boundaries (for example, between the Eastern and East Midlands regions), 
very compelling reasons would need to be given to persuade the Commission 
to depart from the region-based approach. The Commission has previously 
consulted on the use of the English regions as discrete areas, and this was 
strongly supported.

Timetable for our review
Stage one – development of initial proposals

13 We began this review in January 2021. We published electorate data from 
2 March 2020 (the relevant date specified by the legislation) for each local 
government ward in England, including – where relevant – wards that were 
prospective on 1 December 2020. The electorate data were provided by local 
authorities and the Office for National Statistics. These are available on our 
website and are the data that must be used throughout the remainder of the 
review process. The Commission has since then considered the statutory factors 
outlined above and drawn up the initial proposals. We published our initial 
proposals for consultation for each of England’s nine regions on 8 June 2021.

Page 16



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region8

14 We ask people to be aware that, in publishing our initial proposals, we do so 
without suggesting that they are in some way definitive, or that they provide the 
‘right answer’ – they are our starting point for consulting on the changes. We have 
taken into account the existing constituencies, local government boundaries, 
and geographical features, to produce a set of constituencies that are within the 
permitted electorate range and that we consider to be the best balance between 
those factors at this point. What we do not yet have is sufficient evidence of how 
our proposals reflect or break local community ties, although we have drawn on 
evidence of such ties provided in previous reviews. One of the most important 
purposes of the consultation period is to seek up-to-date evidence that will enable 
us to test the strength of our initial proposals, and revise them where appropriate.

Stage two – consultation on initial proposals

15 We are consulting on our initial proposals for eight weeks, from 8 June 2021 until 
2 August 2021. Chapter 4 outlines how you can contribute during the consultation 
period. Once the consultation has closed, the Commission will collate all the 
responses received.

Stage three – consultation on representations received

16 We are required to publish all the responses we receive on our initial proposals. 
This publication will mark the start of a six-week ‘secondary consultation’ period, 
which we currently plan to take place in early 2022. The purpose of the secondary 
consultation is for people to see what others have said in response to our initial 
proposals, and to make comments on those views, for example by countering an 
argument, or by supporting and reinforcing what others have said. You will be able 
to see all the comments on our website, and use the site to give us your views 
on what others have said. We will also be hosting between two and five public 
hearings in each region, where you will be able to give your views directly to one of 
our assistant commissioners. We will publish the exact number, dates and venues 
for those hearings nearer the time.

Page 17



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region 9

Stage four – development and publication of revised proposals

17 Once we have all the representations and comments from both the initial 
and secondary consultation periods, the Commission will analyse those 
representations and decide whether changes should be made to the initial 
proposals. If we decide that the evidence presented to us persuades us to change 
our initial proposals, then we must publish our revised proposals for the areas 
concerned, and consult on them for a further period of four weeks. This is likely to 
be towards the end of 2022. When we consult on our revised proposals, there will 
be no further public hearings. You will be able to see all our revised proposals, and 
give us your views on them, on our website.

Stage five – development and publication of the final report and 
recommendations

18 Finally, following the consultation on revised proposals, we will consider all the 
evidence received at this stage, and throughout the review, before determining our 
final recommendations. The recommendations will be set out in a published report 
to the Speaker of the House of Commons, who will lay it before Parliament on our 
behalf, at which time we will also publish the report. The legislation states that we 
must submit that report to the Speaker by 1 July 2023. Further details about what 
the Government must then do with our recommendations in order to implement 
them are contained in our Guide to the 2023 Review.

19 Throughout each consultation we will be taking all reasonable steps to publicise 
our proposals, so that as many people as possible are aware of the consultation 
and can take the opportunity to contribute to our review of constituencies.

Page 18



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region10

3 Initial proposals for the North 
West region

20 The North West region comprises the county council areas of Cumbria; and 
Lancashire, including the unitary authorities of Blackburn with Darwen, and 
Blackpool6

6 Hereafter together referred to as Lancashire.

; the unitary authority areas of Cheshire East, Cheshire West and 
Chester, Halton, and Warrington7

7 Hereafter together referred to as Cheshire.

; and the metropolitan areas of Greater 
Manchester and Merseyside (which are covered by metropolitan boroughs).

21 The North West region currently has 75 constituencies. Of these constituencies, 
33 have electorates within the permitted electorate range. The electorates of 
28 constituencies currently fall below the 5% permitted limit, while the electorates 
of 14 constituencies are above the 5% limit.

22 Our initial proposals for the North West region are for 73 constituencies, a 
reduction of two.

23 In seeking to produce 73 constituencies within the electorate range, our first 
step was to consider whether local authorities could be usefully grouped into 
sub-regions. We were mindful of seeking to respect, where we could, the external 
boundaries of local authorities. Our approach in attempting to group local authority 
areas together in sub-regions was based both on trying to respect county 
boundaries wherever possible and in achieving (where we could) obvious practical 
groupings such as those dictated in some part by the geography of the area.

24 Our division of the region into sub-regions is a practical approach. We welcome 
counter-proposals from respondents to our consultation, based on other 
groupings of counties and unitary authorities, if the statutory factors can be better 
reflected in those counter-proposals.

25 The distribution of electors across the three counties and two metropolitan areas 
of the North West region is such that allocating a whole number of constituencies 
to each county and metropolitan area, while keeping each constituency within the 
permitted electorate quota, is not possible.

26 Cumbria’s electorate of 389,717 results in a mathematical entitlement of 
5.31 constituencies. This number is too large for the county to be allocated five 
whole constituencies, and too few for six. As such, we cannot consider it as a 
sub-region in its own right and it is therefore necessary for Cumbria to be paired 
with another county.

27 Our options for pairing Cumbria with another county are limited by the Irish Sea to 
the west, and the border with Scotland to the north. Since we are not proposing 
that any regional boundaries should be crossed unless unavoidable, we do not 
propose that Cumbria be paired with Northumberland or County Durham in the 
North East region, or North Yorkshire in the Yorkshire and the Humber region. As a 
result, we propose pairing Cumbria with Lancashire to the south. With a combined 

Page 19



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region 11

electorate of 1,503,760, a sub-region of Cumbria and Lancashire would be entitled 
to 20.49 constituencies. This allows for 20 whole constituencies to be allocated 
to the sub-region, albeit with electorates that would be at the upper end of the 
permitted electorate range. By definition, the sub-region requires a constituency 
that crosses the county boundary between Cumbria and Lancashire.

28 Despite considering Lancashire and Merseyside as separate sub-regions, we are 
proposing a constituency which crosses the county – and sub-region – boundary. 
It combines four wards of the District of West Lancashire with the town of 
Southport. Although this crossing is not required by the electorates, we consider 
that this allows us to better reflect both local ties and the boundaries of existing 
constituencies, and results in a more appropriate pattern of constituencies across 
much of the North West region, and especially so in Lancashire and Cheshire.

29 The electorate of the metropolitan area of Merseyside, of 1,049,947, suggests a 
mathematical entitlement of 14.31 constituencies. However, the electorate in the 
Metropolitan Borough of Wirral, at 244,680 gives the borough a mathematical 
entitlement of 3.33 constituencies. This means that there cannot be a whole 
number of constituencies which are wholly contained within the Wirral borough 
boundary. It is therefore necessary for a constituency to either cross between the 
Wirral and the Cheshire West and Chester unitary authority, or for a constituency 
which spans the River Mersey between the Wirral and the City of Liverpool. 
We note that in previous reviews, the crossing of the River Mersey has been 
strongly opposed, so we are proposing to cross the Wirral and Cheshire West and 
Chester boundary.

30 We have therefore decided to treat Merseyside and Cheshire as a sub-region. 
Their combined electorate of 1,877,361 results in a mathematical entitlement 
of 25.58 constituencies, giving an allocation of 26 whole constituencies. We 
are also proposing a second cross-county boundary constituency within the 
Cheshire and Merseyside sub-region. This constituency will use the natural 
geographic boundary of the River Mersey to bisect the Borough of Halton. 
The proposed constituency would extend from Widnes (part of the ceremonial 
county of Cheshire, but north of the River Mersey), into the Halewood area of the 
Metropolitan Borough of Knowsley (in Merseyside).

31 The electorate of Greater Manchester – of 2,000,429 – results in a mathematical 
entitlement of 27.26 constituencies. As such, we are able to allocate Greater 
Manchester 27 whole constituencies, which is the same as its existing allocation. 
It can therefore be considered as a sub-region in its own right, with no requirement 
for any constituencies to cross the boundary of the metropolitan area. We consider 
that within our proposals any crossings into Greater Manchester would cause 
unnecessary disruption.

Page 20



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region12

Initial Proposals for the Cumbria and Lancashire sub-region
32 There are currently six constituencies in Cumbria, none of which have electorates 

that are within the permitted electorate range. Therefore none are able to 
be retained unchanged. Furthermore, only five constituencies can be wholly 
allocated within the county boundary, necessitating one cross-county boundary 
constituency to be constructed, the larger part of which is within Lancashire. 
The sub-region as a whole has been allocated 20 constituencies. There will 
therefore have to be fairly significant change across the Cumbria and Lancashire 
sub-region.

33 The electorate of the City of Carlisle local authority is too large for a constituency 
that is coterminous with the authority boundaries. Therefore, one of the wards 
from this authority must be included in a constituency based in another Cumbrian 
district. Despite its proximity to Carlisle city centre, the Dalston & Burgh ward has 
strong road connections with the District of Allerdale. We therefore propose that 
this ward be included in the Workington constituency, and propose no further 
changes to the Carlisle constituency.

34 Although we were able to propose a constituency which is coterminous with the 
District of Allerdale, this would result in another constituency that would extend 
across Cumbria. We therefore propose a Workington constituency that is more 
closely aligned with the boundaries of the Allerdale district than the existing 
constituency. This allows us to maintain both the distinction between the ports 
of Workington and Whitehaven, and take account of new local government ward 
boundaries in this area. Our proposed Workington constituency therefore contains 
all the wards of Allerdale district, except the Crummock & Derwent Valley and the 
Keswick wards. As mentioned above, it also contains the Dalston & Burgh ward 
from the City of Carlisle, which means that this is an ‘orphan’ ward8

8 Orphan ward refers to a ward from one local authority, in a constituency where the remaining wards are from at least 
one other local authority.

.

35 We propose a Westmorland and Eden constituency, which contains the entirety 
of Eden district, and extends into South Lakeland District. The wards from South 
Lakeland which we propose to include are the Sedbergh & Kirkby Lonsdale ward, 
the Kendal Rural ward, and the five wards which constitute the town of Kendal 
itself. The A6 and M6 provide strong transport links between Kendal and Penrith, 
which form the two major population centres within our proposed Westmorland 
and Eden constituency. This configuration allows us to avoid the arbitrary division 
of either town.

36 The South Lakeland district ward of Broughton & Coniston has been extensively 
reconfigured by the Local Government Boundary Commission for England. 
The inclusion of this reconfigured ward within the existing Barrow and Furness 
constituency would result in significant disruption across Cumbria. To avoid this 
we propose that the Barrow and Furness constituency be extended eastwards, 

Page 21



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region 13

across the Leven Estuary. We acknowledge that the direct transport links 
eastwards are not ideal. There is a railway line across the estuary, but no direct 
east-west road link wholly contained within the constituency. However, the A590 
is the key road in this area of south western Cumbria, and connects both sections 
of the constituency, so no part is inaccessible. Our proposed Barrow and Furness 
constituency is therefore largely the same as the existing constituency, but now 
includes the Cartmel and Grange wards, and no longer includes the Broughton 
& Coniston ward. We consider this arrangement allows for a more practicable 
configuration of constituencies across Cumbria, without fundamentally altering the 
nature of the existing Barrow and Furness constituency.

37 Our proposed Copeland and the Western Lakes constituency is similar to the 
existing Copeland constituency. As mentioned previously, two wards from 
Allerdale district – the Crummock & Derwent Valley ward, and the Keswick 
ward, which has been subject to local government ward boundary changes 
– remain within our proposed constituency. We are also proposing to extend 
the constituency eastwards into the South Lakeland District. The proposed 
constituency will therefore include the Broughton & Coniston, Ambleside and 
Grasmere, and Windermere wards. In order to maintain the entirety of Lake 
Windermere within a single constituency, and to avoid dividing the communities 
of Windermere and Bowness-on-Windermere, we propose dividing the Bowness 
& Levens ward between constituencies. We propose that the westernmost part 
of this ward, which contains Bowness-on-Windermere and covers the southern 
expanse of Lake Windermere itself, be included within the Copeland and the 
Western Lakes constituency. We consider that the division of this ward enables us 
to better reflect the community ties between the settlements on Lake Windermere, 
and results in Lake Windermere not being divided between constituencies. This 
allows one of the most iconic lakes of the Lake District to not only be included in 
a constituency which covers the majority of the UNESCO World Heritage Site, but 
also which is wholly contained within Cumbria.

38 We propose that the remainder of the divided Bowness & Levens ward be 
included with the Burton & Crooklands, and Arnside & Milnthorpe wards in 
our proposed Cumbria and Lancashire cross-county boundary constituency. 
We consider the existing Morecambe and Lunesdale constituency to be the 
most suitable for extension across the county boundary as its existing northern 
boundary lies along the entirety of the Cumbria-Lancashire boundary and there 
are effective transport links along the M6, A6 and A6070 roads. Aside from the 
addition of the Cumbrian wards, the bulk of the constituency remains largely 
unchanged. The natural boundary of the River Lune largely forms the point of 
division between the town of Morecambe and the City of Lancaster, which are 
included within different constituencies. However, it has been necessary to include 
the Upper Lune Valley and Skerton East wards in the Lancaster constituency, 
despite the Skerton ward being west of the River Lune, and no longer included 
with the Skerton West ward within a Morecambe-based constituency. This is in 

Page 22



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region14

order to bring the constituency within the permitted electorate range once the 
Cumbrian inclusion is accounted for. We propose that this constituency be called 
Morecambe and South Lakeland. We consider that this name acknowledges both 
the county crossing, and is an accurate description of the constituency.

39 Our proposed Lancaster constituency is significantly different from the existing 
Lancaster and Fleetwood constituency. As mentioned previously, the Skerton East 
ward and the Upper Lune Valley ward are now included within this constituency. 
Although the proposed constituency still extends into the Borough of Wyre, no 
part of the constituency now extends across the River Wyre into Fleetwood. The 
River Wyre in this area forms the new western boundary of the constituency, 
and the southern boundary now aligns with that of the Borough of Wyre. The 
constituency is wholly contained within these two authorities. As it is no longer 
included within a Lancaster based constituency, we propose that the town 
of Fleetwood be included in our proposed Blackpool North and Fleetwood 
constituency. This would contain the settlements of Fleetwood, Cleveleys and 
Thornton from the Borough of Wyre, and five wards from the Blackpool unitary 
authority, containing the Bispham and Warbreck areas.

40 The existing Blackpool South constituency has an electorate of 56,887, which 
is significantly below the permitted electorate range. Therefore, our proposed 
Blackpool South constituency contains the entirety of the existing constituency, 
and extends north to include the Claremont, Layton, Park, and Warbreck 
wards. The constituency remains entirely within the bounds of the Blackpool 
unitary authority, and its southern boundary continues to align with that of the 
Borough of Fylde.

41 There is relatively minor change to the existing Fylde constituency. However, 
in order to bring it within the permitted range, we propose the inclusion of the 
Borough of Wyre wards of Tithebarn, Breck, and Hardhorn with High Cross in the 
Fylde constituency. These three wards comprise the town of Poulton-le-Fylde, 
which we have sought to avoid dividing. This change has enabled us to propose 
a Fylde constituency that no longer includes wards from the City of Preston; our 
proposed Fylde constituency therefore now comprises the entirety of the Fylde 
borough, and the three Wyre wards mentioned previously.

42 Our proposed Preston constituency still contains the majority of the city of 
Preston. However, our proposals for the Lancaster constituency result in the 
existing Wyre and Preston North constituency being entirely reconfigured. Our 
proposed Preston constituency includes the Garrison, Sharoe Green, Greyfriars, 
and Cadley wards, thereby including the wards that comprise the area of Fulwood 
in our proposed Preston constituency. This results in the proposed constituency 
being more geographically compact and urban in nature. The entirety of the city 
of Preston cannot be contained within one constituency, as its electorate is well 
above the electorate range, an issue that has been exacerbated by changes to 

Page 23



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region 15

local government wards in this area. Further changes are required to bring the 
constituency within the permitted range, so we propose the inclusion of the two 
City of Preston wards of Fishwick & Frenchwood, and Ribbleton within the Ribble 
Valley constituency, which has been significantly reconfigured. We also propose 
including the Preston Rural North, and Preston Rural East wards from the City of 
Preston. This arrangement means that most of the town of Bamber Bridge is no 
longer included within a constituency centred on the Ribble Valley.

43 Our proposed Ribble Valley constituency includes all except three wards from 
the Ribble Valley borough. These are the East Whalley, Read & Simonstone,  
Whalley & Painter Wood, and the Billington & Langho wards. These three wards 
are included in our proposed Hyndburn constituency. This is largely the same 
arrangement as the existing constituency. The constituency continues to contain 
all wards from the Borough of Hyndburn, but will now align with the borough’s 
southern boundary. No part of it will now extend into the Borough of Rossendale. 
As Hyndburn itself does not contain enough electors to form a constituency that 
can be coterminous with its authority of the same name, we propose the inclusion 
of the three wards mentioned previously from the Borough of Ribble Valley in order 
to bring the constituency within the electorate range.

44 The existing constituencies of Hyndburn, Rossendale and Darwen, Blackburn, 
Chorley, South Ribble, and West Lancashire are all able to remain unchanged, 
other than in certain locations to realign constituency boundaries with changes 
to local government ward boundaries. However, we identified that maintaining 
all six of these constituencies unchanged results in significant disruption across 
Lancashire, and a set of constituencies which we consider to have less regard 
to the statutory factors. We therefore consider that making some relatively minor 
changes throughout Lancashire results in less disruption overall and a distribution 
of constituencies that more closely reflects local ties.

45 Our proposed Blackburn constituency is changed from the existing only by the 
realignment of the constituency boundary in the south to reflect local government 
ward changes. This aligns the constituency boundary with that of the town’s 
southern boundary, along the M65, and better reflects local ties, as it no longer 
artificially divides the town of Blackburn.

46 To the east, the existing constituency boundaries of Burnley and Pendle are both 
coterminous with their respective local authorities. However, both have electorates 
that are currently below the permitted electorate range. We therefore propose 
also including the Briercliffe, and Lanehead wards from the Borough of Burnley 
in our proposed Pendle constituency. In order to then bring the existing Burnley 
constituency back within the electorate range, we propose extending it south by 
including the five easternmost wards of the Borough of Rossendale. The A671 
forms a direct transport link between the two main urban areas of our proposed 
constituency, and is here called the ‘Burnley Road’. To recognise the fact that our 

Page 24



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region16

proposed constituency now crosses two local authorities and includes the town 
of Bacup, we propose to name this constituency Burnley and Bacup. Although 
this would add a further rural element to the constituency, we consider that this 
addition would not constitute a fundamental change of character, compared with 
that of the existing Burnley constituency.

47 Following these proposed changes, the existing Rossendale and Darwen 
constituency requires further reconfiguration in order to bring it within the 
permitted electorate range. First, we propose that it should now include the 
Greenfield and Worsley wards, which were formerly within the Hyndburn 
constituency. This will re-align the northern boundary of the constituency with 
that of the Rossendale borough boundary. The constituency will continue to 
contain the four wards which contain the town of Darwen; namely the Darwen 
West, Darwen South and Darwen East wards, and the West Pennine ward. As 
these wards alone are not enough to result in the constituency being within the 
electorate range, we also propose that the Adlington & Anderton, and Chorley 
North East wards, from the Borough of Chorley, are included. Although the 
constituency would now span three local authorities rather than two, we consider 
that this configuration better reflects local ties than the alternatives considered. 
We also consider that the existing name of Rossendale and Darwen is no longer 
appropriate. As the constituency now encompasses and is centred around the 
West Pennine Moors, we propose to reflect that by naming it as such.

48 As mentioned previously, under our proposals, the Chorley constituency would no 
longer contain the two wards of Adlington & Anderton, and Chorley North East, 
and it would require additional electors to bring it within the permitted electorate 
range. We therefore propose that it includes the Eccleston, Heskin & Charnock 
Richard ward, and the Croston, Mawdesley & Euxton South ward. This results in a 
revised Chorley constituency which remains contained wholly within the Borough 
of Chorley.

49 We propose the extension of the existing Southport constituency across 
the county boundary into its rural hinterland within Lancashire. Although it 
is possible to retain the existing Southport constituency wholly unchanged 
within the Metropolitan Borough of Sefton, we consider that this would result 
in significant disruptive knock-on effects throughout the North West, with the 
consequences extending across Lancashire, Merseyside and Cheshire. We 
therefore propose that the four Borough of West Lancashire wards of North Meols, 
Hesketh-with-Becconsall, Tarleton, and Rufford be included in the proposed 
Southport constituency. We consider these wards suitable for inclusion as they 
are already somewhat separated from the remainder of Lancashire by the physical 
boundaries of the River Ribble to the north, and the River Asland/River Douglas 
to the east. Including these wards within a Southport constituency also allows 
us to propose a South Ribble constituency which is wholly contained within 
the Borough of South Ribble, and contains the entirety of Leyland, and most of 

Page 25



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region 17

the town of Bamber Bridge within this constituency, rather than at the extreme 
western end of the Ribble Valley constituency, as at present. Our proposals also 
allow for a West Lancashire constituency which is wholly unchanged.

50 We acknowledge that our proposals for Cumbria and Lancashire might not 
be ideal in all respects. However, we are of the view that the alternatives we 
considered resulted in more change, significant disruption across both counties, 
and a configuration of constituencies which we consider to be less respectful of 
the statutory factors.

Initial Proposals for the Cheshire and Merseyside sub-region
51 As a consequence of our proposals for the Southport constituency, the existing 

Sefton Central constituency, which could be left wholly unchanged, is subject 
to minor change. The proposed Sefton Central constituency now includes the 
Ainsdale ward from the existing Southport constituency, and no longer includes 
the Molyneux ward, which is now included in our proposed Liverpool Norris Green 
constituency. The Bootle constituency is wholly unchanged.

52 Wards in the City of Liverpool all have large electorates; the Liverpool Riverside 
ward alone  contains 15,186 electors. This means that we have had to propose 
fairly significant changes in order to produce constituencies in this area which are 
within the permitted electorate range.

53 Although it will still contain the Walton area, we propose that the existing Liverpool 
Walton constituency be largely reconfigured. It would no longer contain the 
Everton or Anfield wards, and would include the Croxteth and Norris Green 
wards. We also propose that it would include the Molyneux ward from the 
Metropolitan Borough of Sefton. We acknowledge that this ward is largely rural 
in nature but we consider that there are no reasonable alternatives in view of 
the other constituencies we are proposing on Merseyside. We consider that this 
constituency has been altered significantly enough to require a change of name to 
better reflect its new configuration. We therefore propose that this constituency be 
called Liverpool Norris Green.

54 Our proposed Liverpool Riverside constituency largely follows the form of the 
existing constituency, but is more centred to the west. It now includes both the 
Everton and Anfield wards, but no longer includes the existing constituency’s 
three southeastern wards of Greenbank, Mossley Hill, and St. Michael’s. These 
three wards are now included in the proposed Liverpool Wavertree constituency. 
It remains centred on Wavertree, but in order to return the constituency to within 
the electorate range, we have no longer included the Church or Old Swan wards in 
the constituency.

Page 26



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region18

55 The Church ward is now included in our proposed Liverpool Garston constituency. 
This constituency is mostly the same as the existing Garston and Halewood 
constituency, except for the addition of the Church ward. The constituency is now 
wholly contained within the City of Liverpool authority, as it no longer extends into 
the Halewood area of the Metropolitan Borough of Knowsley.

56 Our proposed Liverpool West Derby constituency is also similar to the existing 
configuration. It now includes the Old Swan ward, and no longer includes 
the Norris Green or Croxteth wards. It extends into the Borough of Knowsley, 
incorporating the wards of Page Moss and Swanside. The City of Liverpool 
cannot be allocated a whole number of constituencies which would lie entirely 
within its boundaries, so one constituency must cross into Knowsley. We 
consider that this is the best location for the crossing, resulting in a compact 
constituency with an urban character and community links. With the exception of 
the two wards mentioned previously being included in the Liverpool West Derby 
constituency, and the realignment of the constituency boundary in the south to 
match local government ward changes, our proposed Knowsley constituency is 
otherwise unaltered.

57 Although the St Helens North constituency can remain unchanged, we propose 
modifying it slightly in order to account for required changes in the existing 
St Helens South and Whiston constituency, which has an electorate larger than 
the electorate range. As such, our proposed St Helens North constituency no 
longer includes the Parr ward, but now includes the Town Centre ward. Our 
proposed St Helens South constituency includes all the remaining wards within 
the Metropolitan Borough of St Helens, and also the Prescot South ward from the 
Borough of Knowsley. Although this would be an orphan ward, it is currently part 
of the existing St Helens South and Whiston constituency. We considered various  
configurations of constituencies in this and the surrounding area, but considered 
these would be more disruptive and reflect the statutory factors to a lesser extent.

58 We propose using the natural physical boundary of the River Mersey to bisect 
the Borough of Halton. The northern wards of Halton, including all of the town 
of Widnes on the northern bank of the river, will form most of a constituency. 
This constituency would extend north across the ceremonial county boundary of 
Cheshire to include the three wards of Halewood North, Halewood South, and 
Whiston & Cronton from the Merseyside Borough of Knowsley. We consider that 
this proposed Widnes and Halewood constituency results in less change within 
Liverpool and Knowsley than the alternatives. Similarly, it allows for very minor 
changes in the Boroughs of St Helens and Warrington. We acknowledge that 
Whiston is therefore divided between two constituencies, and that this is not an 
ideal solution, but we considered that there was no reasonable alternative.

Page 27



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region 19

59 On the southern bank of the River Mersey, the town of Runcorn forms the largest 
urban area of our proposed Runcorn and Helsby constituency. This constituency 
contains all the wards of the Borough of Halton that are south of the River Mersey, 
and extends west into the Cheshire West and Chester unitary authority. We 
propose that it would contain the four wards of Frodsham, Helsby, Gowy Rural, 
and Sandstone from that authority, which follow the southern bank of the River 
Mersey, the Manchester Ship Canal, and the M56 and A56. We consider that 
having the entirety of Widnes and Runcorn in separate constituencies results in 
a practicable configuration and distribution of constituencies across Cheshire 
and Merseyside.

60 The proposed Warrington North constituency is unchanged from the existing 
constituency, except to realign the constituency boundary with local government 
ward changes. The existing Warrington South constituency has an electorate 
of 86,422, which is considerably over the electorate range. Therefore we are 
proposing a Warrington South constituency which no longer includes the Lymm 
North & Thelwall, or Lymm South wards.

61 We propose that these two wards, which constitute the entire town of Lymm, are 
included within the Tatton constituency, along with the Dane Valley ward from the 
Cheshire East unitary authority. The inclusion of these wards means that no wards 
from the Cheshire West and Chester unitary authority would be included within a 
Tatton constituency.

62 We propose that a new constituency be constructed, which would be 
centred around, and named, Northwich. This constituency would be wholly 
contained within the Cheshire West and Chester unitary authority, and would 
arguably be a successor to the existing Weaver Vale constituency, although 
significantly reconfigured.

63 The configuration proposed for the Northwich and Tatton constituencies results 
in minor changes within the rest of the Cheshire East unitary authority. The 
Macclesfield constituency is wholly unchanged, and our proposed Congleton 
constituency is also very similar to the existing configuration. The latter no longer 
includes the Dane Valley ward, but aside from that is unchanged, except to realign 
the constituency boundary with local government ward changes. Our proposed 
Crewe and Nantwich constituency is also only changed by just one ward, except 
for realignment with local government ward changes: it no longer includes the 
Wybunbury ward.

64 The existing Eddisbury constituency is significantly reconfigured under our 
proposals. Although it still spans the two unitary authorities of Cheshire East, 
and Cheshire West and Chester, the constituency is now more compact. The 
Wybunbury ward is the only new inclusion within the constituency from Cheshire 
East. However, the changes affecting  Cheshire West and Chester unitary authority 
wards are more pronounced. The town of Winsford is now mostly included in 

Page 28



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region20

the Northwich constituency and the constituency no longer extends so far north 
towards the River Mersey, as that area is now within our proposed Runcorn and 
Helsby constituency. As the changes to the existing Eddisbury constituency have 
been significant we are therefore proposing to name this constituency South 
Cheshire, which we consider to be more reflective of the nature and geographical 
extent of the constituency. We have also used the River Dee as the constituency 
boundary between South Cheshire and the Chester North and Neston 
constituency. The two wards to the south of the river –  the Handbridge Park and 
Lache wards – are included within the South Cheshire constituency.

65 The five wards which constitute the northern portion of the City of Chester 
are included in a constituency with the Saughall & Mollington, and Willaston & 
Thornton wards, as well as the three wards which comprise the town of Neston. 
We consider the most accurate name for this constituency to be Chester North 
and Neston. Although we sought not to divide Chester, the River Dee does form a 
clear geographic boundary between constituencies and the difficulties caused by 
not dividing the city of Chester are considerable, with knock-on effects throughout 
both Cheshire West and Chester, and the Wirral.

66 A key reason for these changes is that there cannot be a whole number of 
constituencies that are contained within the boundary of the Metropolitan Borough 
of Wirral. Although there are currently four whole constituencies, the Wirral now 
only has the electorate for an allocation of three whole constituencies, and one 
part constituency. As we do not wish to propose a constituency which spans 
the River Mersey between the Wirral and the City of Liverpool, it is necessary for 
a constituency to extend into the Cheshire West and Chester unitary authority. 
We propose that this county-crossing constituency be centred around Ellesmere 
Port, which, as it would no longer incorporate Neston, or the Gowy Rural ward, 
would now extend along the southern bank of the River Mersey, and include the 
Eastham and Bromborough wards from the existing Wirral South constituency. To 
take account of these changes, our proposed constituency will simply be called 
Ellesmere Port.

67 Our proposals for the remainder of the Wirral seek to minimise changes wherever 
possible. To achieve this we propose to divide the Upton ward along the physical 
boundary of the A5027. The northern half of this ward, consisting of the Upton 
community, would be included within our proposed Wallasey constituency, the 
remainder of which is unchanged. The southern half of this ward, containing 
the Woodchurch community, would continue to be included in the Wirral West 
constituency, which also gains the Heswall and Clatterbridge wards. Our proposed 
Birkenhead constituency is changed only by the inclusion of the Bebington 
ward. We consider that the benefits provided by the division of the Upton ward 
considerably outweigh the disadvantages of not doing so. It enables us to retain 

Page 29



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region 21

with minimal change three of the existing four constituencies on the Wirral, and all 
alternative configurations of constituencies within this area that we examined paid 
far less heed to local and community ties.

Initial proposals in the Greater Manchester sub-region
68 The metropolitan area of Greater Manchester continues to have a mathematical 

entitlement to 27 constituencies. Of the existing constituencies, 14 are within the 
permitted electorate range, seven are below, and six are above. Our proposals 
leave seven of the existing 27 constituencies wholly unchanged.

69 In the south of the sub-region, the proposed Stockport constituency now 
includes the Reddish North and Reddish South wards. The Manor ward, which 
was formerly within the Stockport constituency, is now included within our 
proposed Hazel Grove constituency, which is otherwise unchanged. The existing 
Cheadle constituency is wholly unchanged. This configuration results in three 
constituencies contained wholly within the boundaries of the Metropolitan 
Borough of Stockport.

70 We propose that the two existing constituencies that are currently contained within 
the Metropolitan Borough of Trafford – Stretford and Urmston, and Altrincham 
and Sale West – would remain wholly unchanged. The existing Wythenshawe 
and Sale East constituency, which would continue to span the boundaries of 
the metropolitan boroughs of Trafford and the City of Manchester, also remains 
wholly unchanged.

71 Although the existing Manchester Withington constituency can theoretically remain 
wholly unchanged, because there have been local government ward changes in 
this area, to do so would mean having to divide a number of these new wards. In 
our proposals therefore, we only change the constituency to realign it to these new 
wards. The existing Manchester Gorton constituency has been similarly subjected 
to local government ward changes, and as a result no longer includes the Gorton 
& Abbey Hey ward. As the existing constituency name is no longer appropriate, 
we propose that the new constituency be called Manchester Longsight.

72 Within Greater Manchester, it has been possible to consider the four 
geographically contiguous metropolitan boroughs of the City of Salford, 
Wigan, Bolton and Bury as a group within the county, with an allocation of ten 
constituencies. This allows us to retain the distinction between the cities of Salford 
and Manchester, and to largely maintain the existing distribution and configuration 
of constituencies within these four boroughs.

Page 30



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region22

73 Our proposed Salford constituency remains wholly within the City of Salford local 
authority. It now includes the Broughton ward, which although to the east of the 
River Irwell, and within the existing Blackley and Broughton constituency, is a ward 
of the City of Salford local authority. The Eccles, and Swinton and Wardley wards 
are now included within our proposed Worsley and Eccles constituency, as is the 
Astley Mosley Common ward, from the Borough of Wigan. This is the only ward 
from that authority that is included within a Salford-based constituency. Although 
this ward would add a further rural element to the constituency, we consider 
the rural area within the existing Worsley and Eccles South constituency to be 
significant enough for this addition to not fundamentally change the character of 
the constituency.

74 Within the Metropolitan Borough of Wigan, the existing Wigan constituency 
remains wholly unchanged. The existing Makerfield constituency can remain 
unchanged, but is modified in order to account for proposed changes to the 
existing Leigh constituency, which has an electorate over the permitted range. 
We therefore propose a Makerfield constituency which is largely unchanged, 
except that it now includes the Leigh West ward rather than the Ashton ward. 
Our proposed Leigh South and Atherton constituency now includes the Atherton 
ward, which is once again within a constituency wholly contained within the 
Borough of Wigan. It also includes the Ashton ward, which was formerly in the 
Makerfield constituency. We recognise that the inclusion of the West Leigh ward in 
a Makerfield constituency, and the Ashton ward in the Leigh South and Atherton 
constituency, means that the towns of both Leigh and Ashton-in-Makerfield are 
now divided between constituencies. However, we consider that configurations of 
wards in this and the surrounding area mean that some division of communities 
is unavoidable. We would welcome, however, any representations with alternative 
arrangements in this area that result in less disruption, without resulting in 
consequential negative effects elsewhere in Greater Manchester.

75 Our proposed Bolton West constituency is largely unchanged. We have included 
the Hulton ward within this constituency to bring it within the permitted electorate 
range, as the Atherton ward is no longer included. This also results in the 
constituency now being wholly contained within the Metropolitan Borough of 
Bolton. Our proposed Bolton North East constituency only differs from the existing 
constituency by one ward; the Little Lever and Darcy Lever ward is now included 
within the constituency. As the Bolton South constituency no longer includes 
the Little Lever and Darcy Lever ward, or the Hulton ward, we have included 
the Salford wards of Walkden North, Walkden South, and Little Hulton, in order 
to bring it within the electorate range. This also enables us to keep the town of 
Walkden in one constituency. In order to acknowledge the crossing between the 
Borough of Bolton and the City of Salford, we propose naming this constituency 
Bolton South and Walkden.

Page 31



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region 23

76 The existing Bury North constituency has an electorate that is under the permitted 
range. We therefore propose the inclusion of the Radcliffe North ward. As the Bury 
South constituency no longer includes the Radcliffe North ward, we have included 
the Kersal & Broughton Park ward from the City of Salford within the Bury South 
constituency. Although this would be an orphan ward, it appears to have better 
physical links with the Sedgley area of Bury than the city of Salford itself.

77 The electorate of the existing Rochdale constituency is slightly over the permitted 
electorate range. Therefore, we propose a Rochdale constituency without the 
Spotland and Falinge ward, which would be included in a Heywood constituency. 
However, as the existing Heywood and Middleton constituency already has an 
electorate that is above the electorate range, we further propose that the wards of 
South Middleton and East Middleton no longer be included in that constituency. 
This does result in the division of the town of Middleton, and we acknowledge that 
this is not an ideal outcome. However, we consider that the extensive disruption 
that would be caused by the alternatives we considered would not provide a 
better solution overall for this area. As the whole of Middleton is not included in 
the constituency, we propose calling the constituency Heywood.

78 Our proposed Manchester Blackley constituency is significantly reconfigured from 
the existing Blackley and Broughton constituency on which it is based. It no longer 
contains any wards from the City of Salford, nor the Cheetham ward from the City 
of Manchester. Instead it now includes the Moston ward, and the South Middleton 
and East Middleton wards from the Metropolitan Borough of Rochdale.

79 Within the Metropolitan Borough of Oldham, we propose that both the existing 
Oldham East and Saddleworth, and Oldham West and Royton constituencies 
remain wholly unchanged. However, in this area we identified an alternative which 
we consider has merit. The Alexandra, and St Mary’s wards, both currently within 
the existing Oldham East and Saddleworth constituency, could be exchanged 
with the Royton North and Royton South wards, both currently within the existing 
Oldham West and Royton constituency. This would provide a more compact urban 
constituency to the west, which would contain a greater proportion of Oldham 
town centre, and a constituency to the east that would have a more suburban 
and moorland character. While our initial proposal is to retain the existing two 
constituencies unchanged, we would particularly welcome representations on 
this alternative.

Page 32



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region24

80 The existing Stalybridge and Hyde constituency could remain unchanged. 
However, we consider that maintaining it results in a less than ideal configuration 
across the east of Greater Manchester. We therefore propose that the 
constituency no longer includes the Mossley,  Stalybridge North and Dukinfield 
Stalybridge wards. Instead it now includes the Denton North East, Denton West 
and Denton South wards, which constitute the entirety of the town of Denton. 
The constituency remains wholly within the Metropolitan Borough of Tameside, 
and unites the communities of Denton and Hyde, whose urban areas almost 
adjoin. We propose reflecting this by naming the constituency Denton and Hyde.

81 The existing Ashton-under-Lyne constituency has an electorate that is below the 
permitted range. We propose  including the three wards mentioned previously 
(which are no longer within the proposed Denton and Hyde constituency), within 
our proposed Ashton-under-Lyne constituency. We also propose including the 
Dukinfield ward, as it contains an urban community that directly borders the 
centre of Ashton-under-Lyne, and was previously included within the Denton 
and Reddish constituency. This would mean that the Dukinfield and Dukinfield 
Stalybridge wards would be contained within the same constituency. As the 
inclusion of all four of these wards would give the Ashton-under-Lyne constituency 
an electorate that was above the permitted range, we propose no longer including 
the Failsworth East and Failsworth West wards, or the Droylsden East and 
Droylsden West wards within this constituency.

82 We propose that these four wards, along with the Audenshaw ward, would form 
a Failsworth and Droylsden constituency. We propose that this constituency 
should also include the Clayton & Openshaw, and Gorton & Abbey Hey wards 
from the City of Manchester. Furthermore, we propose dividing the Miles Platting 
& Newton Heath ward between this constituency and our proposed Manchester 
Central constituency. The Manchester Central constituency would include the 
Miles Platting area, to the west of the A6010, and the Failsworth and Droylsden 
constituency would contain the Newton Heath area to the east of this road. 
The Manchester Central constituency will also include the Cheetham ward, 
and, as mentioned previously, would not include the Clayton & Openshaw or 
Moston wards. We consider that not dividing the Miles Platting & Newton Heath 
ward would have significant negative knock-on effects across the eastern side 
of Greater Manchester, and would result in a set of constituencies that had less 
regard for the statutory factors and local ties.

Page 33



4 How to have your say

83 We are consulting on our initial proposals for an eight-week period, from 
8 June 2021 to 2 August 2021. We encourage everyone to give us their views on 
our proposals for their area – the more public responses we receive and the more 
local information that is provided, the more informed our decisions will be when 
analysing all the responses we have received.

84 On our interactive consultation website, at www.bcereviews.org.uk, you can see 
what constituency you will be in under our proposals, and compare it with your 
existing constituency and local government boundaries. You can also easily 
submit your views on our proposals through that consultation website.

85 When making comments on our initial proposals, we ask people to bear in mind 
the tight constraints placed on the Commission by the rules set by Parliament, 
discussed in chapter 2 and in our Guide to the 2023 Review. Most importantly, 
in the North West region:

• we cannot recommend constituencies that have electorates that contain 
more than 77,062 or fewer than 69,724 electors

• we are basing our initial proposals on local government ward boundaries 
(existing or – where relevant – prospective) as at 1 December 2020 as the 
building blocks of constituencies – although where there is strong justification 
for doing so, we will consider dividing a ward between constituencies (see the 
Guide to the 2023 Review for more detailed information)

• we have constructed constituencies within regions, so as not to cross 
regional boundaries – very compelling reasons would need to be given to 
persuade us that we should depart from this approach.

Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region 25

Page 34

https://www.bcereviews.org.uk


Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region26

86 These issues mean that we encourage people who are making a comment 
about their local area to bear in mind any consequential effects for neighbouring 
areas that might result from their suggestions. The Commission must look at 
the recommendations for new constituencies across the whole region (and, 
indeed, across England). What may be a better solution for one location may 
have undesirable consequences for others. We therefore ask everyone wishing to 
respond to our consultation to bear in mind the impact of their counter-proposals 
on neighbouring constituencies, and on those further afield across the region.

How can you give us your views?
87 Views on our initial proposals should be given to the Commission initially in writing. 

We encourage everyone who wishes to comment on our proposals in writing to do 
so through our interactive consultation website9

9 Our website has been designed to maximise accessibility for all users, in line with the Public Sector Bodies (Websites 
and Mobile Applications) (No.2) Accessibility Regulations 2018.

 at www.bcereviews.org.uk 
 – you will find all the details you need and be able to comment directly through 
the website. The website allows you to explore the map of our proposals and get 
further data, including the electorate sizes of every ward. You can also upload text 
or data files you may have previously prepared setting out your views.

88 We encourage everyone, before submitting a representation, to read our 
approach to protecting and using your personal details (available at  
www.bcereviews.org.uk). As these consultations are very much concerned with a 
respondent’s sense of place and community, when publishing responses (which 
the law requires us to do), we will associate the response with the general locality 
of the respondent’s address, but we will not publish a respondent’s name or 
detailed address with their response, unless they specifically ask us to do so.

89 It is important to stress that all representations, whether they have been made 
through our website or sent to us in writing, will be given equal consideration by 
the Commission.

90 As noted above, there will be an opportunity to make an oral response to our initial 
proposals – and comment on the responses of others – during the secondary 
consultation stage. We will therefore publish further details about these public 
hearings, and how you can make a contribution to one, closer to the dates of the 
secondary consultation period.

Page 35

https://www.bcereviews.org.uk
https://www.bcereviews.org.uk


Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region 27

What do we want views on?
91 We would particularly like to ask two things of people responding to our 

consultation. Firstly, if you support our proposals, please tell us so. Past 
experience suggests that too often people who are happy with our proposals 
do not respond in support, while those who object to them do respond to make 
their points. That can give a distorted view of the balance of public support or 
objection to proposals, and those who, in fact, support our initial proposals 
may then be disappointed if those proposals are subsequently revised in light 
of the consultation responses. Secondly, if you are considering objecting to 
our proposals, do please use the resources (such as maps and electorate 
figures) available on our website and at the places of deposit10

10 The legislation requires our proposals to be made available in at least one ‘place of deposit’ open to the public in each 
proposed constituency. A list of these places of deposit is published on our website.

 to put forward 
counter-proposals that are in accordance with the rules to which we are working.

92 Above all, however, we encourage everyone to have their say on our initial 
proposals and, in doing so, to become involved in drawing the map of new 
Parliamentary constituencies. The more views and information we receive as a 
result of our initial proposals and through the subsequent consultation phases, the 
more informed our consideration in developing those proposals will be, and the 
better we will be able to reflect the public’s views in the final recommendations 
that we present in 2023.

Page 36



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region28

Appendix: Initial proposals for 
constituencies, including wards 
and electorates
Constituency Ward Local authority Electorate

Altrincham and Sale West BC 73,934
Altrincham Trafford 8,954
Ashton upon Mersey Trafford 7,611
Bowdon Trafford 7,299
Broadheath Trafford 10,024
Hale Barns Trafford 7,507
Hale Central Trafford 7,526
St. Mary’s Trafford 8,656
Timperley Trafford 8,458
Village Trafford 7,899

Ashton-under-Lyne BC 71,840
Ashton Hurst Tameside 8,808
Ashton St. Michael’s Tameside 8,809
Ashton Waterloo Tameside 8,541
Dukinfield Tameside 9,500
Dukinfield Stalybridge Tameside 8,639
Mossley Tameside 9,093
St. Peter’s Tameside 8,904
Stalybridge North Tameside 9,546

Barrow and Furness CC 74,699
Barrow Island Barrow-in-Furness 1,633
Central Barrow-in-Furness 2,762
Dalton North Barrow-in-Furness 4,940
Dalton South Barrow-in-Furness 4,738
Hawcoat Barrow-in-Furness 4,144
Hindpool Barrow-in-Furness 4,284
Newbarns Barrow-in-Furness 4,639
Ormsgill Barrow-in-Furness 4,366
Parkside Barrow-in-Furness 4,233
Risedale Barrow-in-Furness 4,623
Roosecote Barrow-in-Furness 3,964
Walney North Barrow-in-Furness 4,351
Walney South Barrow-in-Furness 4,138
Cartmel South Lakeland 3,271

Page 37



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region 29

Constituency Ward Local authority Electorate

Furness Peninsula South Lakeland 4,658
Grange South Lakeland 4,739
Ulverston East South Lakeland 4,573
Ulverston West South Lakeland 4,643

Birkenhead BC 76,271
Bebington Wirral 11,993
Bidston and St. James Wirral 10,273
Birkenhead and Tranmere Wirral 10,164
Claughton Wirral 11,575
Oxton Wirral 11,140
Prenton Wirral 11,123
Rock Ferry Wirral 10,003

Blackburn BC 76,323
Audley & Queen’s Park Blackburn with 

Darwen
6,019

Bastwell & Daisyfield Blackburn with 
Darwen

5,744

Billinge & Beardwood Blackburn with 
Darwen

5,971

Blackburn Central Blackburn with 
Darwen

5,589

Blackburn South & Lower 
Darwen

Blackburn with 
Darwen

5,737

Blackburn South East Blackburn with 
Darwen

5,621

Ewood Blackburn with 
Darwen

6,048

Little Harwood & Whitebirk Blackburn with 
Darwen

5,686

Livesey with Pleasington Blackburn with 
Darwen

6,284

Mill Hill & Moorgate Blackburn with 
Darwen

5,472

Roe Lee Blackburn with 
Darwen

6,267

Shear Brow & Corporation 
Park

Blackburn with 
Darwen

6,099

Wensley Fold Blackburn with 
Darwen

5,786

Page 38



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region30

Constituency Ward Local authority Electorate

Blackpool North and Fleetwood BC 75,396
Anchorsholme Blackpool 5,036
Bispham Blackpool 4,877
Greenlands Blackpool 4,927
Ingthorpe Blackpool 5,060
Norbreck Blackpool 4,954
Bourne Wyre 4,900
Carleton Wyre 3,756
Cleveleys Park Wyre 3,871
Jubilee Wyre 3,990
Marsh Mill Wyre 5,132
Mount Wyre 4,100
Park Wyre 3,619
Pharos Wyre 3,706
Pheasant’s Wood Wyre 1,788
Rossall Wyre 4,558
Stanah Wyre 3,934
Victoria & Norcross Wyre 3,668
Warren Wyre 3,520

Blackpool South BC 76,071
Bloomfield Blackpool 4,324
Brunswick Blackpool 4,332
Claremont Blackpool 4,538
Clifton Blackpool 4,754
Hawes Side Blackpool 4,941
Highfield Blackpool 4,864
Layton Blackpool 4,793
Marton Blackpool 5,133
Park Blackpool 4,967
Squires Gate Blackpool 4,793
Stanley Blackpool 5,433
Talbot Blackpool 4,455
Tyldesley Blackpool 4,698
Victoria Blackpool 4,536
Warbreck Blackpool 4,886
Waterloo Blackpool 4,624

Bolton North East BC 77,020
Astley Bridge Bolton 10,331
Bradshaw Bolton 9,007
Breightmet Bolton 9,497

Page 39



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region 31

Constituency Ward Local authority Electorate

Bromley Cross Bolton 10,505
Crompton Bolton 10,842
Halliwell Bolton 8,382
Little Lever and Darcy Lever Bolton 9,667
Tonge with the Haulgh Bolton 8,789

Bolton South and Walkden BC 75,716
Farnworth Bolton 10,411
Great Lever Bolton 9,455
Harper Green Bolton 9,703
Kearsley Bolton 10,419
Rumworth Bolton 9,420
Little Hulton Salford 8,587
Walkden North Salford 8,928
Walkden South Salford 8,793

Bolton West CC 72,125
Heaton and Lostock Bolton 10,721
Horwich and Blackrod Bolton 10,681
Horwich North East Bolton 9,894
Hulton Bolton 9,938
Smithills Bolton 10,278
Westhoughton North and 
Chew Moor

Bolton 10,855

Westhoughton South Bolton 9,758

Bootle BC 75,194
Church Sefton 9,483
Derby Sefton 8,992
Ford Sefton 9,517
Linacre Sefton 8,828
Litherland Sefton 9,043
Netherton and Orrell Sefton 9,813
St. Oswald Sefton 8,523
Victoria Sefton 10,995

Burnley and Bacup CC 73,318
Bank Hall Burnley 3,853
Brunshaw Burnley 4,757
Cliviger with Worsthorne Burnley 4,342
Coal Clough with Deerplay Burnley 3,926
Daneshouse with 
Stoneyholme

Burnley 4,200

Page 40



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region32

Constituency Ward Local authority Electorate

Gannow Burnley 4,130
Gawthorpe Burnley 4,500
Hapton with Park Burnley 4,624
Queensgate Burnley 3,881
Rosegrove with Lowerhouse Burnley 4,788
Rosehill with Burnley Wood Burnley 4,430
Trinity Burnley 3,893
Whittlefield with Ightenhill Burnley 4,710
Facit and Shawforth Rossendale 2,819
Greensclough Rossendale 4,391
Healey and Whitworth Rossendale 3,007
Irwell Rossendale 4,197
Stacksteads Rossendale 2,870

Bury North BC 77,009
Church Bury 8,465
East Bury 8,197
Elton Bury 8,675
Moorside Bury 8,753
North Manor Bury 8,194
Radcliffe North Bury 8,628
Ramsbottom Bury 9,149
Redvales Bury 8,832
Tottington Bury 8,116

Bury South BC 74,598
Besses Bury 8,088
Holyrood Bury 8,581
Pilkington Park Bury 7,599
Radcliffe East Bury 9,047
Radcliffe West Bury 8,422
Sedgley Bury 8,824
St. Mary’s Bury 8,079
Unsworth Bury 7,271
Kersal & Broughton Park Salford 8,687

Carlisle CC 75,868
Belah & Kingmoor Carlisle 5,729
Botcherby & Harraby North Carlisle 6,077
Brampton & Fellside Carlisle 6,433
Cathedral & Castle Carlisle 6,428
Currock & Upperby Carlisle 6,469

Page 41



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region 33

Constituency Ward Local authority Electorate

Denton Holme & Morton 
South

Carlisle 6,327

Harraby South & Parklands Carlisle 6,310
Longtown & the Border Carlisle 5,903
Newtown & Morton North Carlisle 6,676
Sandsfield & Morton West Carlisle 6,928
Stanwix & Houghton Carlisle 6,849
Wetheral & Corby Carlisle 5,739

Cheadle BC 73,775
Bramhall North Stockport 10,400
Bramhall South and 
Woodford

Stockport 10,095

Cheadle and Gatley Stockport 12,084
Cheadle Hulme North Stockport 10,108
Cheadle Hulme South Stockport 10,815
Heald Green Stockport 9,919
Stepping Hill Stockport 10,354

Chester North and Neston CC 72,327
Blacon Cheshire West and 

Chester
9,998

Chester City & the Garden 
Quarter

Cheshire West and 
Chester

13,371

Great Boughton Cheshire West and 
Chester

8,720

Little Neston Cheshire West and 
Chester

4,251

Neston Cheshire West and 
Chester

4,279

Newton & Hoole Cheshire West and 
Chester

11,478

Parkgate Cheshire West and 
Chester

4,124

Saughall & Mollington Cheshire West and 
Chester

4,281

Upton Cheshire West and 
Chester

7,592

Willaston & Thornton Cheshire West and 
Chester

4,233

Chorley CC 74,868
Buckshaw & Whittle Chorley 6,785
Chorley East Chorley 6,074

Page 42



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region34

Constituency Ward Local authority Electorate

Chorley North & Astley Chorley 6,038
Chorley North West Chorley 5,872
Chorley South East & Heath 
Charnock

Chorley 6,902

Chorley South West Chorley 5,701
Clayton East, Brindle 
& Hoghton

Chorley 6,678

Clayton West & Cuerden Chorley 6,566
Coppull Chorley 6,194
Croston, Mawdesley & 
Euxton South

Chorley 6,187

Eccleston, Heskin & 
Charnock Richard

Chorley 5,932

Euxton Chorley 5,939

Congleton CC 72,770
Alsager Cheshire East 10,146
Brereton Rural Cheshire East 5,215
Congleton East Cheshire East 10,880
Congleton West Cheshire East 11,157
Middlewich Cheshire East 11,230
Odd Rode Cheshire East 7,034
Sandbach Elworth Cheshire East 4,587
Sandbach Ettiley Heath 
and Wheelock

Cheshire East 4,479

Sandbach Heath and East Cheshire East 3,744
Sandbach Town Cheshire East 4,298

Copeland and the Western Lakes CC 74,083
Crummock & Derwent Valley Allerdale 1,548
Keswick Allerdale 4,599
Arlecdon & Ennerdale Copeland 3,674
Beckermet Copeland 1,690
Black Combe & Scafell Copeland 3,395
Cleator Moor Copeland 5,217
Corkickle Copeland 1,597
Distington, Lowca & Parton Copeland 3,073
Egremont Copeland 4,681
Gosforth & Seascale Copeland 3,306
Hillcrest Copeland 4,198
Kells Copeland 1,735
Millom Copeland 4,487

Page 43



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region 35

Constituency Ward Local authority Electorate

Moor Row & Bigrigg Copeland 1,792
Moresby Copeland 1,488
Sneckyeat Copeland 1,743
St. Bees Copeland 1,811
Whitehaven Central Copeland 4,509
Whitehaven South Copeland 5,346
Ambleside & Grasmere South Lakeland 3,323
Part of Bowness & Levens 
(polling district DM)

South Lakeland 1,292

Broughton & Coniston South Lakeland 5,052
Windermere South Lakeland 4,527

Crewe and Nantwich CC 76,236
Crewe Central Cheshire East 3,421
Crewe East Cheshire East 10,658
Crewe North Cheshire East 3,411
Crewe South Cheshire East 6,682
Crewe St. Barnabas Cheshire East 3,079
Crewe West Cheshire East 7,024
Haslington Cheshire East 7,182
Leighton Cheshire East 4,429
Nantwich North and West Cheshire East 7,146
Nantwich South and Stapeley Cheshire East 7,360
Shavington Cheshire East 4,053
Willaston and Rope Cheshire East 4,122
Wistaston Cheshire East 7,669

Denton and Hyde CC 71,951
Denton North East Tameside 8,438
Denton South Tameside 8,451
Denton West Tameside 9,312
Hyde Godley Tameside 9,064
Hyde Newton Tameside 10,655
Hyde Werneth Tameside 9,215
Longdendale Tameside 8,022
Stalybridge South Tameside 8,794

Ellesmere Port BC 71,027
Central & Grange Cheshire West and 

Chester
8,129

Ledsham & Manor Cheshire West and 
Chester

7,758

Page 44



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region36

Constituency Ward Local authority Electorate

Netherpool Cheshire West and 
Chester

4,214

Strawberry Cheshire West and 
Chester

4,284

Sutton Villages Cheshire West and 
Chester

8,257

Westminster Cheshire West and 
Chester

3,457

Whitby Groves Cheshire West and 
Chester

3,778

Whitby Park Cheshire West and 
Chester

4,139

Wolverham Cheshire West and 
Chester

3,782

Bromborough Wirral 12,094
Eastham Wirral 11,135

Failsworth and Droylsden BC 74,818
Clayton & Openshaw Manchester 11,200
Gorton & Abbey Hey Manchester 11,902
Part of Miles Platting & 
Newton Heath (polling 
districts 2MNB, 2MND, 
2MNE, 2MNF, and 2MNJ)

Manchester 8,350

Failsworth East Oldham 7,875
Failsworth West Oldham 7,775
Audenshaw Tameside 9,802
Droylsden East Tameside 8,896
Droylsden West Tameside 9,018

Fylde CC 75,114
Ansdell Fylde 3,479
Ashton Fylde 3,745
Central Fylde 3,341
Clifton Fylde 3,395
Elswick and Little Eccleston Fylde 1,291
Fairhaven Fylde 3,463
Freckleton East Fylde 2,449
Freckleton West Fylde 2,225
Heyhouses Fylde 4,038
Kilnhouse Fylde 3,136
Kirkham North Fylde 3,501
Kirkham South Fylde 2,024

Page 45



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region 37

Constituency Ward Local authority Electorate

Medlar-with-Wesham Fylde 3,053
Newton and Treales Fylde 2,519
Park Fylde 4,147
Ribby-with-Wrea Fylde 1,446
Singleton and Greenhalgh Fylde 1,174
St. Johns Fylde 3,656
St. Leonards Fylde 3,604
Staining and Weeton Fylde 2,489
Warton and Westby Fylde 4,721
Breck Wyre 3,303
Hardhorn with High Cross Wyre 5,444
Tithebarn Wyre 3,471

Hazel Grove CC 72,941
Bredbury and Woodley Stockport 10,582
Bredbury Green and Romiley Stockport 11,009
Hazel Grove Stockport 10,872
Manor Stockport 10,437
Marple North Stockport 9,770
Marple South and High Lane Stockport 9,976
Offerton Stockport 10,295

Heywood CC 73,306
Bamford Rochdale 7,832
Castleton Rochdale 7,900
Hopwood Hall Rochdale 8,347
Norden Rochdale 7,902
North Heywood Rochdale 7,834
North Middleton Rochdale 7,652
Spotland and Falinge Rochdale 8,204
West Heywood Rochdale 8,747
West Middleton Rochdale 8,888

Hyndburn CC 69,971
Altham Hyndburn 4,195
Barnfield Hyndburn 3,434
Baxenden Hyndburn 3,323
Central Hyndburn 3,897
Church Hyndburn 3,455
Clayton-le-Moors Hyndburn 3,685
Huncoat Hyndburn 3,705
Immanuel Hyndburn 3,652

Page 46



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region38

Constituency Ward Local authority Electorate

Milnshaw Hyndburn 3,781
Netherton Hyndburn 3,469
Overton Hyndburn 5,157
Peel Hyndburn 3,171
Rishton Hyndburn 5,335
Spring Hill Hyndburn 3,665
St. Andrew’s Hyndburn 3,542
St. Oswald’s Hyndburn 5,166
Billington & Langho Ribble Valley 2,674
East Whalley, Read & 
Simonstone

Ribble Valley 2,266

Whalley & Painter Wood Ribble Valley 2,399

Knowsley BC 71,228
Cherryfield Knowsley 8,220
Northwood Knowsley 8,549
Prescot North Knowsley 8,185
Roby Knowsley 7,669
Shevington Knowsley 8,004
St. Gabriels Knowsley 7,390
St. Michaels Knowsley 7,111
Stockbridge Knowsley 7,949
Whitefield Knowsley 8,151

Lancaster CC 75,521
Bulk Lancaster 6,714
Castle Lancaster 4,848
Ellel Lancaster 3,600
John O’Gaunt Lancaster 6,129
Lower Lune Valley Lancaster 3,694
Marsh Lancaster 4,205
Scotforth East Lancaster 3,389
Scotforth West Lancaster 5,646
Skerton East Lancaster 4,912
University & Scotforth Rural Lancaster 3,238
Upper Lune Valley Lancaster 1,998
Brock with Catterall Wyre 3,501
Calder Wyre 1,913
Garstang Wyre 5,747
Great Eccleston Wyre 3,408

Page 47



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region 39

Constituency Ward Local authority Electorate

Hambleton & Stalmine Wyre 3,757
Pilling Wyre 2,116
Preesall Wyre 4,827
Wyresdale Wyre 1,879

Leigh South and Atherton BC 76,928
Ashton Wigan 8,902
Atherleigh Wigan 8,376
Atherton Wigan 10,962
Golborne and Lowton West Wigan 8,962
Leigh East Wigan 9,039
Leigh South Wigan 10,324
Lowton East Wigan 10,129
Tyldesley Wigan 10,234

Liverpool Garston BC 70,372
Allerton and Hunts Cross Liverpool 11,556
Belle Vale Liverpool 11,746
Church Liverpool 10,688
Cressington Liverpool 11,829
Speke-Garston Liverpool 13,664
Woolton Liverpool 10,889

Liverpool Norris Green BC 75,926
Clubmoor Liverpool 11,172
County Liverpool 9,222
Croxteth Liverpool 10,411
Fazakerley Liverpool 11,513
Norris Green Liverpool 12,054
Warbreck Liverpool 11,241
Molyneux Sefton 10,313

Liverpool Riverside BC 70,157
Anfield Liverpool 9,061
Central Liverpool 12,669
Everton Liverpool 10,666
Kirkdale Liverpool 11,406
Princes Park Liverpool 11,169
Riverside Liverpool 15,186

Liverpool Wavertree BC 71,076
Childwall Liverpool 11,058
Greenbank Liverpool 10,425

Page 48



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region40

Constituency Ward Local authority Electorate

Kensington and Fairfield Liverpool 9,125
Mossley Hill Liverpool 9,159
Picton Liverpool 10,747
St. Michael’s Liverpool 9,942
Wavertree Liverpool 10,620

Liverpool West Derby BC 70,730
Page Moss Knowsley 8,165
Swanside Knowsley 7,692
Knotty Ash Liverpool 10,588
Old Swan Liverpool 11,330
Tuebrook and Stoneycroft Liverpool 10,161
West Derby Liverpool 11,130
Yew Tree Liverpool 11,664

Macclesfield CC 75,881
Bollington Cheshire East 7,012
Broken Cross and Upton Cheshire East 6,792
Disley Cheshire East 3,994
Gawsworth Cheshire East 3,446
Macclesfield Central Cheshire East 7,048
Macclesfield East Cheshire East 3,595
Macclesfield Hurdsfield Cheshire East 3,423
Macclesfield South Cheshire East 6,449
Macclesfield Tytherington Cheshire East 7,310
Macclesfield West and Ivy Cheshire East 6,306
Poynton East and Pott 
Shrigley

Cheshire East 6,286

Poynton West and Adlington Cheshire East 6,926
Prestbury Cheshire East 3,707
Sutton Cheshire East 3,587

Makerfield BC 75,952
Abram Wigan 10,375
Bryn Wigan 8,858
Hindley Wigan 9,615
Hindley Green Wigan 8,807
Leigh West Wigan 10,454
Orrell Wigan 9,620
Winstanley Wigan 9,227
Worsley Mesnes Wigan 8,996

Page 49



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region 41

Constituency Ward Local authority Electorate

Manchester Blackley BC 71,375
Charlestown Manchester 11,401
Crumpsall Manchester 10,220
Harpurhey Manchester 11,125
Higher Blackley Manchester 10,600
Moston Manchester 12,262
East Middleton Rochdale 7,967
South Middleton Rochdale 7,800

Manchester Central BC 76,609
Ancoats & Beswick Manchester 10,697
Ardwick Manchester 11,766
Cheetham Manchester 11,490
Deansgate Manchester 7,111
Hulme Manchester 11,949
Part of Miles Platting & 
Newton Heath (polling 
districts 2MNA, 2MNC, 
2MNG, and 2MNH)

Manchester 3,790

Moss Side Manchester 12,783
Piccadilly Manchester 7,023

Manchester Longsight BC 70,397
Burnage Manchester 12,808
Fallowfield Manchester 11,556
Levenshulme Manchester 11,795
Longsight Manchester 11,600
Rusholme Manchester 11,789
Whalley Range Manchester 10,849

Manchester Withington BC 71,614
Chorlton Manchester 10,868
Chorlton Park Manchester 13,095
Didsbury East Manchester 11,363
Didsbury West Manchester 12,526
Old Moat Manchester 11,950
Withington Manchester 11,812

Morecambe and South Lakeland CC 74,037
Bare Lancaster 5,625
Bolton & Slyne Lancaster 6,109
Carnforth & Millhead Lancaster 4,671
Halton-with-Aughton Lancaster 2,105

Page 50



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region42

Constituency Ward Local authority Electorate

Harbour Lancaster 5,228
Heysham Central Lancaster 3,457
Heysham North Lancaster 3,328
Heysham South Lancaster 5,187
Kellet Lancaster 1,798
Overton Lancaster 1,881
Poulton Lancaster 3,618
Silverdale Lancaster 1,686
Skerton West Lancaster 5,163
Torrisholme Lancaster 3,688
Warton Lancaster 1,705
Westgate Lancaster 5,443
Arnside & Milnthorpe South Lakeland 5,104
Part of Bowness & Levens 
(polling districts AL, AW, BE, 
BF, CH, DI, DOA, and DOB)

South Lakeland 3,451

Burton & Crooklands South Lakeland 4,790

Northwich CC 74,147
Davenham, Moulton & 
Kingsmead

Cheshire West and 
Chester

8,465

Hartford & Greenbank Cheshire West and 
Chester

6,784

Marbury Cheshire West and 
Chester

10,387

Northwich Leftwich Cheshire West and 
Chester

3,686

Northwich Winnington & 
Castle

Cheshire West and 
Chester

6,679

Northwich Witton Cheshire West and 
Chester

3,741

Rudheath Cheshire West and 
Chester

4,078

Shakerley Cheshire West and 
Chester

4,044

Weaver & Cuddington Cheshire West and 
Chester

11,870

Winsford Dene Cheshire West and 
Chester

3,785

Winsford Gravel Cheshire West and 
Chester

3,290

Winsford Swanlow Cheshire West and 
Chester

3,643

Page 51



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region 43

Constituency Ward Local authority Electorate

Winsford Wharton Cheshire West and 
Chester

3,695

Oldham East and Saddleworth CC 72,997
Alexandra Oldham 6,952
Crompton Oldham 8,227
Saddleworth North Oldham 7,943
Saddleworth South Oldham 8,453
Saddleworth West and Lees Oldham 8,554
Shaw Oldham 7,604
St. James’ Oldham 7,928
St. Mary’s Oldham 8,986
Waterhead Oldham 8,350

Oldham West and Royton BC 74,183
Chadderton Central Oldham 8,133
Chadderton North Oldham 8,495
Chadderton South Oldham 8,036
Coldhurst Oldham 8,605
Hollinwood Oldham 7,760
Medlock Vale Oldham 8,694
Royton North Oldham 7,780
Royton South Oldham 8,307
Werneth Oldham 8,373

Pendle CC 74,732
Briercliffe Burnley 4,437
Lanehead Burnley 4,511
Barnoldswick Pendle 6,646
Barrowford & Pendleside Pendle 6,064
Boulsworth & Foulridge Pendle 6,286
Bradley Pendle 5,478
Brierfield East & Clover Hill Pendle 6,093
Brierfield West & Reedley Pendle 4,361
Earby & Coates Pendle 6,520
Fence & Higham Pendle 1,957
Marsden & Southfield Pendle 5,466
Vivary Bridge Pendle 5,373
Waterside & Horsfield Pendle 5,638
Whitefield & Walverden Pendle 5,902

Page 52



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region44

Constituency Ward Local authority Electorate

Preston BC 74,644
Ashton Preston 6,354
Brookfield Preston 5,490
Cadley Preston 6,022
City Centre Preston 6,939
Deepdale Preston 6,051
Garrison Preston 6,682
Greyfriars Preston 6,344
Ingol & Cottam Preston 6,451
Lea & Larches Preston 6,454
Plungington Preston 6,504
Sharoe Green Preston 6,206
St. Matthew’s Preston 5,147

Ribble Valley CC 73,362
Fishwick & Frenchwood Preston 5,432
Preston Rural East Preston 6,027
Preston Rural North Preston 4,860
Ribbleton Preston 5,420
Alston & Hothersall Ribble Valley 2,114
Bowland Ribble Valley 1,286
Brockhall & Dinckley Ribble Valley 1,304
Chatburn Ribble Valley 1,155
Chipping Ribble Valley 1,188
Clayton-le-Dale & Salesbury Ribble Valley 1,352
Derby & Thornley Ribble Valley 2,442
Dilworth Ribble Valley 2,196
Edisford & Low Moor Ribble Valley 2,724
Gisburn & Rimington Ribble Valley 1,205
Hurst Green & Whitewell Ribble Valley 1,106
Littlemoor Ribble Valley 2,478
Mellor Ribble Valley 2,418
Primrose Ribble Valley 2,547
Ribchester Ribble Valley 1,294
Sabden Ribble Valley 1,240
Salthill Ribble Valley 2,696
St. Mary’s Ribble Valley 2,442
Waddington, Bashall Eaves & 
Mitton

Ribble Valley 1,274

West Bradford & Grindleton Ribble Valley 1,367
Whalley Nethertown Ribble Valley 1,169

Page 53



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region 45

Constituency Ward Local authority Electorate

Wilpshire & Ramsgreave Ribble Valley 2,803
Wiswell & Barrow Ribble Valley 1,664
Coupe Green & 
Gregson Lane

South Ribble 3,491

Samlesbury & Walton South Ribble 3,284
Walton-le-Dale West South Ribble 3,384

Rochdale CC 71,697
Balderstone and Kirkholt Rochdale 7,611
Central Rochdale Rochdale 7,284
Healey Rochdale 8,052
Kingsway Rochdale 8,958
Littleborough Lakeside Rochdale 7,996
Milkstone and Deeplish Rochdale 7,670
Milnrow and Newhey Rochdale 8,058
Smallbridge and Firgrove Rochdale 7,931
Wardle and West 
Littleborough

Rochdale 8,137

Runcorn and Helsby CC 70,950
Frodsham Cheshire West and 

Chester
7,631

Gowy Rural Cheshire West and 
Chester

7,407

Helsby Cheshire West and 
Chester

4,246

Sandstone Cheshire West and 
Chester

4,159

Beechwood & Heath Halton 6,136
Bridgewater Halton 5,569
Daresbury, Moore 
& Sandymoor

Halton 3,525

Grange Halton 5,797
Halton Castle Halton 4,939
Halton Lea Halton 5,081
Mersey & Weston Halton 5,699
Norton North Halton 5,714
Norton South & 
Preston Brook

Halton 5,047

Salford BC 72,169
Blackfriars & Trinity Salford 6,131
Broughton Salford 8,256
Claremont Salford 9,725

Page 54



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region46

Constituency Ward Local authority Electorate

Ordsall Salford 6,137
Pendlebury & Clifton Salford 8,809
Pendleton & Charlestown Salford 8,604
Quays Salford 5,090
Swinton Park Salford 9,289
Weaste & Seedley Salford 10,128

Sefton Central CC 70,001
Ainsdale Sefton 10,229
Blundellsands Sefton 9,568
Harington Sefton 9,970
Manor Sefton 10,089
Park Sefton 9,942
Ravenmeols Sefton 9,818
Sudell Sefton 10,385

South Cheshire CC 70,804
Audlem Cheshire East 4,165
Bunbury Cheshire East 4,157
Wrenbury Cheshire East 4,525
Wybunbury Cheshire East 4,488
Christleton & Huntington Cheshire West and 

Chester
8,520

Farndon Cheshire West and 
Chester

3,755

Handbridge Park Cheshire West and 
Chester

7,402

Lache Cheshire West and 
Chester

3,911

Malpas Cheshire West and 
Chester

3,755

Tarporley Cheshire West and 
Chester

4,122

Tarvin & Kelsall Cheshire West and 
Chester

7,415

Tattenhall Cheshire West and 
Chester

3,890

Winsford Over & Verdin Cheshire West and 
Chester

10,699

South Ribble CC 75,115
Bamber Bridge East South Ribble 3,467
Bamber Bridge West South Ribble 3,095
Broad Oak South Ribble 3,541

Page 55



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region 47

Constituency Ward Local authority Electorate

Broadfield South Ribble 3,667
Buckshaw & Worden South Ribble 3,761
Charnock South Ribble 2,932
Earnshaw Bridge South Ribble 3,473
Farington East South Ribble 3,316
Farington West South Ribble 3,188
Hoole South Ribble 3,360
Howick & Priory South Ribble 5,627
Leyland Central South Ribble 3,554
Longton & Hutton West South Ribble 4,685
Lostock Hall South Ribble 5,179
Middleforth South Ribble 5,520
Moss Side South Ribble 3,107
New Longton & Hutton East South Ribble 3,864
Seven Stars South Ribble 3,080
St. Ambrose South Ribble 3,235
Walton-le-Dale East South Ribble 3,464

Southport CC 74,168
Birkdale Sefton 10,285
Cambridge Sefton 9,960
Duke’s Sefton 10,225
Kew Sefton 10,009
Meols Sefton 10,074
Norwood Sefton 10,255
Hesketh-with-Becconsall West Lancashire 3,226
North Meols West Lancashire 3,567
Rufford West Lancashire 1,806
Tarleton West Lancashire 4,761

St Helens North CC 75,323
Billinge and Seneley Green St Helens 8,682
Blackbrook St Helens 8,003
Earlestown St Helens 8,952
Haydock St Helens 8,881
Moss Bank St Helens 8,622
Newton St Helens 9,568
Rainford St Helens 6,681
Town Centre St Helens 7,830
Windle St Helens 8,104

Page 56



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region48

Constituency Ward Local authority Electorate

St Helens South BC 70,302
Prescot South Knowsley 7,411
Bold St Helens 7,621
Eccleston St Helens 9,674
Parr St Helens 8,589
Rainhill St Helens 9,007
Sutton St Helens 9,005
Thatto Heath St Helens 10,059
West Park St Helens 8,936

Stockport BC 74,769
Brinnington and Central Stockport 10,630
Davenport and Cale Green Stockport 10,915
Edgeley and Cheadle Heath Stockport 10,385
Heatons North Stockport 11,028
Heatons South Stockport 10,844
Reddish North Stockport 10,591
Reddish South Stockport 10,376

Stretford and Urmston BC 73,212
Bucklow-St. Martins Trafford 7,032
Clifford Trafford 8,411
Davyhulme East Trafford 7,756
Davyhulme West Trafford 7,779
Flixton Trafford 8,422
Gorse Hill Trafford 8,267
Longford Trafford 9,120
Stretford Trafford 7,854
Urmston Trafford 8,571

Tatton CC 73,756
Alderley Edge Cheshire East 3,743
Chelford Cheshire East 3,660
Dane Valley Cheshire East 8,296
Handforth Cheshire East 7,250
High Legh Cheshire East 3,674
Knutsford Cheshire East 10,420
Mobberley Cheshire East 3,589
Wilmslow Dean Row Cheshire East 3,807
Wilmslow East Cheshire East 3,294
Wilmslow Lacey Green Cheshire East 3,631
Wilmslow West and Chorley Cheshire East 8,091

Page 57



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region 49

Constituency Ward Local authority Electorate

Lymm North & Thelwall Warrington 9,162
Lymm South Warrington 5,139

Wallasey BC 73,054
Leasowe and Moreton East Wirral 11,076
Liscard Wirral 11,350
Moreton West and 
Saughall Massie

Wirral 10,850

New Brighton Wirral 11,454
Seacombe Wirral 10,178
Part of Upton (polling 
districts MA and MB)

Wirral 6,248

Wallasey Wirral 11,898

Warrington North CC 72,350
Birchwood Warrington 8,072
Burtonwood & Winwick Warrington 5,066
Culcheth, Glazebury & Croft Warrington 8,813
Fairfield & Howley Warrington 7,740
Orford Warrington 8,365
Poplars & Hulme Warrington 8,393
Poulton North Warrington 8,121
Poulton South Warrington 4,904
Rixton & Woolston Warrington 7,730
Westbrook Warrington 5,146

Warrington South CC 72,286
Appleton Warrington 8,383
Bewsey & Whitecross Warrington 7,557
Chapelford & Old Hall Warrington 8,771
Grappenhall Warrington 5,531
Great Sankey North 
& Whittle Hall

Warrington 7,503

Great Sankey South Warrington 8,327
Latchford East Warrington 6,238
Latchford West Warrington 5,839
Penketh & Cuerdley Warrington 8,467
Stockton Heath Warrington 5,670

West Lancashire CC 73,652
Ashurst West Lancashire 4,844
Aughton and Downholland West Lancashire 4,578

Page 58



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region50

Constituency Ward Local authority Electorate

Aughton Park West Lancashire 3,208
Bickerstaffe West Lancashire 1,826
Birch Green West Lancashire 2,775
Burscough East West Lancashire 3,590
Burscough West West Lancashire 3,910
Derby West Lancashire 5,530
Digmoor West Lancashire 2,786
Halsall West Lancashire 1,761
Knowsley West Lancashire 4,657
Moorside West Lancashire 2,503
Newburgh West Lancashire 1,682
Parbold West Lancashire 3,108
Scarisbrick West Lancashire 3,092
Scott West Lancashire 4,676
Skelmersdale North West Lancashire 2,862
Skelmersdale South West Lancashire 4,601
Tanhouse West Lancashire 3,282
Up Holland West Lancashire 5,018
Wrightington West Lancashire 3,363

West Pennine Moors CC 71,904
Darwen East Blackburn with 

Darwen
6,274

Darwen South Blackburn with 
Darwen

6,138

Darwen West Blackburn with 
Darwen

6,402

West Pennine Blackburn with 
Darwen

6,287

Adlington & Anderton Chorley 6,229
Chorley North East Chorley 5,590
Cribden Rossendale 2,852
Eden Rossendale 2,842
Goodshaw Rossendale 3,186
Greenfield Rossendale 4,332
Hareholme Rossendale 4,188
Helmshore Rossendale 4,756
Longholme Rossendale 4,419
Whitewell Rossendale 4,228
Worsley Rossendale 4,181

Page 59



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region 51

Constituency Ward Local authority Electorate

Westmorland and Eden CC 76,208
Alston Moor Eden 1,679
Appleby (Appleby) Eden 994
Appleby (Bongate) Eden 1,547
Askham Eden 1,060
Brough Eden 1,119
Crosby Ravensworth Eden 1,221
Dacre Eden 1,206
Eamont Eden 1,308
Greystoke Eden 1,185
Hartside Eden 1,137
Hesket Eden 2,506
Kirkby Stephen Eden 2,054
Kirkby Thore Eden 1,204
Kirkoswald Eden 1,173
Langwathby Eden 1,270
Lazonby Eden 1,281
Long Marton Eden 1,016
Morland Eden 1,038
Orton with Tebay Eden 1,163
Penrith Carleton Eden 1,536
Penrith East Eden 2,324
Penrith North Eden 3,345
Penrith Pategill Eden 999
Penrith South Eden 1,935
Penrith West Eden 2,183
Ravenstonedale Eden 803
Shap Eden 1,083
Skelton Eden 1,216
Ullswater Eden 1,064
Warcop Eden 1,090
Kendal East South Lakeland 5,157
Kendal North South Lakeland 3,280
Kendal Rural South Lakeland 4,969
Kendal South & Natland South Lakeland 5,032
Kendal Town South Lakeland 4,961
Kendal West South Lakeland 5,145
Sedbergh & Kirkby Lonsdale South Lakeland 4,925

Page 60



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region52

Constituency Ward Local authority Electorate

Widnes and Halewood CC 72,259
Appleton Halton 4,852
Bankfield Halton 5,241
Birchfield Halton 6,134
Central & West Bank Halton 4,616
Ditton, Hale Village & 
Halebank

Halton 5,232

Farnworth Halton 6,001
Halton View Halton 5,328
Highfield Halton 5,241
Hough Green Halton 5,464
Halewood North Knowsley 8,428
Halewood South Knowsley 8,166
Whiston & Cronton Knowsley 7,556

Wigan CC 75,607
Aspull New Springs Whelley Wigan 9,980
Douglas Wigan 9,330
Ince Wigan 8,287
Pemberton Wigan 9,391
Shevington with Lower 
Ground

Wigan 9,374

Standish with Langtree Wigan 10,515
Wigan Central Wigan 9,214
Wigan West Wigan 9,516

Wirral West CC 72,126
Clatterbridge Wirral 11,467
Greasby, Frankby and Irby Wirral 11,668
Heswall Wirral 10,981
Hoylake and Meols Wirral 10,723
Pensby and Thingwall Wirral 10,575
Part of Upton (polling 
districts MC, MD, and ME)

Wirral 6,273

West Kirby and Thurstaston Wirral 10,439

Workington CC 75,514
All Saints Allerdale 4,441
Allhallow & Waverton Allerdale 1,525
Aspatria Allerdale 3,025
Boltons Allerdale 1,595
Broughton St. Bridgets Allerdale 3,158
Christchurch Allerdale 3,291

Page 61



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region 53

Constituency Ward Local authority Electorate

Dalton Allerdale 1,465
Ellen & Gilcrux Allerdale 3,120
Flimby Allerdale 1,370
Harrington & Salterbeck Allerdale 4,650
Marsh & Wampool Allerdale 3,170
Maryport North Allerdale 4,337
Maryport South Allerdale 3,061
Moorclose & Moss Bay Allerdale 4,731
Seaton & Northside Allerdale 4,830
Silloth & Solway Coast Allerdale 4,531
St. John’s Allerdale 4,581
St. Michael’s Allerdale 2,904
Stainburn & Clifton Allerdale 2,994
Warnell Allerdale 1,587
Wigton & Woodside Allerdale 5,112
Dalston & Burgh Carlisle 6,036

Worsley and Eccles CC 76,915
Barton & Winton Salford 9,896
Boothstown & Ellenbrook Salford 9,744
Cadishead & Lower Irlam Salford 9,378
Eccles Salford 10,619
Higher Irlam & Peel Green Salford 9,369
Swinton & Wardley Salford 9,093
Worsley & Westwood Park Salford 8,918
Astley Mosley Common Wigan 9,898

Wythenshawe and Sale East BC 76,971
Baguley Manchester 10,800
Brooklands Manchester 10,845
Northenden Manchester 10,550
Sharston Manchester 10,996
Woodhouse Park Manchester 10,314
Brooklands Trafford 7,881
Priory Trafford 8,072
Sale Moor Trafford 7,513

Page 62



Initial proposals for new Parliamentary constituency boundaries in the North West region54

Glossary

Assessor Statutorily appointed 
technical adviser to the BCE, 
being either the Registrar 
General for England and 
Wales or the Director 
General of Ordnance Survey.

Assistant 
Commissioner

Independent person 
appointed at the request of 
the BCE to assist it with the 
discharge of its functions.

Borough 
constituency 
(abbreviated to BC)

Parliamentary constituency 
containing a predominantly 
urban area.

County 
constituency 
(abbreviated to CC)

Parliamentary constituency 
containing more than a small 
rural element.

Designation Classification as either a 
borough constituency or as a 
county constituency.

Electorate The number of registered 
Parliamentary electors in a 
given area.

(Statutory/
Permitted) 
Electorate range

The statutory rule that 
requires the electorate 
of every recommended 
constituency to be – for the 
2023 Review – between 
69,724 and 77,062.

Final 
recommendations

The recommendations 
submitted in a formal final 
report to Parliament at the 
end of a review. They may 
– or may not – have been 
revised since the initial 
proposals in any given area.

Initial proposals First formal proposals 
published by the BCE 
during the review for 
public consultation.

Periodical report Report to Parliament 
following a general 
review of Parliamentary 
constituencies.

Places of deposit In each constituency the 
Commission will make 
available hard copies of its 
initial proposals (including 
report and maps). The places 
of deposit where the public 
may inspect the proposals 
are usually the offices of 
the relevant local authority, 
although other public places 
such as libraries may be 
used. The Commission will 
publish a full list of places of 
deposit on its website.

Public hearing Formal opportunity in a given 
area for people to make oral 
representations, chaired by 
an Assistant Commissioner. 
In each region of England 
there may be no fewer than 
two and no more than five 
hearings, and each may last 
a maximum of two days.

Representations The views provided by 
an individual, group or 
organisation to the BCE on 
its initial or revised proposals 
(or on the representations of 
others), either for or against, 
including counter-proposals 
and petitions.

Review date The ‘effective date’ at 
which electorate and local 
government boundary data 
is fixed so that we can then 
work with it on a stable 
basis. Defined by the 2020 
Act for the 2023 Review 
as 2 March 2020 for the 
electorate numbers, and 
1 December 2020 for local 
government boundaries.

Revised 
proposals

The initial proposals as 
subsequently revised.

Rules The statutory criteria for 
Parliamentary constituencies 
under Schedule 2 to the 
Parliamentary Constituencies 
Act 1986 (as amended by 
Acts up to and including the 
2020 Act).

UK electoral 
quota

The average number of 
electors in a constituency, 
found by dividing the total 
electorate of the UK (less 
that of the five specific 
‘protected’ constituencies) 
by 645. 

Unitary authority An area where there is only 
one tier of local council 
(above any parish or town 
council). Contrasted with 
those ‘shire district’ areas 
that have two tiers (i.e. both 
a non-metropolitan county 
council and a district/
borough/city council).

Page 63



© Copyright Boundary Commission for England 2021
Page 64



Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



Council: 28th July 2021 
 
CONSTITUTION – PROPOSED AMENDMENTS 
 
EXECUTIVE MEMBER:  Councillor David Moore, Portfolio Holder for 

Nuclear and Corporate Services (to include 
Democratic Services). 

LEAD OFFICER:  Sarah Pemberton, Director of Corporate Services and 
Commercial Strategy. 

REPORT AUTHOR(S):  Clinton Boyce, Solicitor / Sarah Pemberton, Director 
of Corporate Services and Commercial Strategy. 

 
WHY HAS THIS REPORT COME TO COUNCIL 
 
Report from the Standards and Ethics Committee recommending Council’s 
approval on changes to four parts of the Constitution. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
It is recommended that Council approve: 
 
(a)   The appendices to this report with them coming into effect  
        immediately, and, publication on the Council website as soon after as is        
        practicable. 
   
(b)   In respect of the current Council constitution, the four appendices to  
        this report form part of that constitution, and that the Director of  
        Corporate Resources and Commercial Strategy, in consultation with the  
        Chairs of the Standards and Ethics Committee and Overview & Scrutiny, 

be authorised to make minor changes to the whole of the current 
constitution to correct minor discrepancies, etc. 

 

 
  
1.  INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1  Members will recall Council on the 19th November 2019 approving 

revisions to the Constitution. The agenda to that meeting is available via 
this link:  

Page 69

Agenda Item 5



https://copeland.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId
=816&Ver=4 ; item C19/50 refers. 

 
1.2 That report suggested, and Council approved, a new format of 

Constitution comprising of seven parts as follows: 
 
 Part 1 - Summary & Explanation 

Part 2 – Articles of the Constitution 
Part 3 – Responsibility for functions and Terms of Reference 
Part 4 – Rules of Procedure 
Part 5 – Standards of Conduct 
Part 6 – Members Allowances Scheme 
Part 7 – Structures 
 

1.3 This report deals with four documents needed as part of Part 4, Rules of 
Procedure. They are: 

 
The scheme of delegation (Appendix A); 
Budget setting rules (to form part of the Council procedure rules) 
(Appendix B); 
Planning Panel procedure rules (Appendix C); and 
Financial Regulations (Appendix D). 

 
1.4 The changes are relatively minor. 
 

In respect of the scheme of delegation at Appendix A this has been 
updated to align with new structures, job titles and job roles. There are 
no substantive changes to the delegations. 

 
In respect of the budget setting rules at Appendix B these offer clarity on 
the procedure for setting the budget which caused confusion and 
unintended issues this year at Council Budget meeting. It sets out a step 
by step procedure for alternative budget proposals to be brought 
forward.  
 
With regard to the Planning Panel procedures rules at Appendix C this 
consolidates all the provisions relating to that Panel. This Appendix was 
considered by the Panel at its meeting on the 14th April. Again there are 
no real substantive changes to those procedures. There has been conflict 
in what Council last agreed – one part said that speakers could speak 

Page 70

https://copeland.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=816&Ver=4
https://copeland.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=816&Ver=4


when a minded to make decision returns to the Panel; another part said 
that they could not. This is now amended to remove ambiguity and will 
allow them to speak. 
 
The standards and Ethics Committee have recommended that the 
quorum for Planning Panel be increased from three to five. 
 
Finally, in respect of financial regulations, these are mainly alignment 
and updating. There is one substantive change regarding the acceptance 
into budget of external funds. Some large sums of monies have been 
received from central government in the last 12 months and due to 
being above pre-approved transactional limits have required approval of 
Council to receive funds into budget. As meetings of Council are 
irregular, urgent action has been required. To avoid risk of delays and 
any unintended non-compliance, it is proposed that the new bands 
and/or upper limits for accepting money are: 
 
(a)   external funding up to £20,000 – relevant Chief Officer in  

consultation with the s.151 officer and relevant portfolio holder; 
 
(b)    external funding from between £20,000 - £75,000 –head of paid  

service in consultation with the s.151 officer; 
 

(c)    external funding between £75,001 - £150,000 – head of paid  
service in consultation s.151 officer with the relevant portfolio 
holder; 

 
(d)    external funding between £150,001- £250,000 Executive; 

 
(e)    external funding £250,001 - £500,000 the Chief Executive with the   

consent of the s.151 Officer, the Mayor and the Chair of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Chair of latter may refer 
matter to full Committee for a view; if any consent is not given 
then decision to accept lies with Council); and 

 
(f)       external funding above £500,000 – Full Council. 
 
The current level for referral to full Council is £250,000. This proposal 
effectively allows members’ view to feed in via the OSC Chair or the OS 
Committee. It will speed up process but still allow Members to have a 

Page 71



say either through (i) exercising call in or (ii) through the OSC Chair 
withholding consent. 
 

1.5 It was intended that the constitution be reviewed as a whole and 
published when all work undertaken and completed. The changes 
approved by Council in 2019, largely relating to format and layout, have 
not been adopted as they were co-dependent on the remainder of 
constitution parts 3 through to part 7 also being completed; inevitable 
delays have occurred due to the Covid-19 response by officers. 

 
1.6 The Standards and Ethics Committee reviewed these changes at their 

meeting on 20th June and agreed to recommend these changes to 
Council for approval. 

 
1.7 The Standards and Ethics Committee also agreed that with an 

announcement on Local Government Reform (LGR) expected 
imminently, implementing a new, revised constitution at this time was 
no longer necessary.   

 
2. CONCLUSION 
 
2.1 The current constitution still holds good and remains fit for purpose.  
 
2.2 Adoption of Council approved amendments (November and December 

2019) are published along with, and following, suggested amendments 
to the areas outlined in 1.3 and 1.4, and shown as detail in attached 
appendices, and subject to Full Council approval. 

 
2.3  In the event that there may be some minor discrepancies (not covered in 

2.2) between the various chapters, it is recommended that the Director 
of Corporate Resources and Commercial Strategy is authorised to align 
and correct them in consultation with the Chair of Standards and Ethics 
Committee and Chair of Overview & Scrutiny. 

 
2.4 Given the possibility of local government re-organisation (LGR), it is 

proposed that any further work to the constitution, beyond those 
amendments already suggested, be held in abeyance until the outcome 
of the current LGR process is known. If LGR does proceed attention will 
turn to the inaugural constitution of the new/shadow authority.  

 

Page 72



3. STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS: 
 
3.1 Legal Comments:  Solicitor is report author. 
 
3.2 Monitoring Officer:   Any legal issues have been addressed in the  

four appendices. 
3.3 Section 151 Officer: No financial issues arise from the report. The  

new financial regulations bring the document 
up to date. 

3.4 Other comments:  None. 
3.5 EIA Comments:   No equality issues arise from this report. 
3.6 Policy Framework:  No issues arise from this report. 
 

 
Appendices:  
 
A   The scheme of delegation;    
B Budget setting;     
C Planning Panel procedure rules; and 
D Financial Regulations.  
 
Background information: 
Current Council constitution. 

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



  Appendix A (i) 

 

3.13 Scheme of Delegation 

1. General Principles 

1.1 These delegations are made under the powers contained in the Local Government Act, 1972, section 101 

and by reference to section 100G; the Local Government Act, 2000 sections 14, 19 and 20; the Local 

Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000/2853 (as amended) and all other 

enabling powers. The delegations stem from the Council and Committees in respect of non-executive 

functions and from the Mayor and Executive in respect of the discharge of executive functions.  

1.2 An officer is authorised to exercise such powers as are shown in this Scheme of Delegations including 

those reasonably applied or incidental to the matters specified. Functions, matters, powers, 

authorisations, delegations, duties and responsibilities etc. within the Scheme shall be construed in a 

broad and inclusive fashion.  

2. For the purposes of this scheme:  

2.1 If the post of an officer to whom a function is delegated is vacant, or if the post-holder is absent through 

sickness or on leave (of whatever type), then, unless the Council otherwise decides:  

(a)   In the case of the Chief Executive, the delegation shall be exercisable by any Director. In the case 

of a Director the delegation shall be exercisable by the Chief Executive or any other Director. This 

shall not however allow the Chief Executive or Director to exercise the delegation if he/she is 

prevented from doing so by law or he/she does not possess the necessary qualifications to 

exercise the delegation. 

(b)   In the case of the officer who carries the role of a Section 151 Officer the delegation shall be 

exercisable by the Deputy Section 151 Officer in relation to matters under Section 151 Local 

Government Act, 1972. 

(c)   In the case of the officer who carries the role of Monitoring Officer the delegation shall be 

exercisable by the Deputy Monitoring Officer in relation to matters under sections 5 and 5A of the 

Local Government and Housing Act 1989.   

(d)  In the case of the Chief Executive or Director any specific delegation to the Chief Executive or a 

Director shall be exercisable by a Manager they are responsible for provided that such sub-

delegation is in writing by the Chief Executive or Director and provided that the Officer exercising 

the delegation has the requisite professional qualification, where such is required.   

(e)  In the case of a Manager to whom a specific delegation is made by this Scheme then the Chief 

Executive or the Director to whom the Manager is responsible to may exercise the delegation. 

2.2 Where decisions are taken by officers under delegated powers either as contained in this Scheme or by 

being delegated with a power by another under paragraph 2.1 above then the following rules shall apply:  

(a) Powers shall be exercised in accordance with the Council’s Constitution (including financial 

regulations and contract standing orders); in accordance with professional advice and advice, if 

appropriate, from the relevant lead service officer; in accordance with the Council’s approved 

Policy Framework and other approved plans and policies, particularly the Corporate Strategy; and 

in accordance with relevant legislative provisions.   

(b) Any officer exercising a delegation, except in cases of emergency, shall only do so in accordance 

with the budget approved by Council. In case of emergency which is likely to incur expenditure 

outside approved budget an officer should consider virement of budget within the scope of 

Page 75



 

 

financial regulations. If this is not feasible then the section 151 officer should be consulted and 

any decision made on expenditure shall then be made by the Chief Executive holding emergency 

powers.  Any action taken must be no more than is necessary to deal with the emergency itself 

and not for works or services necessary during the recovery stage. 

(c) An officer exercising a delegated power contained within this Scheme shall give effect to any 

resolution or decision of the Council, Mayor, Executive, Portfolio Holder or a Committee upon any 

matter of principle or policy in relation to the functions concerned. 

(d) Where an Officer is authorised to take a decision (either in accordance with this Scheme or by a 

decision of Council, Executive or a Committee) or exercise a function either directly or by virtue of 

the provisions relating to absence detailed in 2.1 above, he/she may authorise any other officer 

specifically or generally to take such action as is necessary to implement that decision or exercise 

that function either in the name of the officer so delegating or in the sub-delegate’s own name.   

(e) Officers carrying delegations under this Scheme, while retaining the delegation themselves, may 

also, in writing, further delegate the authority to exercise the delegation to another officer, 

although final responsibility for the actions taken under any such sub-delegation will remain with 

the original delegator. Officers entrusted with such sub-delegations may, with the written 

agreement of the Chief Executive or relevant Director, further delegate the authority.  Any sub 

delegation is to be recorded in writing. A copy of any sub-delegation or its revocation shall be 

provided to the Democratic Services Manager, and copied to the Chief Executive or relevant 

Director (to whom the delegator is responsible to) within five working days. The Democratic 

Services Officer shall maintain a central register of sub-delegations and the current list of sub-

delegations. Any sub-delegation or further sub-delegation of the original delegation will retain 

any original consultation requirement. The officer dealing with a matter shall also arrange for any 

inter-departmental consultation that may be required.   

2.3 The powers of delegation contained above shall not extend to Proper Officer functions set out in Part 3 of 

this scheme. Only the alternative Proper Officer can exercise such function. If neither the Proper Officer 

nor the alternative Proper Officer is available then the Chief Executive shall appoint another person to act 

in their absence or may exercise the function herself provided she is not legally prohibited from doing so. 

2.4 Where an Officer is authorised to take decisions, action to implement such decisions shall be taken in the 

name of (but not necessarily personally by) that Officer.    

2.5 Any Officer to whom a delegation or sub-delegation is given may waive his/her right to exercise the 

delegation or sub-delegation and refer the matter back to the Council, the Mayor, the Executive, the 

Portfolio Holder or to the relevant Committee or the original delegate for a decision. 

2.6 When an officer is taking any decision which could attract legal liability to the Council he/she shall, in 

consultation with the Council’s Solicitor, consider whether or not the nature of the decision justifies it 

being taken (e.g. termination of a contract). Any decision which has financial implications other than 

those budgeted for shall be taken in consultation with the Section 151 Officer. 

2.7 Subject to any express provision or instruction from the Council, the Mayor, the Executive or other 

decision-making body of the Council to the contrary, any power to approve or deal also includes the 

power to refuse and the power to impose appropriate conditions.  

2.8 Decisions taken under delegated powers shall be recorded.  The Openness of Local Government Bodies 

Regulations 2014 sets out various requirements in respect of recording of decisions taken by members 

and officers. These are as follows:  

Page 76



 

 

(a) The written record must be produced as soon as reasonably practicable after the decision has 

been made.  

(b) The decision must contain the following information:- 

(1) The date the decision was taken 

(2) A record of the decision taken along with reasons for the decision 

(3) Details of alternative options, if any, considered and rejected; and 

(4) Whether any member participated in the decision and the names of any member of the 

relevant decision who declared a conflict of interest in relation to the decision. 

(c)  The written record, together with any background papers, must as soon as reasonably practicable 

after the record is made, be made available for inspection by members of the public at all 

reasonable hours at the main offices, on the Council’s website and by such other means that the 

Council considers appropriate. Additionally, on receipt of postage and copying charges a person is 

entitled to a copy of the written record and any background papers. This right to inspect and 

receive a copy of the record and documents does not apply to confidential information nor 

exempt information. 

(d)   The written record must be retained by the Council and made available for inspection by the 

public for a period of six years beginning with the date on which the decision, to which the record 

relates, was made. 

2.9 The Chief Executive or a Director may appoint any appropriate officer to be an authorised officer, 

appropriate person or any other statutory description of officer in respect of any legislation and written 

confirmation of such appointment shall be conclusive evidence of its application in particular cases.   

2.10 In the event that a post to which a delegation is given ceases to exist and its responsibilities are 

transferred to another post temporarily or permanently then the delegations given under this scheme 

shall be exercisable by the post to which the responsibilities have been transferred. There should be 

written confirmation of the change in responsibilities from the Chief Executive or Director responsible for 

the function, which shall be provided to the Democratic Services Manager to be retained with the central 

copy of this Scheme and sub-delegations. 

2.11 An officer acting up to or seconded to a post on which delegations have been bestowed in accordance 

with this Scheme shall be able to exercise those delegations in the same way as the original post holder. 

2.12 Where a decision is required on any matter relating to a function of a district council which is not covered 

by this scheme of delegation or the constitution as a whole, the Chief Executive is authorised to make that 

decision or to nominate another officer to make that decision. Prior to the decision being made the Chief 

Executive shall consult with the Elected Mayor if the matter relates to an executive function or if the 

matter relates to a non- Executive function then the Chairman of the Council or if pertaining to a licensing 

or planning matter the Chairman of the relevant Committee or Panel. 

3 Interpretation  

3.1 The following definitions shall apply to this scheme of delegation:   

3.1.1 Act, Order or other legal provision: Any reference to an Act, Order or other legal provision shall include a 

reference to any modification or re-enactment thereof and any reference to any Directive, Act, Order or 

other legal provision shall include any Regulation, Order, Rule, Statutory Instrument, Direction, Statutory 

Guidance or other legal provision made thereunder. 

Page 77



 

 

3.1.2 Appropriate Director: The Director responsible for the function/service to which the particular exercise of 

the delegation applies.  

3.1.3 Section 151 Officer/Chief Finance Officer: The person having responsibility for the financial 

administration of the Council in accordance with section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 and 

section 114 and 114A of the Local Government Finance Act 1988. 

3.1.4 Chief Officer: Chief Executive, Director of Corporate Services and Commercial Strategy and the Director of 

Financial Resources.   

3.1.5 Consultation: Consultation shall mean seeking the comments of the person(s) to be consulted with. 

Consultation shall not mean obtaining the consent of the person(s) to be consulted with. A written record 

of the consultation shall be retained by the Officer. 

3.1.6 The Council: Shall include the Council, the Executive, an individual Executive Member (excluding the 

Mayor) or a Committee.  

3.1.7 The Mayor: The Directly Elected Mayor of Copeland 

3.1.8 Committee: Includes a sub-committee and a panel of members. 

3.1.9 ‘in writing’: When applied to a sub-delegation, further sub-delegation or the cancellation of such a sub-

delegation or further sub-delegation from this scheme of delegation, “in writing” shall be taken to include 

email. 

3.1.10 ‘the functions for which they are responsible for’: The functions listed in the Appendix A to this scheme 

which a Director is shown to be responsible for.  

3.1.11 Emergency: Circumstances where action is necessary immediately and where inaction may lead to a loss 

of life, injury to a person or animal or damage to or loss of property. 

3.1.12 Manager: An officer holding the position of a head of service or of manager within the Council. 

3.1.13 Officer: A person employed by Copeland Borough Council as an employee under a contract of services.  

3.1.14 Monitoring Officer: An Officer designated as monitoring officer under section 5 of the Local Government 

and Housing Act 1989.   

3.1.15 Solicitor to the Council: The Council’s Solicitor. 

 

4 Delegation  

4.1 General Delegations to Chief Officers and Managers 

4.1.1 The following powers may be exercised by a Chief Officer or Manager in respect of a function for which 

they are responsible for.  

4.1.2 Prior to exercising the delegation the Chief Officer or Manager must consult with any person listed in the 

column headed ‘Consultees’. Any limitations on the exercise of the power are shown in the column 

headed ‘Limitations’. 

 

 

Page 78



 

 

 Delegation  Consultees  Limitations  

 
A 

 
General 
 

  

1 To manage the day to day functions for 
which they are responsible for including 
budget planning and monitoring (see 
further no. 14 below), the management and 
supervision of staff for which they are 
responsible for, dealing with health and 
safety responsibilities (see further no. 25 
below) and maintaining performance data. 
   

  

2 To make (a) minor amendments  

to any policy, strategy, consultation or 
similar document relating to the functions 
for which they are responsible for (‘minor’ 
meaning typographical, design or tidying up 
without altering substance) and (b) 
amendments required as a matter of 
urgency to meet changes in the law 
pending the matter being considered by 
the relevant Committee.  

  

In respect of (b) the relevant 

portfolio holder for the non-

executive function to which the 

document relates or the chair of a 

relevant Committee if non-

executive.  

The amendment must not 
be to a policy, strategy, etc. 
which requires a statutory 
procedure to be followed 
prior to adoption. 

3 To respond to consultations.  The relevant portfolio holder for 

the non-executive function to 

which the consultation relates or 

the chair of a relevant Committee 

if non-executive. The portfolio 

holder or chair may require the 

matter to be referred to the 

Executive, the relevant Committee 

and/or the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee for consideration.  

 

Response must not 
contradict the Council’s 
existing position or stance 
on the matter the subject of 
consultation. 

4 To dispose of lost or uncollected property.  

  

 Solicitor to the Council. Regard must be had to that 
part of financial regulations 
relating to ‘Assets’. 
 

5 To procure goods and services.  Procurement and Contracts 

Management Officer 

Any procurement must be in 
accordance with Contract 
Standing Orders.  

6 To exercise powers under section 1 of the 

Localism Act 2011 (general power of 

competence) in respect of the functions for 

which they are responsible for.  

Chief Executive, the Section 151 

Officer and the Solicitor to the 

Council.  

Must be within an approved 

budget and must not place 

the Council at a financial 

risk.   

7 To exercise powers and determine all 

matters relating to the supply of goods and 

services to other local authorities and 

The Director of Corporate Services 

and Commercial Strategy and the 

Solicitor to the Council. 

An outline business case 
and risk assessment must 
be approved by the 

Page 79



 

 

public bodies in respect of the functions for 

which they are responsible for.  

 Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy and any contract 
documentation approved 
by the Solicitor to the 
Council prior to 
submitting a tender.   
 

8 To authorise officers for the purposes of 

issuing fixed penalty notices under any 

legislation within the purview of the Council 

and in relation to the functions for which 

they are responsible for.  

 

Solicitor to the Council.   

9 To carry out minor development for which 

planning permission is not required.  

 

Chief Executive and the Property 

and Estates Manager. 

Must be within budget 

approved by Council. 

10 To authorise Officers to carry out 

inspections, take samples, enter premises, 

form opinions and take any other necessary 

action as may be required by law or in 

accordance with the Council’s functions and 

policies in relation to the functions for 

which they are responsible for.   

 

    

 Contracts 
 

  

11  To do all matters in relation to the letting of 

contracts.  

Procurement and Contracts 
Management Officer. 
 

Must be in accordance with 

Contract Standing Orders.  

12  To accept tenders received on any matter.  Procurement and Contracts 

Management Officer. 

Must be in accordance with 

Contract Standing Orders. 

 

13.  To sign contracts on behalf of the Council.  Procurement and Contracts 

Management Officer and the 

Solicitor to the Council. 

  

Expenditure must be within 

an approved budget. 

The contract must be 

entered into in accordance 

with Contract Standing 

Orders. Does not extend to 

sealing a contract or other 

document. 

 

 Financial 
 

  

14.  To manage budgets allocated to the 

functions for which they are responsible for 

including authority to incur expenditure on 

items included in the approved Revenue 

  In accordance with Financial 
Regulations and Contract 
Standing Orders. 

Page 80



 

 

Estimates or Capital Programme except 

where the Council has placed a reservation 

on any such item. 

 

15.  To recommend the write off amounts due 

to a budget for which they are responsible 

for as irrecoverable.  

Director of Financial Resources and 

relevant Portfolio Holder. 

Any write off must be in 

accordance with Financial 

Regulation appendix D, 4.21.  

16.  To determine grant applications in relation 

to the functions for which they are 

responsible for.  

  Must be from within an 

approved budget for the 

provision of grants and 

strictly in accordance with 

any policy regulating the 

distribution of the grant. 

(Note: this delegation 

does not relate to the 

award of grants to 

voluntary sector 

organisations). 

 

17.  To vary, in exceptional circumstances, fees 

and charges.   

The Director of Financial 

Resources, the Director of 

Corporate Services and 

Commercial Strategy, the Relevant 

Portfolio Holder and Chair of the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 

Must not alter the overall 

approved budget of the 

Council. Must be in 

accordance with Financial 

Regulations. 

18.  To determine charges for the use of 

relevant services and events.  

 

The Director of Corporate Services 

and Commercial Strategy and the 

Solicitor to the Council. 

 

In accordance with Financial 

Regulations.  

19.  To take any action authorised by Financial 

Regulations.  

 

 The Director of Financial 

Resources. 

In accordance with Financial 

Regulations.  

20.  To submit bids for the Council to receive 
grants and funding, etc. from external 
bodies including central government.   

 

The Chief Executive, the Director 

of Financial Resources, the 

Director of Corporate Services and 

Commercial Strategy and the 

relevant portfolio holder.  

  

  

Prior to submission a written 

statement should be 

prepared showing, as far as 

possible on the information 

available, that the key 

controls for external funding 

as set out in Financial 

Regulation appendix E, 5.12 

would be satisfied. 

  

 Assets 

 

  

21.  Disposal of surplus / redundant moveable 

assets (i.e. not land or buildings).  

 In accordance with Financial 
Regulations. Not to include 

Page 81



 

 

any item that may be 
considered to be of historical 
significance, interest or 
value.  
 

 Freedom of Information 

 

  

22.  To do all matters in relation to the Freedom 

of Information Act 2000 and Data 

Protection Act 2018/General Data 

Protection Regulation 2016 legislation 

including responding to requests and 

maintaining a publication scheme.  

 

Director of Corporate Services and 

Commercial Strategy  

In accordance with the 

legislation specified in 

column 2 and Information 

Commissioner Office 

guidance. 

 Emergency powers 

 

  

23.  To take any action necessary with regard to 

the Council’s Emergency Planning functions, 

including authority to incur expenditure.   

 

Chief Executive and Director of 
Financial Resources  

  

  Land and Property  

 

    

24.  In accordance with Council policies, to 

manage land, property and other assets 

allocated to the functions for which they 

are responsible.    

 

 Does not extend to disposing 

or acquiring land. 

 

  Health & Safety  

 

    

25.  To exercise all powers, functions, duties and 

responsibilities of the Council with regard 

to health and safety, including 

implementation of the Council’s health and 

safety policy and procedures, in relation to 

the functions for which they are 

responsible.  

 

 

 

  

  

  Equalities  

 

    

26.  To exercise all powers, functions, duties and 
responsibilities of the Council with regard 
to equalities in relation to the functions for 
which they are responsible as set out within 
Section 149 of the Equalities Act 2010. 
 

 

  

  In accordance with the 

Council’s Equalities Scheme.  

Page 82



 

 

  Legal  

 

    

27 To make an application to a court for a 

warrant to entry land or property under the 

provisions of any legislation, in relation to 

functions for which they are responsible 

for.  

 

Where practicable the Solicitor to 

the Council.  

  

28  To sign, issue and serve all notices required 

by statute or otherwise to be given by the 

Council in respect of the functions for which 

they are responsible for and, where 

necessary, arrange for any necessary 

advertisements to be made. 

 

The Solicitor to the Council.   

  Regulatory etc.  

 

    

29  Grant, review, renew and  

Cancel authorisations under the 

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act, 

2000 in accordance with the Council’s 

surveillance policy and the making of a 

subsequent application to Court for judicial 

approval of the authorisation. 

 

The Monitoring Officer and the 

Solicitor to the Council. 

 

Must be within the 

constraints of the Regulation 

of Investigatory Powers Act, 

2000 and associated 

statutory guidance. 

   
  

30  The making of ex gratia payments in cases 

of maladministration.   

 

 

 

Director of Financial Resources Must be in accordance with 

Council’s Complaints Policy.  

  Licences, notices etc.  

 

    

31  The determination of any application for 

permissions, consents, licences, etc. or for 

registration within the functions for which 

he/she is responsible for and enforcement 

of legislation (including conditions 

attached) relating to such permissions, 

consents, licences, (or absence of such) etc.  

 Except where the application 
is reserved to Members for a 
decision.  

32  The issue and service of any notice or 

requisition for information concerned with 

matters within the functions for which 

the/she are responsible for.  

 

    

33  The carrying out of works in default 

following non-compliance with any notice 

concerned with matters within the 

    

Page 83



 

 

functions for which the/she are responsible 

for.  

 

34  The management of any internal appeal, 

challenge or objection process against or in 

support of any of the Council’s decisions, 

other than before a court or tribunal.  

 

    

35  The incurring of expenditure on the 

reception and entertainment by way of 

official courtesy of persons representative 

of or connected with local government or 

other public services whether inside or 

outside the United Kingdom.   

 

 Chief Executive. To maximum of £1000 and 

only within existing 

approved budgets.  

  Planning  

 

    

36  To make application for all consents 

required in relation to planning permission 

in respect of Council land or property in 

relation to the functions for which they are 

responsible for.  

 

The Property and Estates Manager Consent of consultee must 

also be obtained. 

  Regulation etc.  

 

    

37  To make application for all consents 

required in relation to building regulation 

approvals in respect of Council land or 

property in relation to the functions for 

which they are responsible for.  

 

The Property and Estates Manager Consent of consultee must 

also be obtained.  

38  To determine whether or not a caution or 

administrative penalty should be 

administered following an investigation into 

an alleged criminal offence.  

 

 Must be in accordance with 
relevant enforcement 
concordat. 
 

39  To administer a caution and administrative 

penalties.  

 

   

 

  Staffing matters      

40  To determine and take action in  

relation to all staff matters relating to 

permanent and temporary staff below 

Chief Officer level, allocated to the 

functions for which they are responsible.  

  In accordance with  

Council Employment 

Procedure Rules.  

Page 84



 

 

41  To appoint Officers as ‘Authorised  

Officers’, ‘Inspectors’, ‘Proper Officers’  

or similar and to undertake enforcement 
functions excluding the issuing or defending 
of legal proceedings in respect of functions 
for which they are responsible.   

 

 The Democratic Services Officer 

and the Solicitor to the Council. 

  

  Information Security Management and 

Publication  

 

    

42  To apply all appropriate information 

security measures. 

  

 The ICT Manager.   

43.  To apply the Data Protection Act in 

particular the 7 data protection principles. 

  

 

    

 

4.1.3  Subject to the foregoing, there are delegated to the officers listed below those matters detailed in column 

2 subject to any consultation requirements in column 3 and any limitations in column 4. 

 

No  Function  Consultation  Limitation  Also delegated to  

 

B Chief Executive 
 

   

1.  The taking of any action required 

in connection with the 

organisation or holding of 

neighbourhood, parish, district, 

county, general or police and crime 

commissioner elections or 

referenda.   

 

   Director of Corporate 

Services and 

Commercial Strategy; 

Electoral and 

Democratic Services 

Manager. 

2.  To hear and determine appeals 

from staff in accordance with the 

Council’s Grievance and 

Disciplinary Policy and Procedure.  

 

  Grievance and  

Disciplinary   

Procedure  

  

3.  To approve expenditure to cover 

situations in war or peacetime 

emergencies where other 

arrangements are impracticable.  

 

Director of Financial 

Resources  

     

4.  To approve, in consultation with 
the Executive where appropriate, 
Council publications, including 

   CIMR Procedure   Any other Director. 

Page 85



 

 

press releases and the giving of live 

and recorded interviews by officers 
in accordance with the Council’s 
approved Corporate Image and 
Media Relations Procedure. 

  

5.  To determine applications for early 

retirement where added years are 

requested, matters relating to 

redundancy and voluntary 

redundancy. 

 

Director of Financial 

Services 

  

   Any other Director 

6.  To take urgent action on behalf of 

the Council as set out in Part 2, 

Article 11.  

  The Mayor or 

Relevant Portfolio 

Holder will be kept 

informed, if they 

are available.  

  

Directors   

7. To take the lead role in delivery of 
the Council’s response to the 
opportunities and challenges 
presented by developments in the 
nuclear industry in Copeland and 
West Cumbria.  

 

   

8. To lead and deliver the 
development and implementation 
of the Council’s economic 
development strategy and 
programme of projects including 
community regeneration. 

 

   

9. To design and lead an integrated 
service which brings together 
strategic planning, nuclear 
programme, economic 
development to drive and deliver 
economic growth for Copeland.  

 

   

10. To lead the Council’s partnership 

with BEC (local property devt, 

profit for purpose, company) devt.  

and the Cumbria Local Enterprise 

Partnership and to take action to 

promote it. 

 

   

Page 86



 

 

11. To enable a diverse local economy 

through the promotion, facilitating 

and partnering on a range of 

sustainable development 

opportunities, and to take action 

to facilitate it.   

 

   

12. To engage in Local Enterprise 
Partnerships, Enterprise Zones and 
funding mechanisms for 
supporting local economic growth, 
such as the Regional Growth Fund, 
ensuring that the work delivers 
value for money.  

 

   

13. To lead on health and safety for 

the Council in accordance with  

Health and Safety at Work  Act 

1974 and associated regulations. 

  

   

14.  To lead and take all necessary 

action on behalf on the Council as 

an employer such as provision of 

safe working methods, information 

and where necessary instruction, 

provision and maintenance of 

work equipment.  

 

   

15.  To investigate and report upon any 

areas where health and safety 

improvements may be required. 

 

   

16.  To lead on emergency planning for 

the Council.  

 

   

17.  To investigate and report upon any 

areas where emergency planning 

improvements may be required.  

 

   

18. To be responsible for business 

continuity arrangements. 

 

   

19. All matters relating to the 

investigation and prosecution of 

matters under the Health & Safety 

at Work legislation. 

Using duly appointed 

inspectors as appropriate  

 

 

 

  

Page 87



 

 

20. To exercise the Council’s functions 
relating to homeless persons.  
 

   

21. To determine applications for 
appropriate housing grants and the 
taking of all steps concerned with 
certification of payment of the 
same.   
 

   

22. To devise, manage and maintain 
the Housing Register maintained 
by the Council under the relevant 
statutory provisions in accordance 
with the Council’s Housing 
Allocations Policy.  
 

   

23. To nominate people on to 
properties in accordance with 
Cumbria Choice Based Letting and 
the Council’s allocations policy. 
 

   

24. To exercise the Council’s 
regulatory and any associated 
management functions in relation 
to Housing Health and Safety 
Rating. 
  

   

25. To exercise the Council’s 
regulatory and any associated 
management functions in relation 
to houses in multiple occupation 
and private housing.   
 

   

26. To determine whether an 
individual should repay a housing 
grant/loan. 
 

   

27. All matters relating to pleasure 
boats, boatman’s licences, 
fisherman’s agreements and all 
such other matters related to the 
Council’s powers and duties in 
relation to the coast, rivers and 
harbours.   
 

   

28. To exercise the Council’s 
regulatory and any associated 
management functions relating to:  
(a)  Caravan and camping sites;  
(b)  Environmental protection 
including statutory nuisances;  

 (o) to (u) subject to 
Licensing 
Committee terms of 
reference/split 
delegation 

 

Page 88



 

 

(c)   Food safety and hygiene;  
(d)  Health and safety at work;  
(e)  Motor salvage operators;  
(f)   Pest control;  
(g)  Public health;  
(h)  Public safety;  
(i)   Scrap metal dealers;  
(j)   Shops and Sunday trading;  
(k)  Water and sewerage; 
(l)   Building control functions  
(m) Unfit and defective housing 
and properties  
(n)  Air quality contaminated land 
(o)  Gambling;  
(p)  Gaming permits;  
(q)  Hackney carriage drivers and 
vehicles;  
(r)  Private hire drivers, vehicles 
and operators;  
(s) Licensable activities under the 
Licensing Act 2003;  
(t) Lotteries;  
(u) Street and house to house 
collections; 
 

29. To grant, vary, enforce or suspend 
licences, registrations, 
authorisations and permits under 
the Animal Welfare (Licencing of 
Activities Involving Animals) 
(England) Regulations 2018 
 

   

30. To exercise the Council’s powers in 
respect of water supply, sewerage 
and drainage.  
 

   

31. To exercise the Council’s powers in 
respect of land drainage.   
 

   

32. To exercise the Council’s powers 
affecting the design or 
maintenance of highways. 
   

   

33. All matters relating to the naming 
and numbering of streets. 

 Relevant Portfolio 
Holder and Ward 
Councillors 
 

 

34. To review the decision to serve a 
remedial notice where written 
representations are received under 
regulation 5(2)(e) and (f) of the 

   

Page 89



 

 

Smoke and Carbon Monoxide 
Alarm (England) Regulations 2015 

 To review the decision to serve a 
penalty charge notice in 
accordance with regulation 10 
where written representations are 
received under regulation 10 of 
the Smoke and Carbon Monoxide 
Alarm (England) Regulations 2015. 
 

   

35. To issue, serve, modify, or 
withdraw any enforcement action 
or notices under the Planning Acts, 
the Building Acts, the 
Environmental Protection Acts and 
any other such regulatory 
legislation enforced by the Council 
etc. and to carry out works in 
default arising therefrom.    
 

Solicitor to the Council   

 
C. 

 
Director of Financial Resources 
 

   

1.  To make payments of housing and 

council tax or similar benefits.  

 

  Financial  

Regulations  

Revenues and Benefits 
Team Leaders. 

2.  To take all necessary action 

including legal enforcement 

relating to the demand, collection 

and the recovery of Council Tax, 

Rates and any other local levy or 

collected taxes.  

 

  Financial  

Regulations  

Revenues and Benefits 
Team Leaders. 

3.  To take all necessary action 

including legal action relating to 

the recovery of debts due to the 

Council. 

 

  Financial  

Regulations  

Revenues and Benefits 
Team Leaders 

4.  To determine entitlement to 

mandatory or discretionary rate 

relief. 

 

 Financial 

Regulations  

 

Revenues and Benefits 
Team Leaders. 

5.  To serve on the Valuation Officer 

notice of objection to any 

proposals for alteration of the 

Valuation List.  

 

  Financial 

Regulations  

 

Revenues and Benefits 
Team Leaders. 

6.  To make proposals for the 

alteration of the Valuation List or 

  Financial 

Regulations  

Revenues and Benefits 
Team Leaders. 

Page 90



 

 

for inclusion of particular 

properties in the Valuation List.  

  

7.  To sign off Valuation Agreements.    Financial  

Regulations  

Revenues and Benefits 
Team Leaders. 

8.  To determine any applications for 

Housing, Council Tax or similar 

benefits and to make payments of 

such. 

 

  Financial  

Regulations  

 

Revenues and Benefits 
Team Leaders. 
 

9.  To investigate allegations of 

housing benefit or council tax 

benefit fraud.  

 

  Financial  

Regulations  

 

Revenues and Benefits 
Team Leaders. 
 

10.  To take any action relating to 

borrowing in accordance with the 

Council’s Treasury Management 

Strategy and any other relevant 

Council budgetary policy.  

 

  Financial  

Regulations and  

Treasury  

Management  

Strategy  

 

11.  To borrow by way of bank 

overdraft from the Council’s 

current bankers in accordance 

with the Treasury Management 

Strategy and any other relevant 

Council budgetary policy, subject 

to annual review by the bank and 

the audit committee.  

 

Relevant  

Portfolio  

Holder  

Financial  

Regulations and  

Treasury  

Management  

Strategy  

 

12.  To make payments in respect of 

any claims where the Council’s 

insurers may be involved including 

payment of excesses. 

  

  Financial 

Regulations  

 

13.  To invest available funds on 

appropriate terms and in 

accordance with the Council’s 

investment strategy.  

  Financial 

Regulations and 

Treasury  

Management 

Strategy  

 

14.  To make payment of any sums due 

from the Council.  

 

  Financial 

Regulations   

  

 

15.  To make repayments to the 

Council’s Pension Fund from those 

reserves earmarked for pension’s 

contribution.  

 

     

Page 91



 

 

16.  To write off debts in accordance 

with the Council’s Financial 

Regulations.  

 

Budget Holder  Financial  

Regulations   

 

17.  To investigate and report upon any 
allegations of fraud or dishonesty.  
  

    Relevant Chief Officer  

18.   To manage the procurement, 

improvement, refurbishment, 

maintenance and new build 

provision of the Council’s non-

housing property portfolio, not 

specifically the responsibility of 

other Officers.   

 

 Property and Estates 

Manager 

   

19.  To act as client officer for contracts 

let for building maintenance. 

 

    

20.  To secure appropriate 

arrangements and oversee the 

security of the Council’s ICT 

systems through the 

implementation of appropriate 

policies and procedures. 

  

      

21. To implement the Council’s 

corporate policy framework and 

oversee the implementation of the 

Councils Equality policies and 

procedures. 

 

   

22.  To prepare and publish a Customer 

Services Strategy. 

 

   

23. To act as Reporting officer for Anti 
Money Laundering measures in 
accordance with council policy. 
 

   

     

D. Director of Corporate Services and 
Commercial Strategy 
 

   

1.  To implement the Council’s 

policies regarding Community 

Safety and the reduction of crime 

and disorder.  

 

   

Page 92



 

 

2.  To take any action to combat anti-

social behaviour including the issue 

of fixed penalty notices.   

 

   

3.  To exercise all the Council’s 

functions in relation to cremations, 

burials and all bereavement-

related services.  

 

   

4.  To determine and communicate 

the Council’s position relating to 

goods vehicle operator’s licences.  

 

   

5.  To exercise the Council’s 
regulatory and any associated 
management functions relating to:  
amenities on highway, general 
highway management and any 
other matters relating to highways  
(including footpaths and un-

adopted highways) affecting a 

district council. 

 

   

6.  To exercise the Council’s 

regulatory and any associated 

management functions relating to: 

(a) Trespassers on land, whether 

Council owned or privately owned; 

(b)  Markets;  

(c)  Street trading; 

(d)  Abandoned vehicles and 
caravans;  
(e)  Dangerous trees;  
(f)  Waste collection and disposal; 
all litter matters;  
(g)  Stray dogs and dog control 

including dog fouling. 

 

      

7.  To determine applications and to 

take any action under Anti-Social 

Behaviour Act (2003) Part 8 (High 

Hedges).  

 

    

8.  All matters relating to on and off 

street parking.  

 

   

Page 93



 

 

9.  To collect, remove, recycle and 

dispose of household/domestic 

and waste. 

  

    

10.  To collect, remove, recycle and 

dispose of street and parks and 

open spaces litter (CBC asset 

owned).  

 

    

11.  To collect, remove, recycle and 

dispose of abandoned or 

unauthorised vehicles.  

  

    

12.  To authorise the waiving or 

reduction of charges for special 

refuse collections.   

 

   

13.  All matters relating to the 

consecration of land.  

 

    

14.  To take appropriate action under 

the Antisocial, Behaviour Crime 

and Policing Act 2014 including the 

issue of applications for a civil 

injunction, the issue and 

enforcement of a community 

protection notice, enforcement of 

public space protection orders and 

the issue of a closure notice.  

 

    

15. To secure appropriate 

arrangements for responding to 

complaints and to participate in 

the Local Government 

Ombudsman scheme. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

16. To supervise the Council’s use of 
the powers available under the 
Regulation of Investigatory Powers 
Act 2000.   
 

   

17. To act as Data Protection Officer 
for the Council and to undertake 
and be responsible for all matters 
arising under the Data Protection 
Act 2018 and General Data 
Protection Regulations 2016. 
 

Information Governance 
and Data Compliance 
Officer 

  

Page 94



 

 

18. To implement the council’s 
arrangements for Overview and 
scrutiny. 
 

   

 

E Solicitor to the Council    

 Legal Proceedings:       

 1. (a) To determine what, if any legal 

action should be taken following 

any investigation into a criminal 

matter; 

(b) To determine whether or not 

any legal proceedings should be 

taken in any particular case or set 

of circumstances;   

(c) To issue, prosecute or 

terminate any proceedings which 

the Council is empowered to 

pursue in or before any Court, 

Tribunal or Inquiry or by the issue 

of a fixed penalty notice; 

(d) To defend or settle any 

proceedings contemplated or 

brought against the Council; 

(e) To settle any claims that the 

Council is contemplating or 

initiating; 

(e) To take any action incidental or 

inclusive to or which would 

facilitate any action under this 

paragraph including the signing of 

informations, claim forms, 

defences or any other documents 

relating to court or judicial 

proceedings. 

 

  

 

 

 

 

  

 2. To advise the relevant Chief Officer 

who is contemplating 

administering a formal caution to a 

person that has admitted an 

offence.  

 

     

3.  To appoint and instruct external 

legal service providers. 

   

    

Page 95



 

 

4.  To negotiate and enter into 

planning or other agreements 

regulating or controlling the use of 

development of land.  

 

Chief Executive or 

Planning and Place 

Manager 

  

5.  To make minor amendments in 

planning or other agreements 

regulating or controlling the use or 

development of land.  

 

Chief Executive or 

Planning and Place 

Manager 

   

6.  To issue, serve, modify, or 

withdraw any enforcement action 

or notices under the Planning Acts, 

the Building Acts, the 

Environmental Protection Acts and 

any other such regulatory 

legislation enforced by the Council 

etc.    

 

 Chief Executive or 

Planning and Place 

Manager 

   

7.  To give, make and confirm any 

Order or Direction under the 

Planning Acts including Tree 

Preservation Orders (and 

associated applications for consent 

for works) and notification of 

works to trees in conservation 

areas.  

 

Relevant  

Chief  

Officer  

Not to confirm if 

there are any 

objections  

 

8.  To seal any document.  

 

   

9.  To negotiate and agree the terms 

of any contract.  

 

   

10.  To sign any contract on behalf of 

the Council.  

 

   

11.  To authorise the attendance of 

Officers at Court under any 

statutory provision.  

 

   

12.  To authorise service of any 

statutory requisition for 

information as to interests in land. 

   

   

13.  To execute any legal document on 

behalf of the Council. 

 

   

Page 96



 

 

14.  To issue, serve, suspend or 

withdraw any notices in respect of 

any matter for which the Council 

has power to act.  

 

Relevant  

Chief  

Officer  

  

15.  To exercise the Council’s 
regulatory and any associated 
management functions relating to 
street closures  

    

16.  To sign discharges on behalf of the 

Council in respect of repayment of 

mortgages.  

 

    

 

F. Planning and Place Manager    

  The functions delegated to the 

Planning and Place Manager are 

principally contained in chapter 10 

of the Constitution relating to 

Planning. The matters set out 

below are in addition to those 

matters. Where there is conflict 

the provisions contained in chapter 

10 shall prevail. 

 

    Senior Planning Officer  

1 To determine applications for 
certificates of lawfulness of 
existing or proposed use or 
development under Sections 191 
and 192 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 
 

   

2. To serve Planning Contravention 

Notices in respect of suspected 

breaches of planning control.   

 

    Senior Planning Officer  

3.  In consultation with the Council’s 

Solicitor, to agree heads of terms 

for planning obligations and 

Agreements under Section 106 of 

the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990.  

 

Council’s Solicitor    Senior Planning Officer 

4.  In consultation with the Council’s 
Solicitor to agree representation at 

Council’s Solicitor    Senior Planning Officer 

Page 97



 

 

public inquiries and planning 
appeals.   

5. To give, make and confirm any 

Order or Direction under the 

Planning Acts. 

 

      

 6. 

 

 Subject to the limitations imposed 

above to determine the Council’s 

stance in respect of and respond to 

consultations and opinions 

concerning matters where the 

Officer is not to determine the 

application.  

  

    Senior Planning Officer   

7.  To (a) issue and serve notices in 

relation to breaches of conditions 

in relation to planning permissions 

and to take appropriate action in 

respect of noncompliance 

therewith; (b) to issue and serve 

notices under section 215 of the 

Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 relating to land adversely 

affecting the amenity of the area 

and to take appropriate action in 

respect of non-compliance 

therewith; and (c) to take any 

other action allowed by the Town 

and Country Planning Act 1990, 

the Planning (Hazardous 

Substances) Act 1990 or the 

Planning (Listed Buildings and 

Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and 

subordinate legislation made 

under those Acts  in respect of 

breaches of the provisions of 

those Acts or subordinate 

legislation. 

 

 

    Senior Planning Officer  

G. Strategic Housing Manager 

 

   

1. To issue, sign and serve remedial 

notices under regulation 5 of the 

Smoke and Carbon Monoxide 

Alarm (England) Regulations 2015. 

 

  Public Protection 

Manager 

Page 98



 

 

2. To take remedial action under 

regulation 7(1) of the Smoke and 

Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) 

Regulations 2015 such 

authorisation to include 

authorising a person to take 

remedial action under regulation 

7. 

  

  Public Protection 

Manager 

3. To determine whether a penalty 

charge notice should be served, to 

determine the amount of a 

penalty charge against the 

adopted statement of principles 

and to serve a penalty charge 

notice in accordance with 

regulations 8 and 9 of the Smoke 

and Carbon Monoxide Alarm 

(England) Regulations 2015. 

 

   

 

5 Authorisations to represent the Council in Court   

5.1 Every Solicitor, Barrister or Legal Executive employed or engaged by the Council shall be authorised to 

appear on its behalf before any Court, Tribunal or other hearing before which they have a right of 

audience and to exercise the powers given by the relevant professional body.   

5.2 The following post holders are authorised to appear on behalf of the Council and to conduct proceedings 

in Court and these are additional to the powers delegated by the scheme of delegation to officers and the 

rights to appear in court given to solicitors, barristers and legal executives: 

(a) pursuant to the Local Government Act 1972 Section 223 and the County Courts Act 1984 Section 

60 (in respect of possession matters) and for any purpose for which the Council is empowered to 

authorise Officers to appear on its behalf:  

(i)    Legal Assistants  

(ii)   Trainee Solicitors  

(iii)   Other suitably experienced and/or qualified Officers specifically authorised in writing so 

to appear by the Solicitor to the Council.  

 

(b) pursuant to the Local Government Act 1972 Section 223 in respect of Rating or Council Tax 

matters: 

(i) The Revenues and Benefits Team Leaders  

(ii) Officers of Copeland Borough Council authorised in writing so to appear by the Revenues 

and Benefits Team Leaders   

 

(c) pursuant to Part I of the Health and Safety at Work etc. 1974:   

(i) Public Protection Manager 

Page 99



 

 

(ii) Officers of Copeland Borough Council so authorised in writing to appear by the Public     

Protection Manager and/or in accordance with the legislation 

 

(d) pursuant to the Insolvency Rules 1986 Part 9 (examination of persons concerning company and 

individual insolvency):   

 

(i) The Revenues and Benefits Team Leaders  

(ii) Officers of Copeland Borough Council so authorised in writing to appear by the Revenues 

and Benefits Manager  

6 Authorisation to enter land or premises  

6.1 General:  

 

(a) This authorisation authorises those Officers named in paragraphs 6.2-6.5 to enter land or 

premises for or in connection with their duties and pursuant to the functions mentioned. 

(b) The authority to enter land or premises shall be exercisable subject to any statutory constraints. 

(c) A reference to any Act shall include reference to any amendment or re-enactment and any 

subordinate legislation. 

(d) In the event that a post ceases to exist or the name of the post is changed or the responsibilities 

of that post are transferred to another post temporarily or permanently then the authority given 

by this authorisation shall be exercisable by the Officer in whose area of responsibility the 

previous responsibilities now reside. 

(e) The right to enter given by paragraphs 2-5 below shall extend to the exercise of the power to 

make inspections, to provide samples and to examine and seize goods, to survey the land, to 

execute works in default, as and when appropriate 

(f) A person authorised to enter land may take with him or her or such other persons and 

equipment as may be necessary 

(g) This authorisation entitles the person authorised to enter land to seek a warrant to enter 

(h) The authorisation of an Officer to enter land shall be taken as this appointment of that Officer 

among other things for that purpose 

 

6.2 All purposes  

6.2.1 The following are authorised to enter land or premises for all purposes and functions of the Council: 

(a) Chief Executive and Directors  

(b) Emergency Planning Officer 

(c)  Managers (to include Solicitor) 

 

6.3 Environmental Health, Housing, Building Control etc.  

6.3.1 The following are authorised to enter land or premises for functions 6.3.1 (a) – (v): Team Leaders and 

Technical Officers. Such other Officers as shall be delegated to in writing by them from time to time by 

the relevant Chief Officer or a Manager within the relevant department. 

(a) Animal Welfare 

(b) Caravan Sites 

(c)  Environmental Protection 

(d) Food Safety and Hygiene 

Page 100



 

 

(e) Health and Safety at Work 

(f) Housing 

(g) Licensing Act 2003 

(h) Pest Control 

(i) Public Health 

(j) Public Safety 

(k) Scrap Metal Dealers 

(l) Shop Acts 

(m) Street Trading 

(n) Sunday Trading 

(o) Public Health 

(p) Land Drainage Act 

(q) Gambling Act 2005 

(r) Street Closures 

(s) Cremations and Burials 

(t) Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003, Part 8 

(u) Building Act 1984 

(v) Water Industry Act 1991 

 

6.4 Planning 

 

6.4.1 The following are authorised to enter land or premises for functions 4(a)-(c): Senior Planning Officers, 

Planning Officers and Technical Officers. Such other Officers as shall be delegated to in writing by them 

from time to time by the Planning and Place Manager. 

(a) The Town and Country Planning Act 1990, Sections 178, 196A, 196B, 324 and 325. 

(b) Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Section 88. 

(c) Planning (Hazardous Substances Act 1990, Section 36. 

6.5 Local Taxation  

6.5.1 The following are authorised to enter land or premises for the following function:   Team Leaders within 

Revenues and Benefits. Such other Officers as shall be delegated to in writing by them from time to time by 

Executive Director, Operations and S151 Officer . 

 (a) Collection of Local Taxes 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 101



 

 

ANNEX A  

 

Operating Structure as at 1 April 2021 
 

 

Corporate Leadership Team  
 

 

 

Chief Executive – Head of Paid Service, Returning Officer and Electoral Registration Officer 
 

Public Protection 
Environmental Health  
Emergency Planning and Resilience  
Whitehaven Hub  
Licensing 
Planning and Place Manager 
Development Management, Strategic Planning 
Economic Growth and Regen 
Corporate Policy  

ICT 

Nuclear and Energy  

Property and Estates  

Building Control  

Strategic Housing &Inclusion / Safeguarding 

Communications  

HR/Health and Safety  

Political Advisor  

Personal Assistants  

Policy Officer 

 

  

 

 

Director of Corporate Services and Commercial Strategy (& Monitoring Officer) 
 

Community Services - Waste & Recycling 

Trade Waste Service 

Enforcement – fly-tipping, stray dogs 

Parking 

Parks & Open Spaces 

Bereavement Services 

Performance and Risk 

Elections and Democratic Services 

Information Management (GDPR/FOI) and Data Protection 

Governance and Constitution 

Strategic Commercial  

Contract Management 

 

 

Page 102



 

 

Procurement 

Legal 

Customer Relations  

S.I.R.O  

 

 

Director of Financial Resources (s.151 officer) 
 

Budget Strategy and Finance 

Revenues and Benefits 

Internal/External Audit . 

Beacon 

Leisure Contract 

Customer Services 

CCF 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank



   Appendix A (ii) 

 

3.14 Appointment of Proper Officers and Statutory Officers  

  

 1. In this Constitution the posts set out below shall be the designated Statutory and Proper 

Officers for the Council and those posts shall undertake the specific responsibilities attached 

to the role as set out by statute. In the event of the statutory or Proper Officer being absent 

or for any reason otherwise unable to act or of any of their posts being vacant the Officer 

nominated as alternative statutory or Proper Officer shall act. In the event of both the 

designated and alternative Officers being absent or for any reason otherwise unable to act 

then any Director shall be entitled to act.  

  

2.     Until the Council decides otherwise the Chief Executive is appointed the statutory or 

Proper Officer for the purpose of all statutory provisions, whether existing or future, in respect 

of which no express statutory or Proper Officer appointment has, for the time being, been 

made. If the Chief Executive is prevented by legislation from being the statutory or proper 

Officer then the Director of Corporate Services and Commercial Strategy is appointed as the 

relevant Officer. If she is prevented by legislation then it shall be the Director of Financial 

Resources. If he is prevented then it shall be the Solicitor to the Council.   

  

3. "Proper Officer" is the term used in legislation where it is intended that functions shall be the 

responsibility of a particular Officer of the Council. Some legislation requires the authority to 

nominate an employee to undertake particular function but does not expressly refer to them as 

a Proper Officer. The head of paid service, monitoring officer and person responsible for 

financial matters are such statutory Officers. The table below uses the expression ‘Proper 

Officer’ to cover both types.  

  

4. The following are the Proper Officers of the Council under the enactments shown below.  The 

alternative Proper Officer is authorised to act when the Proper Officer is absent or otherwise 

unable to act.  

 

Ref No. Function Proper Officer Alternative Proper Officer 

Local Government Act 1972 

1. Section 13(3) – the Officer to act as a 
parish trustee in parishes having no 
parish council. 

Director of Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial Strategy  

Chief Executive 

2. Section 83(1) to (4) - the Officer to 
whom a person elected to the office 
of Councillor shall deliver a 
declaration of acceptance of office. 
 

Director of Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial Strategy  

Electoral and Democratic 
Services Manager 

3. Section 84 - the Officer to whom 
written notice of resignation of 
elected office shall be delivered.    

Director of Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial Strategy 

Electoral and Democratic 
Services Manager 

4. Section 88(2) - the Officer by whom a 
meeting of the Council for the 
election of the vacant office of 

Director of Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial Strategy 

Electoral and Democratic 
Services Manager 

Page 105



 
 

 

Chairman of Council may be 
convened.  

5. Section 89(1)(b) - the Officer to whom 
notice in writing of a casual vacancy 
occurring in the office of Councillor 
may be given by two local 
government electors for the Borough.  

Chief Executive  Electoral & Democratic 
Services Manager 

 6. Section 96 – receiving details of and 
recording Members’ interests  

Director of Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial Strategy  

Electoral & Democratic 
Services Manager   

 7. Section 100B(2) - the Officer who 
shall determine the withholding of 
reports from public inspection on the 
basis of the existence of exempt 
information.  

Director of Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial Strategy  

Electoral and Democratic 
Services Manager   

 8. Section 100B(7)(C) – the Officer who 
shall supply information to any 
newspaper  

Director of Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial Strategy  

Electoral and Democratic 
Services Manager   

 9. Section 100C(2) – the Officer who 
shall supply summaries of 
proceedings of meetings considering 
reports containing exempt 
information  

Director of Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial Strategy  

Electoral and Democratic 
Services Manager   

 10. Section 100D – compilation of list of 
background documents  

Director of Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial Strategy  

Electoral and Democratic 
Services Manager   

 11. Section 100(F) (2) – the Officer who 
shall determine the withholding of 
exempt information from Members  

Director of Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial Strategy 

Electoral and Democratic 
Services Manager   

12.  Section 115(2) - the Officer who shall 
receive all money due from every 
Officer employed by the Council.  

Director of Financial 
Resources Deputy S151 

13.  Section 146 – the Officer who shall in 
the case of the Council changing its 
name, make a statutory declaration 
specifying the securities standing in 
the books of various companies in the 
name of the Council and verifying the 
change and identity of the Council.  

Director of Financial 
Resources 

Deputy S151 

14. Section 151 – The Officer who shall 
have responsibility for the proper 
administration of the Council’s 
financial affairs 

Director of Financial 
Resources 

Deputy 151 

15. 
Section 191(2) – applications under 
the Ordnance Survey Act 1841  

Electoral and 
Democratic Services 
Manager 
 

Chief Executive 

Page 106



 
 

 

(nominating a person to assist with 
marking out of reputed boundaries of 
boroughs, parishes, etc.) 
 

16. Section 210(6) and (7) – the Officer 
who shall exercise the charity 
functions of office holders with a 
predecessor authority where there is 
no equivalent office holder in the 
successor authority. 

Director of Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial Strategy 

Solicitor 

17. Section 225(1) – the Officer with 
whom a document of any description 
is deposited pursuant to the standing 
orders of either House of Parliament 
or to any enactment or instrument, 
and who shall receive and retain 
documents in the manner and for the 
purposes directed by the standing 
orders or enactments or instrument, 
and shall make notes or 
endorsements on, and give such 
acknowledgements and receipts, in 
respect of, the documents as may be 
so directed. 

Solicitor 
 
 

Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy  
 

18. Section 229(5) – the Officer who shall 
certify a photographic copy of a 
document in the custody of the 
Council or of a document which has 
been destroyed or in the custody of 
the Council, or of any part of such 
document. 

Solicitor 
 

Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy 

19. Section 234 – the Officer who may, 
except as otherwise provided, sign on 
behalf of the Council any notice, or 
order or other document which the 
Council is authorised or required to 
give make or issue, by or under any 
enactment (including any enactment 
in the Local Government Act 1972) 
and where that other enactment does 
not make provision for signing such 
documents. 

Solicitor  Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy  

20. Section 236 (9) and (10) – the 
Officer who shall send copies of 
byelaws to parish councils and the 
proper Officers of the County 
Council.  

Solicitor  Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy 

Page 107



 
 

 

 

21. Section 238 – the Officer who shall 
certify a printed copy of a byelaw of 
the Council 

Solicitor 
 
 

Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy  

22. Section 248 – the Officer who shall 
keep a role of freemen 

Elections and 
Democratic Services 
Manager 

Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy  

23. Schedule 12 paragraph 4 (2) (b) -the 
Officer who shall sign summonses to 
attend meetings of the Council. 

Chief Executive Any other Director or the 
Council’s Solicitor 

24. Schedule 12 Paragraph 4(3) –the 
Officer to whom a member of the 
Council shall give notice in writing 
requesting summonses to attend 
meetings of the Council to be sent to 
an address specified in the notice 
other than his place of residence. 

Director of Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial Strategy 

Elections and Democratic 
Services Manager 

25. Schedule 14 Paragraph 25(7) - the 
Officer who shall certify a resolution 
of the Council under this paragraph 
(resolutions applying or dis-applying 
provisions of the Public Health Acts 
1875-1961). 

Solicitor  Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy  

 

Other Acts 

1. Section 8 Representation of the 
People Act 1983 – The Registration 
Officer for the purpose of the 
registration of electors  
 

Chief Executive Electoral & Democratic 
Services Manager 

2. Section 35 Representation of the 
People Act 1983 – the Returning 
Officer at an election of Copeland 
Borough Councillors.  
 

Chief Executive Electoral & Democratic 
Services Manager 

3. Section 52 Representation of the 
People Act 1983 – appointment of 
Deputy Electoral Registration Officer 
 

Electoral & Democratic 
Services Manager 

Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy 
 

4. Sections 82 and 89 – to receive 
declaration of election expenses and 
holding of documents for public 
inspection  
 

Chief Executive Electoral & Democratic 
Services Manager 

5. Sections 15 and 16 Local Government 
and Housing Act 1989 and the Local 
Government (Committees and 

Electoral & Democratic 
Services Manager 

Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy 

Page 108



 
 

 

Political Groups) Regulations 1990 – 
notification, etc. of constitution of 
political groups. 

 

6. Section 41 Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
the Officer who shall certify true 
copies of resolutions and minutes of 
proceedings etc.  
 

Solicitor 
 
 

Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy 

7. Section 30, Local Government Act, 
1974 – the Officer who shall give 
public notice of receipt of reports of 
the Local Commissioner.  
 

Solicitor 
 
 
 

Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy 

8. Section 4, Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989 – the Officer 
designated as the Head of the Paid 
Service  
 

Chief Executive None 

9 Section 2, Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989 - proper Officer 
for holding lists of politically 
restricted posts.   

Chief Executive Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy  

10. Section 5, Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989 – the Officer 
designated as the Monitoring 
Officer 

Director of Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial Strategy  

Can only be appointed by 
the Monitoring Officer 
within directorate 

11. Local Authorities (Members’ 
Interest) Regulation 1992 – 
maintaining a list of Members’ 
interests and keeping it open for 
public inspection 

Director of Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial Strategy  

Electoral & Democratic 
Services Manager 

12. Sections 28 and 29, Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act  
2000 and the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers (Directed  
Surveillance and Covert Human 
Intelligence Sources) Order 2010 – 
the Officer who is designated for 
the purposes of granting, reviewing, 
renewing and cancelling 
authorisations and who shall 
maintain and keep under review a 
register of authorisations. 

Director of Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial Strategy 

Chief Executive 

13. Regulation of Investigatory Powers 
Act 2000, OSC code of practice – 

Director of Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial Strategy 

Electoral & Democratic 
Services Manager 
 

Page 109



 
 

 

person who shall be the Senior 
Responsible Officer. 

14. Section 38, Local Government 
Finance Act 1992 - the Officer who 
shall give notice of the amounts of 
council tax set 

Director of Financial 
Resources 

Deputy S151 Officer 

15. The Local Authority (Stocks and 
Bonds) Regulations 1974 – the 
Officer who shall act as registrar for 
maintenance of the stocks and 
bonds register and signing of 
certificates.    

Director of Financial 
Resources 

Deputy S151 Officer 

16. Section 321 Highways Act 1980 - the 
Officer who may give, make or issue 
any notice, consent, approval, order, 
demand, licence, certificate or other 
document which a council is 
authorised or required by or under 
the Highways Act 1980 to give, make 
or issue 
 

Solicitor Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy  

17. Section 2 Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 - 
the Officer with whom shall be 
deposited lists of protected buildings. 

Planning & Place 
Manager 

Senior Planning Officer 

18. Section 5 Food Safety Act 1990 – the 
Officer who is authorised to act in 
matters under the Act. 

Public Protection 
Manager 

Chief Executive 

19. Section 19 Health and Safety Act 
1974 – the Officer who shall institute 
proceedings. 

Public Protection 
Manager 

Solicitor 

20. The Proper Officer in relation to any 
reference in any enactment passed 
before 1st April 1974 (other than the 
Local Government Act 1972) relating 
to the Clerk of a Council or the Town 
Clerk of a Borough 

Chief Executive Any other Director 

21. The Proper Officer for the purposes 
of Part 4 (Access to Information 
Rules) of the Council’s Constitution.  
 

Director of Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial Strategy 

Electoral & Democratic 
Services Manager 

22. The Officer appointed for the 
purposes of the Local Authorities 
Cemeteries Order 1977 to carry out 
the functions of such Officer under 
the Order. 

Parks & Open Spaces 
Manager 

Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy  
 

Page 110



 
 

 

23. The Officer appointed as 
the Registrar for the 
purposes of the 
Cremation (England and 
Wales) Regulations 2008  

Parks & Open Spaces 
Manager 

Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy  
 

24. The proper Officer for the purposes 
of the Building Act 1984 and 
regulations made thereunder 

Building Control 
Manager 

Chief Executive 

25. The person who may appoint 
authorised Officers for the purposes 
of the Building Act 1984 and 
regulations made thereunder 

Building Control 
Manager 

Chief Executive  

26. The proper Officer for the purposes 
of the Council Tax (Administration 
and Enforcement) Regulations 1992 

Director of Financial 
Resources 

Deputy S151 

27. Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 
2000 – regulations 2, 3, 4,  
5, 6, 9, 11, 12, 15, 17 and 21.   

Director of Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial Strategy  

Electoral & Democratic 
Services Manager 

28. Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm 
(England) Regulations 2015 

Strategic Housing 
Manager 

Public Protection Manager 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank



  Appendix B 

 

Council procedure rules / Executive procedure rules – Budget setting protocol 
 
The following procedures shall apply to setting the Council’s budget. The basis of these rules 
are schedule 2, part 1 of the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001. 
 
All members are under a fiduciary duty to ensure that the Council sets a budget before the 
11th March.  Full member cooperation is required and collaboration expected to ensure that 
a budget for Council is set in a timely and professional manner.  
 
Stage  Action         
 
1 The Mayor with his Executive, in consultation with the s. 151 officer, prepare 

a draft budget for submission to firstly an Executive meeting, followed by a 
recommendation from that meeting for approval by Full Council.  The 
Mayor/Executive may wish to consult with other members on the draft 
budget prior to submission to Council. 

 
2    All members will receive the Executive proposed draft budget, in paper form, 

at least 5 working days prior to the Council Budget meeting.                          
[n.b. This 5 working day period may be unavoidably shortened in the event of 
the late issue of central government financial settlements for the 
forthcoming municipal year. All Members will be required to work within the 
imposed shortened timescale] 

 
3. Prior to the Council Budget meeting, all Members should consider the budget 

in detail. Group Leaders are expected to discuss the matter in their group 
meeting. During this 5 day period, all Members are able to seek 
understanding and explanation from the s.151 officer for clarity of purpose, 
interpretation and implication. 

 
4. If a member or a group is not satisfied with any aspect of the proposed 

mayoral Executive budget, the s.151 officer will be able to explain the budget 
to the member(s) and discuss the consequences of the member’s concern 
should it become a formal objection to the budget, together with ways in 
which the concern could be addressed. This consultation with the s.151 
officer should take place at least 2 clear working days before the Council 
budget meeting. 

 
5. Following any discussions held with the section 151 officer, it is expected that 

the member/group leader will discuss the matter with the Mayor, in order to 
advise him of the concern and seek ways in which the matter of concern 
could be resolved by agreement. 

 
 6. At the Council Budget meeting, which will be a single agenda item meeting 

for the budget only (To include the Independent Remuneration Panel report 
and Pay Policy Statement), the Mayor shall present the agreed Executive 
budget. He will be allowed upto 30 minutes to present his budget. He will 

Page 113



 
 

 

advise Council of any changes to the proposed Executive budget resulting 
from any discussions under stages 4 and 5 above. 

 
7. Following the Mayor’s budget presentation, he will move the budget 

recommendations (including any amendments per 6 above) which shall then 
be seconded. 

 
8. Once seconded, any member, starting with group leaders (the majority group 

first, then other parties), and then other members may ask questions of the 
Mayor about the budget proposals. The group leaders and members may 
only speak once and for a maximum of five minutes each. 

 
9. If a member or group has raised a concern, discussed it previously with the 

section 151 officer, and it remains unresolved for want of agreement with 
the mayor, a member (after all members who wish to speak on the budget 
have been given the opportunity to do so) may propose an  amendment to 
the budget.  

 
10. An additional 5 minutes shall be provided for the member to propose an 

amendment  through the council Chair, and, in proposing an amendment  the 
member shall: 

 
(i) Clearly articulate the amendment ; 
(ii) Set out in financial terms the additional cost or cost saving, or, 

additional revenue or loss of revenue, of the proposed amendment; 
(iii) Set out any impact to the community/its residents from the proposed 

amendment; and 
(iv) Confirm that s/he has consulted with the s. 151 officer. and what that           

officer’s view is on the matter.  
 
Once the member has outlined the amendment and articulated to include (i) 
to (iv) above, the Chair will ask the s.151 officer to confirm that s/he has been 
consulted on this specific proposed amendment . If s.151 officer has been 
consulted the Chair will allow the matter to proceed.  
 
If the s.151 officer has not been consulted the Chair will call a 15 minute 
adjournment to decide whether the amendment  should proceed. The Chair 
will consult with the s.151 officer, the Chief Executive and the Monitoring 
Officer.   
 
The Chair will be advised on the complexity, merit and financial impact of the 
amendment  and will take into consideration the reason for not consulting 
with the s. 151 officer in a timely manner. 
 
The s.151 officer will advise the Chair whether, in his/her opinion, the 
amendment is financially viable and provide his/her recommendation on 
whether the amendment should be further considered by Council on the 

Page 114



 
 

 

basis it is not compliant.  Similarly, the M.O. and/or solicitor will advise the 
Chair on aspects of legal compliance surrounding the proposed amendment. 
 
The Chair’s decision on whether an amendment, not consulted on with the 
section 151 officer, should proceed will be final. 

 
11. If an amendment  is permitted to proceed to the next stage, the Chair will ask for a 

seconder 
 
12. If an amendment  is seconded, the seconder may either speak immediately after 

seconding, or, reserve right of reply to later on in the debate on the amendment . 
 
13. If an amendment  is seconded, the first person to speak shall be the Mayor followed 

by other members. Members may speak again, once, only on the amendment  to a 
maximum of three minutes each. 

 
14. An amendment  will then be voted on. The vote will be recorded and to be carried it 

will require a simple majority vote. 
 
15. The Chairman will then ask if there are any further amendments  If there are, they 

shall follow the same procedure as set out above in steps 9 to 14. 
 
16. Any amendments  to the budget must be presented at this first Council Budget 

meeting. No further amendments  will be allowed in the event that a 
second/resumed Council Budget meeting is required . 

 
16. If no amendments  are carried at the first meeting then the budget may pass by a 

majority vote. The presumption must be that a budget will be passed if there are no 
amendments.  

 
If there have been no objections raised or amendments brought forward, and a 
budget is not passed, those voting against the budget will be requested to clarify 
why they have so voted.  

 
17. If amendments  are carried then the Council Budget meeting will be adjourned. This 

is to enable the Executive to reconsider the budget proposals in the light of the 
amendments . If the approved Council meeting calendar does not contain a 
provisional date for this second Council Budget meeting and also a date for the 
Budget Resolution Working Group, then the Chair will ask Council  to set the date for 
a second Council Budget meeting being at least 5 working days commencing the next 
working day after the first Council Budget meeting, for Council to resume it’s 
deliberations for setting a financial budget. The Budget Resolution Working Group 
must meet in between the dates of the first and second Council Budget meetings i.e. 
the window of 5 working days..  

 
18. Within those 5 working days, the  Chair of Council shall convene a Budget Resolution 

Working Group (BRWG) of  11 members in total and comprise of: 

Page 115



 
 

 

(i) the Chair of Council,  
(ii) the independent Chair of the Audit Committee,  
(iii) the Mayor,  
(iv) the two Group Leaders and one independent member (nominated by the 

chair if the independent members do not nominate a representative)  
(v) a further two Labour members, two Conservative members and one 

independent member (nominated as before).   
The member(s) who raised an amendment which has been passed by a majority 
vote at the first Council Budget meeting will be invited and expected to attend the 
Group meeting.  
 
The BWRG will be advised by the s.151 officer who will also be present at this 
meeting. 
 
The purpose of the BWRG is to consider and discuss any amendment(s) together 
with it’s impact on the proposed budget  and work collaboratively on behalf of the 
whole Council to agree a mediated solution with the purpose of bringing forward 
recommendation(s) for the Executive to consider at their Special meeting. 

 
19. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may within these same 5 working days, if it 

wishes, also meet to consider the amendment(s), and make recommendation(s) to 
the Executive for further consideration or inclusion to the draft budget to be 
presented at the second Council meeting. The Chair of OSC shall convene this 
meeting with it’s members. 

 
20. The Executive shall, at a convened Special Executive Budget meeting, consider the 

amendment(s), recommendation(s) from the Budget Resolution Working Group (ref. 
18 above), together with any further recommendations from the OSC (ref. 19 above)  

 
 
21. At the resumed/second Council Budget meeting each amendment  shall be dealt 

with separately in the order that they were carried at the first Council Budget 
meeting. The following procedure shall apply: 

 
(a)   The Mayor shall advise Council whether the amendment  can be   

       accommodated and if it cannot, the reasons why.   
       .  

If it can be accommodated, the Mayor will move an amendment to the 
proposed budget which shall be seconded. The amendment  will then be 
deemed to be agreed and form part of the proposed (now amended) Council 
budget. 

 
If the amendment  cannot be accommodated then the member who 
originally moved the amendment will have a right of reply. Council will then 
vote on the amendment again. If it is passed by a 2/3rd majority then it will be 
deemed to be a modification to the Mayor’s budget. If it is not passed by 
such majority then the amendment fails.  

Page 116



 
 

 

 
(b)   Any other amendments, which were raised and carried at the first Council  

      Budget meeting, will then be dealt with in the same manner. 
 
(c)   Once (all) amendments have been dealt with then the proposed budget (as   

       modified by any successful amendments) will be put to a recorded vote.  A  
       simple majority vote is required in order for the budget to pass.   
 

       However, if a simple majority is not achieved, a 2/3rd majority vote will be  
       required for it to be rejected; if it is not rejected by the required majority,  
       then the default position will be that the budget has passed. 

 
22. Immediately after any vote is taken at a budget decision meeting of an authority 

there must be recorded in the minutes of the proceedings of that meeting the 
names of the persons who cast a vote for the decision or against the decision or who 
abstained from voting. 

 
23. The Mayor and all Members have a fiduciary duty to work together to set a Council 

financially balanced budget.  The Council as a corporate body, and the members, 
both individually and collectively, have a fiduciary duty to council taxpayers and 
residents/businesses to avoid a situation that would result in loss of revenue or 
failure to deliver statutory services and they have a democratic obligation to set the 
Council's budget on behalf of the electorate. (R v Hackney LBC v Fleming [1986] RVR 
182) 

  
A delay or a failure to set a budget is likely to have significant financial, 
administrative and/or legal implications. The Council during the budget setting 
process, will be mindful that it has a legal duty to provide a range of statutory 
services and these duties are not absolved if the budget is set late or cannot be 
agreed at Council.  A delay or failure to set a budget is likely to not only have an 
adverse impact on the Council’s local and national reputation, but present a 
challenge around potentially unlawful and unfunded financial commitments.  

 
  
24. If a budget is not set by members, then the Secretary of State must be informed by 

the s.151 officer.  In such an unprecedented situation the Secretary of State is likely 
to intervene and direct the Council to take any action that s/he considers necessary, 
or expedient, to secure compliance with the requirements of setting a Council 
balanced budget by a specified date.   

 
 
 

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix

PART 2, ARTICLE 8 - REGULATORY & OTHER COMMITTEES (agreed by Council 
of the 19th November 2019, not yet implemented)

8.1 Appointment of Regulatory Committees

8.1.1 The Council appoints regulatory committees to determine 
those functions of the Council which are not, by law, within 
the remit of-the Executive functions, and which relate to 
including the determination of applications or the direct 
regulation of a person where sufficient discretion exists.

8.2 Proceedings

8.2.1 Proceedings of the regulatory and other committees shall 
take place in accordance with the Council's Procedure Rules 
set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

8.3 Licensing Committee and Licensing Sub-Committees

8.3.1 The tTerms of Rreference for this cCommittee and its sub
committees are set out in Part 3 of this Constitution.

8.3.2 The Licensing Committee and Licensing Sub-Committee 
Procedure Rules are set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

8.4 Planning Panel

8.4.1 The Terms of Reference for this Panel Committee are set 
out in Part 3 of this Constitution.

8.4.2 The Planning Panel Procedure Rules are set out in Part 4 of 
this Constitution.

Page 119



PART 3, ARTICLE 9 (Agreed by Council on the 19th November 2019, not yet 
implemented)

Name: Planning Panel

Number of Members: 11 Politically Balanced

Quorum: 3

Frequency of Meetings: Every 4 weeks

Lead Officer: Planning and Place Manager

Terms of Reference:

1. Determination of applications for planning permission and consultation 
on planning applications or Crown proposals which shall include 
applications for the development or change of use of premises and 
matters relating to historic buildings. Enforcement of all-legislation 
relating to planning control o-ther-than those delegated for 
determination to the-Chief Executive and/or Planning and Place 
Manager. Thisicsn shall include applications made by the Council itself 
which were previously reserved to Council.

2. Receiving and making representations from and to adjacent local 
authorities.

3. Authorising the making of Directions pursuant to Article 4 of The Town 
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 
4^2015. aah

4. ^agreements under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990.

45. Receiving the results of appeals under planning legislation and costs 
incurred.

Page 120



86. Implementing policy relating to development management, and 
recommending and implementing policies relating to the conservation of 
the built environment.

67. Making orders for the revocation or modification of planning permission 
or for the discontinuance of use of land subject to the concurrence of 
the Policy Forum in any case where compensation shall thereby become 
payable.

78. Determining applications under the Land Compensation Act 1961 
relating to end- granting certificates of appropriate alternative 
development •;nd lawfulness^).

9. Determining applications under the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 for a certificate of lawfulness of existing use or development.

810. Authorising Hazardous Substance consents and serving contravention 
Notices.

9-.------ The naming )CB3|t

101. Determination of all issues relating to the creation, diversion, stopping 
up or interference (other than of a temporary nature) of highways, 
particularly consultation matters from the highway authority.

112. The making of tree preservation orders.

123. The designation of conservation areas.

14. Enforcement of matters referred to in the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990, the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990, the Planning (Hazardous Substances) Act 1990 provided the same 
are not, by law, an executive function|cB4].

[NOTE: County matters, the Lake District National Park Authority and nationally 
significant infrastructure projects are not dealt with by the Council.)

CHAPTER 10 (Existing/current constitution in force)

Page 121



REGULATORY - PLANMNGicbsi

The Regulatory Committees deal with Planning and Licensing matters not 
delegated to the Council's Solicitor,-this chapter, and chapter 9, set out the 
rules around these committees. Other parts of the constitution such as 
Chapter 3 on the citizen's rights to speak, contain additional information.

Panels are Committees for the purposes of the Local Government Act 1972 and 
have delegated powers of resolution as detailed below. Panels implement 
council policy and may-make recommendations for changes to polley-ln-their 
areas of interest to the Executive (if the matter-i-s within its delegations), or to 
Council in consultation with the Executive. An exception to this rule is the 
Licensing Panel, which by the nature of its work, has power to make, vary or 
revoke policy and conditions relating to the types of licences within its remit.

The Council will appoint a Planning Panel of eleven Members.

TERMS OF REFERENCE OF THE PLANNING PANE^cbbi

NOTEiCounty matters, the Lake District National Park Authority and 
nationally significant4nfrastfuc4we-projects are not- dealt with by the Council

It---------Determination of applicat-ions-for planning permission and consultation
on planning applications or-Crown proposals which shall include 
applications for the development or change of- use of-premises and 
matters-relating to historic-buildings Enforcement of all legislation 
relating to planning control other than those delegated for 
determination to the Chief Executive and/or Planning Development 
Manager. This shall include applications made by the Council itself which 
were previously reserved to Council.

2r-------Receiving and making representations from and to adjacent local
---------authorities

------ Authorising the making of Directions pursuant to Article 4 of The Town 
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 and 
agreements under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
4990r

Page 122



4.-------Receiving the results of appeals under planning legislation and costs
incurred.

S-.-------Implementing policy relating to development control, and
recommending and implementing policies relating to-the conservation of 
the built environment.

---- Making orders for the revocation or modification of planning permission 
---------or for-the discontinuance of use of land subject to the concurrence of 

the-Policy Forum-ln-any case where compensation shall thereby become 
payable.

Tv-------Determining applications under the Land Compensation Act 1961 and
granting certificates of alternative development and lawfulness.

&------ Authorising Hazardous Substance consents and serving contravention
Notices.

9-.------ The naming-of stfeets and numberingo-f-houses.

ITT-----Determination of all issues relating to the creation, diversion, stopping
up or interference (othoF-than of a temporary nature) of highways, 
particularly consultation matters from the highway authority.

Lt—The making of tree preservation orders.

4Qr.—The designation of conservation areas.

SCHEME OF DELEGATION FOR THE DETERMINATION OF PLANNING AND 
OTHER APPLICATIONS.

PROVIDED THAT the Planning and Place Manager (or in his absence, the Chief 
Executive) shall have delegated authority to make the following decisions 
and/or take the following actionstcB7|:

The power to make decisions is delegated to the Planning Development 
Manager or, in their absence, the Chief Executive.

Page 123



1, He/sHe has the power to receive, process and determine all planning 
applications and applications for tlisted Sbuilding Cconsentj 
(^conservation Aarea Gconsentj Aadvertisement Cconsentj Gcertificates 
of tlawfulness,; to deal with all requests for prior approval and/or grant 
of consents or whether Prior Approval is required In-r-elation Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 
2015; to process and take|[cB8i any necessary action in respect of a 11 
notifications under the GPDO 1995 (as amended), for 
telecommunication, agricultural and forestry developments and 
demolitions; and also to comment on proposals to be decided by 
Cumbria County Council or the Lake District National Park Authority.

Delegated authority is also-granted to the Planning and Place Manager to:- 

42. To ^determine minor variations to existing permissions.

23. To ^determine submissions applications for the discharge of planning 
conditions.

34. To deal with enquiries and dDetermine applications for clarification on 
whether planning permission is required under section 64 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 (whether planning permission is 
required), including the Council's own 'House-builder Development 
Enquiry Service ForfnslicB9i-.

45. To take all appropriate enforcement action permitted under the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990, the Planning (Listed Building and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990, the Planning (Hazardous Substances) Act 
1990 including Authorise the service of Pp lanningGcontravention 
Nnotices, Bbreach of Gcondition Nnotices£-and Rplanning ^enforcement 
Nnotices, Sstop Nnotices, Ttemporary Sstop Nnotices and Nnotices 
under section 215 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended land adversely affecting the amenity of the area) in 
consultation with the Council's Solic4tor (or nominee).

66. Determine applications to fell, lop, top or carry out other works to trees 
the subject of Tree Preservation Orders and/or located within 
Conservation Areas.

Page 124



67. Determine the publicity arrangements required under the Town and 
Country Planning legislation.

78. To do so himself and to Aauthorise relevant officers to enter land and 
property for planning purposes by virtue of Sections 196A, 198-200, 
214B, 220, 221, 225 and 324 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
(as amended^-aM Section 88 of the Town and Country Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, section 36 of the Planning 
(Hazardous Substances) Act 1990 and under and in accordance with any 
other planning legislation providing powers of enforcement to a local 
planning authority.v

BUT HIS POWER SHALL NOT EXTEND TO MAKING A DECISION OR TAKING 
ANY ACTION WHERE ANY OF WffH-THE FOLLOWI NG CIRCUMSTANCES 
EXCEPTIONS APPLY:-

(a) Any application which a In respect of planning applications where a 
Member of the Council has requested that the application be referred to 
the Planning Panel for determination. Such a request shall be submitted 
in writing / by email to the Planning Development and Place Manager 
within 21 days from circulation of the weekly list of planning applications 
on which such application appears and shall (for inclusion in the report 
to the Panel) set out the reasons for requesting referral of the 
application to the Planning Panel.

(b) Applications recommended for approval / refusal which are contrary to 
the provisions of the ^statutory Development Rplan or other adopted 
or approved Council planning policies or supplementary planning 
guidance including the National Planning Policy Framework.

(c) Applications submitted by or on behalf of the Council.?

(d) Applications in which the Council has a property or other financial 
interest.?

(e) ^Applications by or on behalf of any member of the Development Team 
or by any director or manager within the Council other Senior Council 
Officers, or by the elected mayor or any Member of the Council, all 
either as applicant or agent_ and applteatiens by or on behalf of any 
elected Member, eithera-s-applicant or agent.

Page 125



(di) Applications where there are substantive objections from one or more 
statutory consultees as defined by the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 raising 
material planning considerations contrary to officer recommendation.

(eg) Applications where there are substantive objections from a Parish/Town 
Council raising material planning considerations contrary to officer 
recommendation.

(fh) Applications which the Planning and Place Manager considers to be of 
sufficient importance in planning terms to refer the matter to the 
Planning Panel for determination even though the application may meet 
the criteria for officer delegation in other respects.

(gi) Applications which involve the proposed entering into, variation or 
discharge of a Section 106 agreement or other form of planning 
obligation other than variations required to align the 
agreement/obligation with a modified existing planning permission.

Provisos and Clarification

The Planning and-Place Manager shall only exercise his/her delegated powers 
after taking intoaccount all material planning considerations, including any 
written planning representations which-m-ay have been received.

The Planning and Place Manager shall only exercise his/her delegated powers 
in accordance with planning legislation, regulations and procedures and 
following the expiry of- r-eievandconsult-ation ■periodsjcBioiv

The Planning and Place Manager shall report details of all applications 
determined under his/her delegated powers to the Planning Panel on a 
monthly basis.

PART 4 RULES OF PROCEDURE, PART 5 PLANNING PROCEDURE RULES

b)cbih DECISIONS CONTRARY TO OFFICER RECOMMENDATIONS

Page 126



1. Members shall recognise that ^Legislation requires that where the 
Development Plan is relevant, decisions should be taken in accordance 
with it, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

2. Where the Planning Panel is minded to refuse or approve a planning 
application contrary to the Planning and Place ManagerQffieer's 
recommendation, a final decision on the application shall be deferred 
until the next meeting. Whilst that Manager will endeavour to return the 
application to the next meeting it is recognised that this might not 
always be possible where the initial reasons put forward for refusal by 
Members require detailed work to be undertaken to address the issues 
being raised or the applicant wishes to reconsider the application as 
submitted in an attempt to address Members' concerns. If an application 
does not return to the next or following scheduled meetings then, on 
the third meeting (assuming the matter is not ready to return for 
decision) the Planning and Place Manager shall submit to the Panel at 
that third meeting a 'holding report' advising the Panel of the reasons 
for the delay, any proposed timetable and seeking the Panel's views on 
the matter. The Manager shall take the Panel's views into consideration 
in liaising with the applicant/agentpi2|.

3. This deferral of decision will allow time for further advice to be 
prepared, including the advice of expert consultants, which might 
include drafting suitable conditions or confirmation that clear and 
convincing reasons for refusal of the application can be made, based on 
material planning considerations. This will help guard against costs 
awards in favour of the applicant at appeal. Legal representation to 
advise Members might also be provided when the application is 
reconsidered.

4. In-eases where^he Panel wishes to approve an application contrary to 
Development Plan policy based on personal circumstances, the 
application shall be deferred to the next meeting so as to allow the 
Monitoring Officer to report thereonicBisir

At the meeting following a 'minded to' decision, the Planning and Place 
Manager (or representative) will present an Aaddendum report covering 
any further information/update and advising Members on the material 
planning considerations relevant to the case. No further representations 
from objectors, supporters, Parish/Town Councils, Ward Members or

Page 127



County Councillors will be allowed at the meeting. Those persons who 
spoke on the application at the earlier meeting will be permitted to 
speak again but this shall be restricted to speaking on those reasons 
specified by members or matters referred to in the addendum report 
and shall be restricted to 3 minutes per speaker. The applicant and/or 
his agent shall be permitted a reasonable length of time to speak taking 
into account the number of points raised which need addressing, the 
number of objectors speaking, the complexity of the application or of 
the points raised and the amount of new documentation arising. The 
length of time an applicant and/or agent can speak for shall be decided 
by the Chair of the Panel prior to the person speaking.

65. Members who were not present at the original meeting when the 
'minded to' decision was made will not be permitted to take part in the 
discussion and voting in the following meeting where the application is 
determined unless that Member has listened to a recording and/or read 
a full transcript of the original meeting and has signed a declaration to 
the effect that they have done so and are in possession of the full 
evidence relevant to the case to the same extent that the members who 
have heard the matter previously are.

76. In recording the resolutions on such application where members refuse 
planning permission against the Officer recommendation the minutes 
must set out a full, clear and convincing detailedjcBui statement of the 
reasons for the departure from policy from each member voting to 
refuse. This will provide the basis of the Council's defence to any appeal 
which may lodged against refusal.

A. PROCEDURE FOR SPEAKING AT PLANNING PANEL MEETINGS

1. Anyone wishing to speak at the meeting must have made 
representations on the planning application. Objectors and supporters 
to applications, including County, Borough (non-Planning Panel 
members), Town and Parish Councillors, Councillors and Ward 
Councillors must have made representations on the planning application 
in writing and registered to speak in advance of the meeting in 
accordance with the approved procedure. However, the opportunity to 
speak-in front of the Panel may also be available under the terms of the 
Planning Delegation Scheme.

Page 128



2. Objectors and supporters, including County, Borough (non-Planning 
Panel members), Town and Parish Councillors, Councillors and Ward 
Co uec-i Iters-; wishing to speak should submit their request in writing or 
via email to the Planning and Place Manager as quickly as possible and 
not later than six clear working days before the scheduled meeting of 
the Planning Panel. A person who does not comply with this notice 
requirement may only speak The receipt of any request received outside 
this timescale will only bepermltted at the Chair's discretion save that in 
respect of am applicant and/or his agent a right of reply will be 
permitted.

The letter should set out concisely the points to be raised verbally at the 
meeting. Requests to-speak- received less thansix clear working days 
prior to the meeting will-not be allowedicBish

They will also be asked to submit 6 clear working days prior to the 
meeting, any material such as photographs, for consideration by the 
Panel. Such material must relate to the proposed reasons for refusal. 
Where material has been copied, edited or is to be displayed the 
speaker may be required to show s/he has the necessary copyright 
ownership or consent to use such material. No additional material 
submitted less than 6 clear working days before the meeting will be 
accepted at the meeting unless exceptional der any circumstances exist, 
particularly that the additional evidence being presented is critical or 
significant to the consideration of the matter. Any decision on such late 
admission will be taken by the Planning and Place Manager in 
consultation with the Solicitor and the Chair.

3. If the grounds for objection or support are common to several or all the 
Qobjectors/Ward Councillors or supporters and they are each aware of 
others objecting/supporting then they a spokesperson will be invited to 
present these collective views and appoint a spokesperson to speak on 
their behalf. The objector/supporter who writes in first will normally be 
invited to act as spokesperson.

Speakers will be invited to speak in the order that requests to do so are 
received by the Council. If the request to speak is agreed, speaking time 
will-be allocated-strictly in o-rder of written requests allowed.

Page 129



4. In all cases where an objector/Ward Councillor wishes to speak against 
an application, the applicant (or the applicant's representative) will be 
offered the opportunity at the same meeting to reply to the points 
made.

5. In order not to cause unnecessary waiting time to objectors, Councillors, 
Ward Councillors, ^supporters and the Aapplicant&y the Planning Panel 
will± when considering applications, deal first with those applications 
where there are speakers registered.

6. The Planning and Place Manager (or representative) will present the 
report on the relevant application.

7. The order of speakers will be:-

Objectors
County, Town and Parish Councillors
Ward Councillors
Supporters 
Applicant (and/or applicant's representative)

8. With the Chair's permission, Members of the Panel or officers will be 
allowed to ask questions of the speakers about the planning issues 
raised.

9. No objector/Ward Councillor/applicant (or applicant's 
representativej/supporter should speak for more than five minutes at an 
initial hearing or three minutes at a minded to resumed hearing other 
than at the discretion of the Chair of the meeting. The applicant and/or 
his agent shall be permitted a reasonable length of time to speak taking 
into account the number of points raised which need addressing, the 
number of objectors speaking, the complexity of the application or of 
the points raised and the amount of new documentation arising. The 
length of time an applicant and/or agent can speak for shall be decided 
by the Chair of the Panel prior to the person speaking.

When more than one objector/Ward Councillor has spoken in objection 
to an application, the applicant (or applicant's representative) will be 
allowed sufficient time to respond adequately to all objections raised,

Page 130



If speakers intend to read from a prepared statement they are advised 
to check how long it takes to read to make sure it is less than five 
minutes.

10. In order to vote on an application, a member of the Planning Panel must 
be present throughout the entire debate on an individual application, 
including where a 'minded to' application is deferred to a following 
meeting, unless a Member can sign a declaration to the effect that they 
are in possession of the full evidence relevant to the application to the 
same extent that the members who have heard the matter previously 
are, are in possession of the full evidence-(See Section on Decisions 
contrary to officer recommendations above).

11. All members of the Planning Panel will have one vote. Matters subject to 
a vote will be decided by a simple majority of the votes cast. The Chair 
will have an extra casting vote in the event of the votes cast being tied.

-----Following consideration of the application the objectors, Councillors, 
Ward Councillors, Supporters and Applicant (or applicant's 
representative) may leave the meetingicBis]?

13. The opportunity to speak for or against an application will only be 
allowed on one occasion except where a minded to decision returns to 
the Panel or in cases where Members chose to defer and application 
prior to any representations being heard then the right to speak will be 
transferred to the next meeting.

14. Members of the public are permitted to film or record meetings of the 
Planning Panel r parts of meetings of Copeland Borough Council that are 
open to the public and press. Anyone wishing to film or record a meeting 
must do so in a way that it is not disruptive or distracts the conduct of 
the meeting and must follow the guidelines set out below:

(a) Filming should take place from a fixed position, as agreed with the Chair, 
that does not interfere with the ability of any attendee, whether 
Ceouncillor, officer or member of the public, to see or hear the 

Page 131



proceedings, and ensures that any wires or cables do not present a 
hazard.

(b) The privacy of members of the public present should be respected and 
people seated in the public gallery/seating area are not to be 
photographed/filmed/recorded without their consent.

(c) Use must not be made of an image if consent is refused.

(d) The audio/visual recording must not to be edited in such a way that 
could lead to a misinterpretation of the proceedings.

(e) The use of flash photography or additional lighting should be avoided 
but if absolutely necessary then it will only be permitted for a limited 
period.

(f) If the Chair feels the photography/audio/visual recording is disrupting 
the meeting in any way or that any of these guidelines has been 
breached the operator of the equipment will be required to stop.

Failure to comply with this Protocol may lead to the refusal of any 
requests to -photograph/audio/visually record any future meetings.

The Council also permits Ssocial media reporting of all its public 
meetings.

All Planning Panel meetings are recorded by the Council.

Special Access Arrangements

Please note that the Council offices are served by a level access. However if 
you require assistance please mention when registering your right to speak so 
that we can make the necessary arrangements.

Data Protection

When you register your right to speak we will ask you for contact details 
including your phone number and/ email address and we will ask for your 
postal address to confirm that you have made_a representation prior to the 
reports being published.

Page 132



Your information will only be for the Panel purposes in relation to the planning 
application to be heard in cases where we need to contact you about any 
changes to the meeting. We will not pass this information onto any third 
parties. This is why, if someone is to speak on your behalf you must contact us 
again and inform us of this change.

Your name will be read out at the meeting when you are called to give your 
right to speak and you maybe named in the Committee minutes. The Panel is 
also audio recorded by the Council and you will be recorded when you speak.
You are also to be aware that the press can report about the Panel and you 
may be named in the press. The Council will keep a recording of the meeting 
for a sufficient amount of time after the meeting.

Please be aware that we are not able to control what speakers at the Panel 
may say and they may identify individuals during their right to speak.

C

COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL— PLANNING PANEL
PROTOCOL FOR SITE VISITS

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Members of the Planning Panel may wish to visit the site of a planning 

application they will be determining so that they have a better 

understanding of the effects an application may have on an area.

1.2 Planning Panel members are sometimes required to inspect a site to 

gain a greater understanding of the impact of the proposed scheme and 

the site's location, physical characteristics and relationship to 

neighbouring properties or land use. This helps them when making a 

formal decision on a planning application. This protocol sets out the 

normal practice for the arrangement and conduct of formal site visits by 

the Planning Panel.

Page 133



2. REQUESTS FOR SITE VISITS

A site inspection will result from any one of the following:

(a) The Planning and Place Manager or, in his absence, the Chief 

Executive, requires one in the interests of proper decision making; 

or

(b) The Planning Panel calls for a site visit,

3. CONDUCT OF SITE VISITS

Purpose

3.1 Site visits are solely for the purpose of viewing the site, to understand its 

location and the immediate environment to enable the development 

proposal to be put into context, and, to enable the Planning Panel to 

discuss the facts of the application.

Timing

3.2 Site visits will normally be held on the morning of a Planning Panel 

meeting at a time arranged by the Planning and Place Manager in 

consultation with the Chair of the Panel. For large scale developments 

the Planning and Places Manager will liaise with all Panel members to 

find a mutually convenient date and time to ensure that all members are 

able to attend the site visit.

Lead

Page 134



3.3 Site visits will be led by the Planning and Place Manager and/or the 

relevant case officer and the Chair. A summary of the protocol will be 

read out at the beginning of the site visit.

Right of other elected representatives to attend a site visit

3.4 On occasions, officers of other authorities or statutory bodies may be 

invited (by the Planning and Place Manager to attend a site visit to clarify 

factual matters (for example Cumbria County Council as the local 

highway authority or Environment Agency).

3.5 Other elected representatives representing the area in which the 

application relates and being the county councillor(s) and representative 

of the relevant parish council together with the relevant borough ward 

councillor(s) will also be invited to attend.

3.6 Where other elected representatives have been invited to attend, the 

applicant and/or any agent will also be invited to attend the site visit.

3.7 A copy of this protocol will be issued to all those invited to attend the 

site visit.

Procedure at a site visit

3.8 No decisions will be made at the site visit by the Panel and the Chair will 

make this clear at the beginning of the visit.

3.9 Officers will give a brief presentation on the site, the setting of the 

proposed development and the specific reasons why the Panel / officers 

requested a site inspection. They will also advise whether the applicant 

or objectors have requested that the Panel views the site from other 

locations and how that is to be dealt with.

Page 135



3.10 Following the officer presentation the borough ward councillor(s) will be 

asked whether s/he or they has/have any points which they wish to be 

clarified. Ward councillors will refrain from debating or commenting on 

the planning merits or otherwise of the proposal. Ward councillors will, 

on making a request in accordance with the adopted public speaking 

procedure, be permitted to make representations at the relevant 

meeting on the Planning Panel.

3.11 Members of the Panel may ask officers questions about the application. 

If an officer is unable to answer the question the applicant may assist, 

through the Chair, by providing factual details about the proposal or if 

the question relates to the nature of, or history, of the site by the ward 

councillor(s).

3.12 The county councillor and parish council representatives and the 

applicant/agent (other than as permitted by paragraph 3.11) will not, as 

a rule, be permitted to speak at the site visit. Where comment is made 

by one (a representative or the applicant/agent outside the scope 

permitted by paragraph 3.11) the other will be given an opportunity to 

respond if necessary. The site visit is aimed at assisting those councillor 

as representatives of the area, with understanding the application. Their 

right to speak, along with that of the applicant, about the application, is 

reserved to the Planning Panel meeting as an objector or supporter of 

the application in accordance with the adopted public speaking 

procedure and upon request to so speak.

3.13 If members require further information or clarification of any aspect of 

the development the officers attending the site visit will be asked to 

ensure that such information is available by the time the application is 

considered by members at the relevant Planning Panel meeting.

Page 136



3.14 The Chair will seek confirmation that members are satisfied they have 

seen everything they need to make a decision and will draw the site 

inspection to a close. No indication of the views of members or the likely 

outcome of the Planning Panel's deliberations on the application will be 

given. To do so might imply that a member's mind is already made up.

3.15 Members of the Panel should politely avoid engaging in private 

conversations with applicants, agents or the other elected 

representatives as this can give the wrong impression to others present 

or anyone observing the site visit.

3.16 At no point during the site visit will debate or comment on the planning 

merits or otherwise of the proposal be permitted, as the proper time for 

such debate / comment is at the relevant meeting of the Planning Panel.

3.17 The Council is under no obligation to hold a site visit and the right of any 

person to speak is at the Chair's discretion. There is no right to enter 

onto private land without the permission of the landowner. Where 

appropriate, officers will obtain permission from the landowner for 

those invited to attend the site visit to enter the land. If permission is 

not given to members and officers and other representatives to enter, 

the site will be viewed from the public highway. Parish and county 

councillors attending a site visit are expected to have their own 

insurance in place covering their attendance at such site visits as this 

Council's insurance policy will not extend to them.

3.18 If a site visit becomes disorganised the Chair may withdraw Panel 

members at any time.

Recording of site visit

Page 137



3.19 For the purposes of factual record, attendance at a site visit will be 

recorded by the lead officer including the locations visited.

3.20 As the purpose of the visit is not to debate but simply to establish facts 

about the site and its surroundings, no formal notes of a site visit will 

usually be recorded other than the attendance and locations visited as 

noted above.

4. ABSENT MEMBERS

4.1 All members of the Planning Panel should use best endeavours to attend 

a site visit.

4.2 It is inevitable that absences will occur. Attention is drawn to the 

members' protocol on planning and licensing matters (part A: 

Attendance) which deals with how such absence should be dealt with. 

The requirements on failure to attend more than three consecutive 

meetings together with the requirement to 'catch up' apply to site visits 

in the same manner as they apply to meetings.

4.3 In respect of 'catching up' a member who cannot attend a site visit 

should seek advice from the Planning and Place Manager well in advance 

of the meeting to determine how best that may be achieved. This will 

depend on the nature of the development, the particular geography of 

the area and whether expert advice (e.g. highways / Environment 

Agency) is to be received at the site visit. If a member is unable to 'catch

up' s/he must be guided by the said Manager and in the right 

circumstances be prepared not to participate in the actual hearing of the 

application.

Page 138



PROTOCOL FOR LICENSING COMMITTEE AND PLANNING PANEL 
MEMBERS

The Licensing Committee and Planning Panel are regulatory committees 
dealing with quasi-judicial matters with rights of appeal in both cases to the 
courts and in respect of the Planning Panel, the Secretary of State also.

It is important that the integrity of the Licensing Committee and Planning 
Panel ("the Committees") are upheld at all times and that members are 
professional and competent when determining applications before the 
Committees. This protocol seeks to assist and support members of the 
Committees in undertaking their role as a member of such.

Members are reminded that this protocol is in addition to the Council's Code 
of Conduct as set out in the Council's Constitution which applies to all 
members.

A. ATTENDANCE

When considering applications it is important that members making a decision 
have heard all the evidence. It is inappropriate for members to only participate 
in part of a hearing - it is either all or nothing. If a member is absent from part 
they need to 'catch up'. The following rules should assist members:

1. If a member is on a Committee they should make every effort to attend. 
This is particularly so in respect of Licensing Sub-Committee where, by 
statute, comprise of three members and cannot sit unless all three are 
present. A low attendance at other committees can give the wrong 
impression. If a member cannot attend they must give their apologies as 
soon as possible and at least one day before the meeting. This will allow 
a meeting to be reconvened if it is unlikely to be quorate.

2. Failure to attend a site visit will remove Members' rights to take part in 
the debate on that particular application at the relevant Committee 
unless they can 'catch up'. Whether they can do so depends upon the 
circumstances of the site visit. It will not usually be possible to catch up 
if it was, for example, a site visit by a Licensing Sub-Committee late at 
night to licensed premises and nearby resident properties accompanied 
by the police and/or fire service considering issues privy to that time of 
night e.g. noise or anti-social behaviour allegedly constituting public 

Page 139



nuisance. Those circumstances cannot be replicated at other hours. 
Likewise a site visit of the Planning Panel at which highway or other 
experts are providing advice might not be capable of being replicated. 
However a site visit simply looking at the topography of the area might 
be capable of being replicated by an additional site visit with officers. 
Each case depends on its own circumstances but members, if they are 
unable to attend a site visit, must be prepared, if so advised, not to 
participate in the full hearing before the Committee.

3. Members should ensure that they sign the respective site visit register of 
attendance and committee meeting register of attendance. Members 
are reminded that attendance figures are a matter of public record.

4. Members willing to be appointed to the Committees must appreciate 
that the task can be demanding and that there can be, particularly in 
respect of the Planning Panel, a large number of meetings to attend. 
Members who feel that they may have difficulty in attending meetings 
regularly should, if they are a member of a political group, discuss the 
matter with their Group Leader. If independent they can raise the issue 
with the Democratic Services Manager. After consideration of the 
matter this might lead to the Group Leader perhaps proposing to Council 
that the member is replaced by another member from the same group 
either temporarily or on a permanent basis or if an independent 
member s/he proposing that another independent member replaces 
him or her. If there is continued absence (more than three site visits or 
meetings in a row) without any discussion by the absent member with 
the relevant Leader or with the Democratic Services Manager then the 
Democratic Services Manager will raise the issue with the member and if 
applicable, his/her Group Leader to try and resolve the matter. If 
there is no acceptable reason for, or resolution to, the continuing 
absence then the Monitoring Officer may refer the matter to the 
Standards and Ethics Committee for consideration who may, after 
hearing from the member, make a recommendation to Council about 
replacement.

B. TRAINING

Page 140



Training is a vital part of being a member of this Council and its committees 
and all members are expected to be proficient in carrying out his/her duties. In 
respect of the Committees it is essential that members are adequately 
informed to make decisions.

1. Members must attend any organised mandatory training before they are 
allowed to take part in any meeting. This will be organised within three 
months of a member taking office on the Committee. . If a member 
cannot attend the organised training then officers will endeavour to 
arrange alternative training but this cannot be guaranteed.

2. Members must also attend any other relevant training that is organised 
specifically for Committee members. This is likely to consist of a 
minimum of 3 hours' training per calendar year and be by way of 
refresher and updating courses.

3. In respect of the Planning Panel members must attend the annual 
Planning Panel Quality Review which forms part of their mandatory 
training.

C. EXPECTATIONS

1. Members must be familiar with relevant changes to legislation, 
government guidance and Council policies relating to the relevant 
Committee's functions. It is a members' personal responsibility to 
ensure that they are familiar with such documents. In respect of 
planning this will include the Council's adopted Local Plan policies and 
also Government guidance as set out in the National Planning Policy 
Framework. In respect of licensing it will include the Government 
guidance issued for Licensing Act and Gambling Act functions and the 
Council's adopted statements of licensing policies for such functions.

2. Members will be provided with a copy of these documents as part of 
their mandatory training. It is essential that members are familiar with 
the context of those documents as Officers' reports included on the 
agenda for each meeting will only list the policies relevant to any 
particular case but will not provide full details of their content.

3. Members must read the reports included on the agenda before 
attending a Committee meeting. The relevant application files are 

Page 141



available to view on request. Members should refer any questions or 
queries they may have with regards to any report included on the 
agenda to officers before the meeting so far as is practical. There is 
significant media interest in these Committee and members should note 
that any comments or questions they raise at the Committees can 
legitimately be reported by the media.

4. The onus is on members to ensure that they have all the information 
that they require in order to make an informed decision on any 
particular application before the Committees.

D. DECISION MAKING

Planning Panel

Members must recognise that legislation requires that where the Development 
Plan is relevant, decisions should be taken in accordance with it unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

1. Applications will be reported to the Planning Panel in accordance with 
the Scheme of Delegation as set out in the Council's Constitution.

2. If any member specifically wants an application to be reported to the 
Planning Panel for consideration then they should set out their reason 
for the request either via an email or in writing to the Planning 
Development Manager within 21 days of the application appearing on 
the Weekly List of Planning Applications received in accordance with the 
Call In Procedure as set out in the Council's Constitution.

3. When the Panel is minded to refuse or approve a planning application 
contrary to Planning Officer recommendation, a final decision shall be 
deferred until the following meeting to allow officers the opportunity to 
fully consider the reasons put forward. If members miss the initial 
Planning Panel meeting then they must listen to a recording of that 
meeting and sign a declaration that they have listened fully to the 
recording to enable them to vote at the following meeting as the debate 
will not be repeated. If members have not signed the declaration then 
they cannot take part in any debate or vote on that particular 
application. This is to avoid the risk of an absent member making a 

Page 142



decision when not in possession of all of the evidence whether it be 
through a site visit or hearing before the Planning Panel.

4. If Members wish to make a decision contrary to the Planning Officer's 
recommendation then they must be able to provide full, clear, and 
eonvincing detailed reasons and should be prepared to explain in full 
their ■reasenskBi7i for not agreeing with the Officer recommendation at 
the Planning Panel meeting. Members will be supported through this 
role by, insofar as is appropriate, independent consultants or other 
advisers.

5. Members must be prepared if necessary to represent the Council at any 
appeal on decisions taken against an Officer recommendation. This is 
likely to be at an inquiry held by the Secretary of State/Planning 
Inspectorate. Members will again be supported through this role.

6. Members may receive material relating to a pending planning 
application direct from objectors and/or supporters to an application. In 
this event the Member must ensure that the material is forwarded to 
the Planning and Place Manager without delay. The Manager will then 
consider the material and deal with it as appropriate as part of the 
consideration of the application. Direct approaches to Members in this 
way can amount to lobbying and care must be taken that this does not 
lead to the impartiality and integrity of a Member being called into 
question. Care should be taken not to express an opinion based on the 
material alone which may be taken as indicating that they have already 
made up their mind on the issue before they have considered all the 
application materials and arguments for and against the development 
proposal. Where there is a direct personal approach Members are 
recommended to make it clear that they will only be in a position to take 
a final decision after they have heard all the relevant arguments, and 
have taken into account all relevant material and planning 
considerations at the Panel meeting (and not before).

When people are invited to speak at a meeting the invitation shall 
include a statement advising them of the position of Members as set out 
above and that there may be situations where a Member cannot vote 
because they know the applicant/a objector and that Members are not 
able to give any indication of decision until a decision is due to be 
made)cBi8].

Page 143



Licensing Committee/Sub-Committees

1. Applications will be reported to the Licensing Committee in accordance 
with the Scheme of Delegation as set out in the Council's Constitution 
and in the relevant statutory hearings regulations for Licensing Act and 
Gambling Act matters.

2. The statutory hearing regulations set out a detailed procedure which will 
be followed in respect of applications under the Licensing and Gambling 
Acts and officers will ensure that these are followed. Taxi applications 
have their own procedure and officers will ensure that procedures are 
followed.

3. Members must be prepared if necessary to represent the Council at any 
appeal on decisions taken by the Committee/Sub-Committee. This is 
likely to be restricted to the chairman of such and likely to be within the 
Magistrates' / Crown Courts. Members will be supported through this 
role.

E. COMMUNICATIONS

Members of the Committees should refrain from making any personal 
comments on any decision before or after the meeting to ensure the 
integrity of the decision making process. This includes in person, in the 
press and on social media. Any comments made by Members' which 
bring the Council into disrepute will be dealt with as a breach under the 
Council's Code of Conduct policy.

F. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

1. Members shall follow the guidance set out in the Council's Constitution 
in deciding whether they have any personal and/or pecuniary interest in 
respect of a particular application that they are involved in deciding. If 
they declare a pecuniary interest they cannot participate in the 
discussion on this item and must leave the meeting until such time as 
they are asked to return. Members should arrive at the meeting with a 

Page 144



clearly defined list of interests they intend to declare. Advice can be 
sought prior to the meeting on whether an issue needs to be declared.

2. Members must remain impartial and be able to make decisions without 
any pre- determination or bias. This is wider than pecuniary interests. It 
can mean that a member should not participate in decision making if 
h/she is a friend of an applicant or of an objector. The test is whether 
participating can give the appearance of bias to a reasonable observer. 
Further advice can be sought from officers prior to a meeting. In respect 
of Licensing Sub-Committee applications, members are asked to discuss 
this matter with the Solicitor prior to the date of the hearing if they 
know the applicant or an objector to an application. As stated above 
Sub-Committees run with only three members by law (no more, no less) 
and the prior identification of an interest or close relationship will allow 
another member from the Licensing Committee to step in.

Page 145



This page is intentionally left blank



  Appendix D 

COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Financial Regulations 

Approved by Council 15 December 2020  

 

 Updated 

Steven Brown 27/10/20 
Jemma Thompson  

Clinton Boyce  
Sarah Pemberton  

  

 

Main changes: 

Audit & Governance C’tee to Audit C’tee and Stds and Ethics c’tee 

Increase virements to Council to reflect inflation 100k to 125k 

Asset recognition and write offs from 6k to 10k 

Recognise CLT in authorisation levels per latest procurement rules 

Approval for accepting external funding and accountable body status  to create 

a new threshold between Executive and Council which is delegated to the 

Chief Executive with the consent of specified others, raising the Council 

threshold to £500,000.  

Removed Partnership Framework – doesn’t exist 

 

  

Page 147



[Type here] 
 

 

Financial Regulations & Financial Procedure Rules 

Contents 

1. Introduction ................................................................................................ 3 

2. Key Responsibilities of Chief Officers .......................................................... 4 

3. Financial Regulation A - Financial Management ......................................... 7 

Financial Management Standards ............................................................... 14 

Managing expenditure ................................................................................. 15 

Accounting Policies ...................................................................................... 18 

Accounting records and returns ................................................................... 19 

The Annual Statement of Accounts ............................................................. 21 

4. Financial Regulation B - Financial Planning ............................................... 22 

Performance plans ....................................................................................... 25 

Budgeting ..................................................................................................... 26 

Maintenance of reserves ............................................................................. 34 

5. Risk Management and Control of Resources ............................................ 35 

Internal Controls .......................................................................................... 38 

Audit Requirements ..................................................................................... 39 

Preventing fraud and corruption ................................................................. 42 

Assets ........................................................................................................... 44 

Treasury Management ................................................................................. 49 

Staffing ......................................................................................................... 52 

6. Financial Regulation D – Financial Systems and Procedures .................... 53 

General ......................................................................................................... 55 

Income and expenditure .............................................................................. 58 

Taxation ....................................................................................................... 67 

7. Financial Regulation E - External Arrangements ....................................... 68 

Partnerships ................................................................................................. 69 

External Funding .......................................................................................... 69 

Work for third parties .................................................................................. 72 

 

  

Page 148



[Type here] 
 

1. Introduction 

1.1. The Council’s governance structure is laid down in its constitution, 

which sets out how it operates, how decisions are made and the 

procedures that need to be followed. 

1.2. Financial regulations form part of the constitution and provide the 

framework for managing the authority’s financial affairs. They apply to 

every member and officer of the authority and anyone acting on its 

behalf. 

1.3. The regulations identify the financial responsibilities of the full 

council, executive and overview and scrutiny members, the head of 

paid service, the monitoring officer, the corporate director of services 

and heads of service. Executive members and chief officers should 

maintain a written record where decision making has been delegated 

to members of their staff, including seconded staff. Where decisions 

have been delegated or devolved to other responsible officers, 

references to the chief officers in the regulations should be read as 

referring to them. 

1.4. With regard to the above generic references, for the purpose of these 

regulations the following specific titles apply to Copeland Borough 

Council: 

i. “executive” – Executive; 

ii. “overview and scrutiny members” – members of the Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee; 

iii.  “head of paid service” – Chief Executive; 

iv. “monitoring officer” – the Monitoring Officer nominated by 

the Council  

v. “chief finance officer” – the Section 151 Officer nominated by 

the Council 

vi. “chief officers” – Chief Executive and Directors 

vii. “corporate property officer” –  the Property & Estates 

Manager  

viii. “head of internal audit” – Audit Manager 

ix. “head of human resources" - Human Resources Manager  

1.5. All members and staff have a general responsibility for taking 

reasonable action to provide for the security of the assets under their 

Page 149



[Type here] 
 

control, and for ensuring that the use of these resources is legal, is 

properly authorised and achieves best value. 

1.6. The chief finance officer is responsible for maintaining a continuous 

review of the financial regulations and submitting any additions or 

changes necessary to the full Council for approval. The chief finance 

officer is also responsible for reporting, where appropriate, breaches 

of the financial regulations to the Council and/or to the executive 

members. 

1.7. The authority’s detailed financial procedures, setting out how the 

regulations will be implemented, are contained in the appendices to 

the financial regulations, and will be updated by the chief finance 

officer as necessary. The chief finance officer also has delegated 

authority to adjust financial limits within financial regulations and 

contract standing orders at the commencement of each municipal 

year in line with the index of retail prices. 

1.8. Chief officers are responsible for ensuring that all staff in their service 

units are aware of the existence and content of the authority’s 

financial regulations and other internal regulatory documents and 

that they comply with them. 

1.9. The chief finance officer is responsible for issuing advice and guidance 

to underpin the financial regulations that members, officers and 

others acting on behalf of the authority are required to follow. Such 

advice and guidance will have the same force as these regulations. 

2. Key Responsibilities of Chief Officers 

2.1. Throughout this document the key responsibilities of individual chief 

officers are identified. The following lists key responsibilities which 

give a broad outline of the nature of the control framework and the 

accountabilities of chief officers within it. 

2.2. It is the responsibility of chief officers to consult with the chief finance 

officer and seek approval on any matter liable to materially affect the 

authority’s finances, before any commitments are incurred. 

2.3. It is the responsibility of chief officers to promote the financial 

management standards set by the chief finance officer in their 

Page 150



[Type here] 
 

departments and to monitor adherence to the standards and 

practices, liaising as necessary with the chief finance officer. 

2.4. It is the responsibility of chief officers to promote sound financial 

practices in relation to the standards, performance and development 

of staff in their departments. 

2.5. It is the responsibility of chief officers to adhere to the accounting 

policies and guidelines approved by the chief finance officer and to 

ensure that the policies and guidelines are followed by the 

organisation. 

2.6. It is the responsibility of chief officers to comply with accounting 

guidance provided by the chief finance officer and to supply the chief 

finance officer with information when required. 

2.7. It is the responsibility of chief officers to maintain budgetary control 

within their departments, in adherence to the principles in paragraph 

3.24, and to ensure that all income and expenditure are properly 

recorded and accounted for. 

2.8. It is the responsibility of chief officers to ensure that spending remains 

within the service’s overall cash limit, and that individual budget 

heads are not overspent, by monitoring the budget and taking 

appropriate corrective action where significant variations from the 

approved budget are forecast. 

2.9. It is the responsibility of chief officers to work within budget limits and 

to utilise resources allocated, in the most efficient, effective and 

economic way. 

2.10. It is the responsibility of chief officers to identify opportunities to 

minimise or eliminate resource requirements or consumption without 

having a detrimental effect on service delivery. 

2.11. It is the responsibility of chief officers to ensure that resources are 

used only for the purposes for which they were intended. 

2.12. It is the responsibility of chief officers to notify the chief finance 

officer immediately of any loss, liability or damage that may lead to a 

claim against the authority, together with any information or 

explanation required by the chief finance officer or the authority’s 

insurers. 

Page 151



[Type here] 
 

2.13. It is the responsibility of chief officers to ensure that there are regular 

reviews of risk within their service units. 

2.14. It is the responsibility of chief officers to manage processes to check 

that established controls are being adhered to and to evaluate their 

effectiveness, in order to be confident in the proper use of resources, 

achievement of objectives and management of risks. 

2.15. It is the responsibility of chief officers to ensure that loans are not 

made to third parties and that interests are not acquired in 

companies, joint ventures or other enterprises without the approval 

of the full council, following consultation with the chief finance 

officer. 

2.16. It is the responsibility of chief officers to consult with the chief finance 

officer before changing any existing system or introducing new 

systems. 

2.17. It is the responsibility of chief officers to ensure appointments are 

made in accordance with the regulations of the authority and 

approved establishments, grades and scale of pay and that adequate 

budget provision is available. 

2.18. It is the responsibility of chief officers to maintain a register of all 

contracts entered into with external bodies in accordance with 

procedures specified by the chief finance officer. 

. 

  

Page 152



[Type here] 
 

3. Financial Regulation A - Financial Management 

Introduction 

3.1. Financial management covers all financial accountabilities in relation 

to the running of the authority, including the policy framework and 

budget. 

The Full Council 

3.2. The full council is responsible for adopting the council’s constitution 

and members’ code of conduct and for approving the policy 

framework, priorities and budget within which the executive operates. 

It is also responsible for approving and monitoring compliance with 

the council’s overall framework of accountability and control. The 

framework is set out in its constitution. The full council is also 

responsible for monitoring compliance with the agreed policy and 

related executive decisions. 

3.3. The full council is responsible for approving procedures for recording 

and reporting decisions taken. This includes those decisions delegated 

by and decisions taken by the council and its committees. Delegations 

and details of decision-making responsibilities are contained within 

the constitution. 

The Executive 

3.4. The executive is responsible for proposing the policy framework, 

priorities and budget to the full council, and for discharging executive 

functions in accordance with the policy framework and budget. 

3.5. Executive decisions can be delegated to a committee of the executive, 

an individual executive member, an officer or a joint committee. 

3.6. The executive is responsible for establishing protocols to ensure that 

individual executive members consult with relevant officers before 

taking a decision within their delegated authority. In doing so, the 

individual member must take account of legal and financial liabilities 

and risk management issues that may arise from the decision. 

Page 153



[Type here] 
 

Committees of the Council 

Overview and scrutiny committees 

3.7. The Council has an overview and scrutiny committee which is 

responsible for scrutinising executive decisions before or after they 

have been implemented and for holding the executive to account. 

3.8. The overview and scrutiny committee is also responsible for making 

recommendations on future policy options and for reviewing the 

general policy and service delivery of the authority. 

Audit Committee 

3.9. The Audit Committee, in its auditing capacity, is a regulatory body and 

reports to the full council. It has right of access to all the information it 

considers necessary and can consult directly with internal and 

external auditors. The committee is responsible for formally approving 

the Council's accounts prior to publication, reviewing the external 

auditor’s reports and the annual audit letter and internal audit’s 

annual report. For the purpose of external audit this committee 

comprises "those charged with governance". 

Standards and Ethics Committee 

3.10. The Standards and Ethics Committee has the following responsibilities 

in relation to the conduct of elected Members: To monitor and review 

the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members and the arrangements for 

determining allegations of breaches, making recommendations to 

Council when necessary. To receive bi-annual statistical reports from 

the Monitoring Officer on allegations received and processed. To 

agree a Scheme for Dispensations under Section 33 of the Localism 

Act 2012, and to determine any applications for dispensations 

Other regulatory committees 

3.11. Planning, conservation and licensing are exercised through the 

Planning Panel and the  Licensing Committee and its sub-committees. 

The Statutory Officers 

Head of paid service 

3.12. The head of paid service is responsible for the corporate and overall 

strategic management of the Council. He or she must report to and 

provide information for the executive, the full council, the overview 

Page 154



[Type here] 
 

and scrutiny committee and other committees. He or she is 

responsible for establishing a framework for management direction, 

style and standards and for monitoring the performance of the 

organisation. The head of paid service is also responsible, together 

with the monitoring officer, for the system of record keeping in 

relation to all the full council’s decisions and the Executive as a whole, 

individually by the Mayor and Executive members or officers through 

delegation. (see below). 

Monitoring officer 

3.13. The monitoring officer is responsible for promoting and maintaining 

high standards of ethical conduct and therefore provides support to 

the Standards and Ethics Committee. The monitoring officer is also 

responsible for reporting any actual or potential breaches of the law 

or maladministration to the full council and/or to the executive, and 

for ensuring that procedures for recording and reporting key decisions 

are operating effectively. 

3.14. The monitoring officer must ensure that executive decisions and the 

reasons for them are made public. He or she must also ensure that 

council members are aware of decisions made by the executive and of 

those made by officers who have delegated executive responsibility. 

3.15. The monitoring officer is responsible for advising all councillors and 

officers about who has authority to take a particular decision. 

3.16. The monitoring officer is responsible for advising the executive or full 

council about whether a decision is likely to be considered contrary or 

not wholly in accordance with the policy framework. 

3.17. The monitoring officer (together with the chief finance officer) is 

responsible for advising the executive or full council about whether a 

decision is likely to be considered contrary or not wholly in 

accordance with the budget. Actions that may be ‘contrary to the 

budget’ include: 

• initiating a new policy 

• committing expenditure in future years to above the budget level 

• incurring interdepartmental transfers above virement limits 

Page 155



[Type here] 
 

• causing the total expenditure financed from council tax, grants 

and corporately held reserves to increase, or to increase by more 

than a specified amount. 

 

3.18. The monitoring officer is responsible for maintaining an up-to-date 

constitution. 

Chief finance officer 

3.19. The chief finance officer (together with the Monitoring Officer) is 

responsible for advising the executive or full council about whether a 

decision is likely to be considered contrary or not wholly in 

accordance with the budget. Actions that may be ‘contrary to the 

budget’ include: 

• initiating a new policy 

• committing expenditure in future years to above the budget level 

• incurring interdepartmental transfers above virement limits 

• causing the total expenditure financed from council tax, grants 

and corporately held reserves to increase, or to increase by more 

than a specified amount. 

 

3.20. The chief finance officer has statutory duties in relation to the 

financial administration and stewardship of the authority. This 

statutory responsibility cannot be overridden. The statutory duties 

arise from: 

• Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, 

• The Local Government Finance Act 1988, 

• The Local Government and Housing Act 1989, 

• The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, 

• Local Government Act 2003. 

 

3.21. The chief finance officer is responsible for: 

• making arrangements for the proper administration of the 

councils financial affairs, responsibility for managing the totality of 

the financial affairs of a local authority in all of its dealings. 

• Setting and monitoring compliance with financial management 

standards. 

Page 156



[Type here] 
 

• Advising on the corporate financial position and on the key 

financial controls necessary to secure sound financial 

management. 

• Providing financial information. 

• Preparing the revenue budget and capital programme. 

• Treasury management. Advising on corporate risk management 

including safeguarding assets, risk avoidance and insurance - this 

will encompass having a systematic risk management strategy. 

Advising on effective systems of internal control and putting these 

in place. These will include financial controls. Providing a formal 

assurance or commentary as to the effectiveness or otherwise of 

the internal control environment. Ensuring that financial 

management arrangements are sound and effective. Ensuring a 

prudential financial framework is in place so that the authority 

keeps its commitments in balance with available resources and 

monitors these. Ensuring that budget calculations are robust and 

reserves adequate (his/her view of adequacy expressed to the 

budget making Council meeting) and that a sound medium term 

financial strategy exists for both revenue and capital spending. 

Securing effective arrangements for prudential borrowing and 

treasury management including compliance with CIPFA Codes on 

Capital Finance and Treasury Management. Ensuring that there is 

an effective Internal Audit function including the right of 

independent access to Officers and Members. Securing effective 

systems of financial administration. Ensuring that statutory and 

other accounts and associated claims and returns in respect of 

grant are prepared - this would include certifying that the annual 

Statement of Accounts presents fairly the financial position and 

transactions of the authority. 

• the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 emphasise the need for 

effective financial management and sound systems of internal 

control. They require that the Council should maintain an 

adequate and effective system of internal audit for their 

accounting records and control systems. It is a function of the 

Chief Finance Officer to direct Internal Audit and ensure that it is 

adequate for the authority's purposes. 

 

Page 157



[Type here] 
 

3.22. Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 requires the 

chief finance officer to report to the full council, executive and 

external auditor if the authority or one of its officers: 

• Has made, or is about to make, a decision which involves incurring 

unlawful expenditure. 

• Has taken, or is about to take, an unlawful action which has 

resulted or would result in a loss or deficiency to the authority. 

• Is about to make an unlawful entry in the authority’s accounts. 

• Section 114 of the 1988 Act also requires the chief finance officer 

to nominate a properly qualified member of staff to deputise 

should he or she be unable to perform the duties under section 

114 personally. 

• The Council to provide the chief finance officer with sufficient 

staff, accommodation and other resources – including legal advice 

where this is necessary to carry out his or her duties under section 

114. 

 

3.23. The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for agreeing procedures for 

carrying forward under - and over - spends on budget headings, 

provided that such carry forwards do not constitute an alteration to 

the policy and budget framework for the financial year in question. 

Chief officers 

3.24. Chief officers are responsible for: 

• Ensuring that executive members and full council where 

appropriate are advised of the financial implications of all 

proposals and that the financial implications have been agreed by 

the chief finance officer. 

• Ensuring that executive members and full council where 

appropriate are advised of the risks of all proposals and that the 

mitigations and controls put in place to manage those risks have 

been agreed by the chief finance officer. 

• Ensuring compliance with the financial regulations and contract 

procedure rules 

• Liaising with the  Solicitor in relation to signing any contracts on 

the Council’s behalf. 

Page 158



[Type here] 
 

• Addressing the issues raised in internal and external audit reports 

in a timely way. 

• Ensuring budget reporting requirements and monitoring 

requirements are understood and acted upon. 

• Ensuring management action is taken to address system control 

weaknesses in the areas of their responsibility. 

• Ensuring management action is taken to address any projected 

overspends against the budgets in the areas of their responsibility. 

• Ensuring all operational risks are managed and reported when 

these become significant, strategic or put a council asset/ financial 

position in jeopardy. 

3.25. It is the responsibility of chief officers to consult with the chief finance 

officer and seek approval on any matter liable to materially affect the 

authority’s finances, before any commitments are incurred. 

Other Financial accountabilities 

Virement 

3.26. The full council is responsible for agreeing procedures for virement of 

budget allocations between budget headings. These are set out in the 

Financial Management Standards [paragraphs 3.41– 3.51]. 

3.27. Chief officers are responsible for agreeing in-year virements within 

delegated limits, in consultation with the chief finance officer where 

required. They must notify the chief finance officer of all virements 

before the virements are implemented. 

Accounting policies 

3.28. The chief finance officer is responsible for selecting accounting 

policies in accordance with best professional practice and ensuring 

that they are applied consistently throughout the entire authority. 

Accounting records and returns 

3.29. The chief finance officer is responsible for determining the accounting 

procedures and records for the authority, and must be consulted on 

and approve proposals for change. 

Page 159



[Type here] 
 

Financial systems 

3.30. The chief finance officer is responsible for approving all the financial 

systems in operation within the authority and must be consulted on 

and approve any proposals for change. 

The annual statement of accounts 

3.31. The chief finance officer is responsible for ensuring that the annual 

statement of accounts is prepared in accordance with the Code of 

Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom: A 

Statement of Recommended Practice (CIPFA/LASAAC). The Audit 

Committee is responsible for approving the annual statement of 

accounts on behalf of the full Council. 

Financial Management Standards 

Why are these important? 

3.32. All staff and members have a duty to abide by the highest standards 

of probity in dealing with financial issues. This is achieved by ensuring 

everyone is clear about the standards to which they are working and 

the controls that are in place to ensure that these standards are met. 

Key controls 

3.33. The key controls and control objectives for financial management 

standards are: 

a) Their promotion throughout the authority. 

b) A monitoring system to review compliance with financial standards, and 

regular comparisons of performance indicators and benchmark 

standards that are reported to the executive and full council. 

Responsibilities of the chief finance officer 

3.34. To ensure the proper administration of the financial affairs of the 

authority. 

3.35. To set the financial management standards and to monitor 

compliance with them. 

3.36. To ensure proper professional practices are adhered to and to act as 

head of profession in relation to the standards, performance and 

development of finance staff throughout the authority. 

Page 160



[Type here] 
 

3.37. To advise on the key strategic controls necessary to secure sound 

financial management. 

3.38. To ensure that financial information is available to enable accurate 

and timely monitoring and reporting of comparisons of national and 

local financial performance indicators. 

Responsibilities of chief officers 

3.39. To promote the financial management standards set by the chief 

finance officer in their departments and to monitor adherence to the 

standards and practices, liaising as necessary with the chief finance 

officer. 

3.40. To promote sound financial practices in relation to the standards, 

performance and development of staff in their departments. 

Managing expenditure 

Scheme of virement 

Why is this important? 

3.41. The scheme of virement is intended to enable the executive, chief 

officers and their staff to manage budgets with a degree of flexibility 

within the overall policy framework determined by the full council, 

and therefore to optimise the use of resources. 

Key controls 

3.42. Key controls for the scheme of virement are: 

(a) it is administered by the chief finance officer within the guidelines 

below. Any variation from this scheme requires the approval of 

the full council 

(b) the overall budget is agreed by the executive and approved by the 

full council. 

(c) Chief officers and budget managers are therefore authorised to 

incur expenditure in accordance with the estimates that make up 

the budget. The rules below cover virement; that is, moving 

resources between approved estimates or heads of expenditure. 

(d) virement does not create additional overall budget liability. Chief 

officers are expected to exercise their discretion in managing their 

budgets responsibly and prudently. They should not support 

recurring expenditure from one-off sources of savings or 

Page 161



[Type here] 
 

additional income, or create future commitments, including full 

year effects of decisions made part way through a year, without 

the prior approval of the chief finance officer. Chief officers must 

plan to fund such commitments from within their own budgets. 

(e) any virement affecting an employee budget head can only 

proceed with the prior authorisation of the chief finance officer. 

Responsibilities of the chief finance officer 

3.43. To prepare jointly with the relevant chief officer a report to the head 

of paid service where virements in excess of £20,000 against any 

individual budget head are proposed. 

Responsibilities of chief officers 

3.44. A chief officer may exercise virement on budgets under his or her 

control for amounts up to £20,000 against any one budget head as 

defined by the chief finance officer during the year, following 

notification to the chief finance officer and in consultation with the 

appropriate portfolio holder member under arrangements agreed by 

the full council and subject to the conditions in paragraphs below. 

3.45. Individual virement of amounts between £20,000 - £50,000 require 

the approval of the head of paid service in consultation with the chief 

finance officer, relevant chief officer and portfolio Holder. 

3.46. Virement of amounts between £50,000 - £125,000 require the 

approval of the head of paid service, chief finance officer and the 

executive. 

3.47. Virements of amounts over £125,000 require the approval of Full 

Council in consultation with the chief finance officer and the relevant 

Portfolio Holder. 

3.48. The prior approval of the relevant Portfolio Holder is required for any 

virement, of whatever amount, where it is proposed to: 

 move resources between budgets of different accountable 

executive members 

 move resources between budgets managed by different chief 

officers. 

Page 162



[Type here] 
 

3.49. Virement that is likely to impact on the level of service activity of 

another chief officer can only be implemented only after agreement 

with the relevant chief officer. 

3.50. Budget changes arising from virements can only be made when 

approvals have been obtained. 

3.51. Any approved budget, which takes the form of a lump-sum budget or 

contingency intended for allocation during the year, will not be 

treated as a virement when the allocation actually takes place. 

Treatment of year-end balances 

Why is this important? 

3.52. The Council’s Annual Closure of Accounts guidance sets out the 

treatment of year-end balances and provides details on the 

information required to request the carry forward of unspent budgets 

from one year to the next. All requests for carry forwards will be 

included within the out-turn report to the executive who will decide 

whether to agree to carry forward requests, subject to reporting to 

council. 

3.53. The rules below cover arrangements for the carry forward of 

resources between one accounting year and the next. The rules are 

administered by the chief finance officer. For the purpose of this 

section a service estimate is a line within the budget report, which is 

at an equivalent level to the standard service sub-division contained 

within CIPFA’s service expenditure analysis within the Service 

Reporting Code of Practice 

Key controls 

3.54. Appropriate accounting procedures are in operation to ensure that 

carried-forward totals are correct. 

Responsibilities of the chief finance officer 

3.55. To administer the scheme of carry-forward within the guidelines 

below. 

3.56. To report all over-spends and under-spends on service estimates 

carried forward to the executive and to the full council. 

Page 163



[Type here] 
 

Responsibilities of chief officers 

3.57. Any overspending on service estimates in total on budgets under the 

control of the chief officer may be carried forward to the following 

year, and will constitute the first call on service estimates in the 

following year. The chief finance officer will report the extent of 

overspendings to be carried forward to the executive and to the full 

council. 

3.58. Net under-spends on service estimates under the control of the chief 

officer may be carried forward, subject to the approval of a report by 

the executive on how the under-spending has arisen and how it will 

be applied in the following financial year. If the executive does not 

approve the carry forward, the under-spend will be transferred into 

Council balances at the year end. 

Accounting Policies 

Why are these important? 

3.59. The chief finance officer is responsible for the preparation of the 

council’s statement of accounts, in accordance with proper practices 

as set out in the format required by the Code of Practice on Local 

Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom: A Statement of 

Recommended Practice (CIPFA/LASAAC), for each financial year 

ending 31 March. 

Key controls 

3.60. The key controls for accounting policies are: 

(a) systems of internal control are in place that ensure that financial 

transactions are lawful. 

(b) suitable accounting policies are selected and applied consistently. 

(c) proper accounting records are maintained. 

(d) financial statements are prepared, which present a true and fair 

view of the financial position of the Council and its associated 

expenditure and income. 

Responsibilities of the chief finance officer 

3.61. To select suitable accounting policies and to ensure that they are 

applied consistently. The accounting policies are set out in the 

Page 164



[Type here] 
 

statement of accounts, which is prepared at 31 March each year, and 

cover such items as: 

(a) separate accounts for revenue and capital spending. 

(b) the basis on which debtors and creditors at year end are included 

in the accounts. 

(c) details on material provisions and reserves. 

(d) fixed assets. 

(e) depreciation, impairment and other capital charges, 

(f) stocks and work in progress 

(g) accounting for value added tax 

(h) government grants 

(i) leasing 

(j) pensions. 

Responsibilities of chief officers 

3.62. To adhere to the above accounting policies and guidelines approved 

by the chief finance officer. 

Accounting records and returns 

Why are these important? 

3.63. Maintaining proper accounting records is one of the ways in which the 

Council discharges its responsibility for stewardship of public 

resources. The Council has a statutory responsibility to prepare its 

annual accounts to present a true and fair view of its operations 

during the year. These are subject to external audit. This audit 

provides assurance that the accounts are prepared properly, that 

proper accounting practices have been followed and that quality 

arrangements have been made for securing economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in the use of the authority’s resources. 

Key controls 

3.64. The key controls for accounting records and returns are: 

(a) all executive members, finance staff and budget managers 

operate within the required accounting standards and timetables. 

(b) all the authority’s transactions, material commitments and 

contracts and other essential accounting information are recorded 

completely, accurately and on a timely basis. 

Page 165



[Type here] 
 

(c) procedures are in place to enable accounting records to be 

reconstituted in the event of systems failure. 

(d) reconciliation procedures are carried out to ensure transactions 

are correctly recorded. 

(e) prime documents are retained in accordance with legislative and 

other requirements. 

Responsibilities of the chief finance officer 

3.65. To determine the accounting procedures and records to be kept by 

the Council. 

3.66. To arrange for the compilation of all accounts and accounting records. 

3.67. Wherever practicable, to comply with the principle of separation of 

duties when allocating accounting duties. 

3.68. To make proper arrangements for the audit of the Council’s accounts 

in accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. 

3.69. To ensure that all claims for funds including grants are made by the 

due date and the criteria attached to the offer of the grant have been 

complied with. 

3.70. To prepare and publish the audited accounts of the authority for each 

financial year, in accordance with the statutory timetable and with the 

requirement for the Audit Committee to approve the statement of 

accounts on behalf of the full Council by the statutory date. 

3.71. To administer the Council’s arrangements for under and over 

spendings to be carried forward to the following financial year. 

3.72. To ensure the proper retention of financial documents in accordance 

with the requirements set out in the Council’s document retention 

schedule. 

Responsibilities of chief officers 

3.73. To consult and obtain the approval of the chief finance officer before 

making any changes to departmental accounting records and 

procedures. 

3.74. To comply with the principles outlined in paragraph 3.61 when 

allocating accounting duties within departments. 

Page 166



[Type here] 
 

3.75. To maintain adequate records to provide a management and audit 

trail leading from the source of income/expenditure through to the 

accounting statements. 

3.76. To supply information required to enable the statement of accounts 

to be completed in accordance with guidelines issued by the chief 

finance officer. 

The Annual Statement of Accounts 

Why is this important? 

3.77. The council has a statutory responsibility to prepare its accounts to 

present a true and fair view of its operations during the year. The 

Audit Committee is responsible for approving the statutory annual 

statement of accounts. 

Key controls 

3.78. The key controls for the annual statement of accounts are: 

• the authority is required to make arrangements for the proper 

administration of its financial affairs and to secure that one of its 

officers, namely the chief finance officer, has the responsibility for 

the administration of these affairs. 

• the statement of accounts must be prepared in accordance with 

proper practices as set out in the Code of Practice on Local 

Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom: A Statement of 

Recommended Practice (the SORP) (CIPFA/LASAAC). 

Responsibilities of the chief finance officer 

3.79. To select suitable accounting policies and to apply them consistently. 

3.80. To make judgements and estimates which are reasonable and 

prudent. 

3.81. To comply with the Statement of Recommended Practice. 

3.82. To sign and date the statement of accounts, stating that it presents a 

true and fair view of the financial position of the authority and its 

income and expenditure at the accounting date for the relevant year. 

3.83. To draw up the timetable for final accounts preparation and to advise 

staff and external auditors accordingly. 

Page 167



[Type here] 
 

3.84. To make statutory arrangements for the advertisement of the 

availability of the annual accounts for inspection by the public and to 

make the arrangements for such inspection in accordance with the 

Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. 

Responsibilities of chief officers 

3.85. To comply with accounting guidance provided by the chief finance 

officer and to supply the chief finance officer with information when 

required. 

4. Financial Regulation B - Financial Planning 

Introduction 

4.1. The full council is responsible for agreeing the authority’s policy 

framework priorities and budget, which will be proposed by the 

executive. In terms of financial planning, the key elements are: 

• The corporate strategy, 

• The budget, 

• The capital programme. 

Policy Framework 

4.2. The full council is responsible for approving the policy framework and 

budget. The policy framework comprises the following statutory plans 

and strategies: 

• The Corporate Strategy  

• Local Development Framework 

• Housing Strategy 

• Food Law Enforcement Service Plan 

• Licensing Policy 

• Gambling Policy 

• Financial Strategy to include the revenue budget, the capital 

programme, the treasury management policy statement and 

strategy and Annual Investment Strategy. 

• . 

4.3. The full council is also responsible for agreeing variations to approved 

budgets, plans and strategies forming the policy framework and for 

determining the circumstances in which a decision will be deemed to 

Page 168



[Type here] 
 

be contrary to the budget or policy framework. Decisions should be 

referred to the full council by the monitoring officer. 

4.4. The full council is responsible for setting the level at which the 

executive may reallocate budget funds from one service to another. 

The executive is responsible for taking in year decisions on resources 

and priorities in order to deliver the budget policy framework within 

the financial limits set by the council. 

Preparation of the corporate plan 

4.5. The head of paid service with support from the chief officers is 

responsible for working with the executive to translate their priorities 

and policy aspirations into an affordable and deliverable corporate 

plan for agreement before its submission to the full council for 

approval. 

Budgeting 

Budget format 

4.6. The general format of the budget will be approved by the full council 

and proposed by the executive with the advice of the chief finance 

officer. The draft budget should include allocation to different services 

and projects, proposed taxation levels, the use of provisions and the 

use of general and earmarked reserves. 

Budget preparation 

4.7. The head of paid service with support from chief officers with the 

advice of the chief finance officer is responsible for working with the 

executive to ensure that a revenue budget is prepared within the 

terms of the medium term financial plan and an annual 

implementation plan is proposed, consulted on and feedback from the 

communities is presented before agreement the executive, before 

submission to the full council. The full council may amend the budget 

or ask the executive to reconsider it before approving it. 

4.8. The executive is responsible for issuing guidance on the general 

content of the budget in consultation with the chief finance officer as 

soon as possible following approval by the full council. 

4.9. It is the responsibility of the head of paid service to ensure that plans 

are in place and based on budget guidance issued by the executive. 

Page 169



[Type here] 
 

Budget monitoring and control 

4.10. The chief finance officer is responsible for providing appropriate 

financial information to enable budgets to be monitored effectively. 

Chief officers should proactively manage and report on their 

performance against budget on a monthly basis and the executive will 

consider the overall financial position of the council on a quarterly 

basis. 

4.11. It is the responsibility of chief officers to control income and 

expenditure within their area and to monitor performance. They 

should report on variances within their own areas. They should also 

take any action necessary to avoid exceeding their budget allocation 

and alert the chief finance officer to any problems. 

Resource allocation 

4.12. The chief finance officer with support from chief officers, is 

responsible for developing and maintaining a resource allocation 

process that ensures due consideration of the full council’s policy 

framework. 

Preparation of the capital programme 

4.13. The chief finance officer with support from chief officers is responsible 

for ensuring that a capital programme is prepared on an annual basis 

that supports the policy framework and delivery of the priorities for 

consideration by the executive before submission to the full council. 

Guidance 

4.14. Guidance on budget preparation is issued to members and chief 

officers by the executive following agreement with the chief finance 

officer. The guidelines will take account of: 

• The corporate plan, the council’s policy framework and priorities. 

• Medium-term planning prospects. 

• Legal requirements for delivery of statutory services 

• Available resources. 

• Spending pressures. 

• Best value and other relevant government guidelines. 

• Other internal policy documents. 

• Cross-cutting issues (where relevant). 

Page 170



[Type here] 
 

Maintenance of reserves 

4.15. It is the responsibility of the chief finance officer to advise the 

executive and/or the full council on prudent levels of reserves for the 

authority. 

Performance plans 

Why are these important? 

4.16. The purpose of performance plans is to explain overall priorities and 

objectives, current performance, and proposals for further 

improvement. The council does this at a corporate level through the 

Corporate Plan which sets out its priorities and outlines how these will 

be measured. There are also a number of plans which support the 

Corporate Plan. 

Key controls 

4.17. The key controls for performance plans are: 

(a) to ensure that all relevant plans are produced and that they are 

consistent. 

(b) to produce plans in accordance with any statutory requirements. 

(c) to meet the timetables set. 

(d) to ensure that all performance information is accurate, complete 

and up to date. 

(e) to provide improvement targets which are meaningful, realistic 

and challenging. 

Responsibilities of chief officers 

4.18. To advise and supply the financial information in consultation with the 

Chief Finance Officer that needs to be included in performance plans 

in accordance with statutory requirements and agreed timetables. 

4.19. To contribute to the development of corporate and service targets 

and performance information. 

4.20. To ensure that systems are in place to measure activity and collect 

accurate information for use as performance indicators. 

4.21. To ensure that performance information is monitored sufficiently 

frequently to allow corrective action to be taken if targets are not 

likely to be met. 

Page 171



[Type here] 
 

4.22. To contribute to the development of performance plans in line with 

statutory requirements. 

4.23. To contribute to the development of corporate and service targets 

and objectives and performance information. 

Budgeting 

Format of the budget 

Why is this important? 

4.24. The format of the budget determines the level of detail to which 

financial control and management will be exercised. The format 

shapes how the rules around virement operate, the operation of cash 

limits and sets the level at which funds may be reallocated within 

budgets. 

Key controls 

4.25. The key controls for the budget format are: 

(a) the format complies with all legal requirements and proper 

accounting practices; 

(b) the format reflects accountability for service delivery. 

Responsibilities of the chief finance officer 

4.26. To advise the executive on the format of the budget that is approved 

by the full council. 

Responsibilities of chief officers 

4.27. To comply with accounting guidance provided by the chief finance 

officer. 

Revenue budget preparation, monitoring and control 

Why is this important? 

4.28. Budget management ensures that once the budget has been 

approved by the full council, resources allocated are used for their 

intended purposes and are properly accounted for. Budgetary control 

is a continuous process, enabling the authority to review and adjust its 

budget targets during the financial year. It also provides the 

mechanism that calls to account managers responsible for defined 

elements of the budget. 

Page 172



[Type here] 
 

4.29. By continuously identifying and explaining variances against 

budgetary targets, the Council can identify changes in trends and 

resource requirements at the earliest opportunity. The Council itself 

operates within an annual cash limit, approved when setting the 

overall budget. To ensure that the authority in total does not 

overspend, each service is required to manage its own expenditure 

within the cash-limited budget allocated to it. 

4.30. For the purposes of budgetary control by managers, a budget will 

normally be the planned income and expenditure for a service area or 

cost centre. However, budgetary control may take place at a more 

detailed level if this is required by the chief officer’s scheme of 

delegation. 

Key controls 

4.31. The key controls for managing and controlling the revenue budget 

are: 

(a) budget managers should be responsible only for income and 

expenditure that they can influence. 

(b) there is a nominated budget manager for each cost centre 

heading. 

(c) budget managers accept accountability for their budgets and the 

level of service to be delivered and understand their financial 

responsibilities. 

(d) budget managers follow an approved certification process for all 

expenditure. 

(e) income and expenditure are properly recorded and accounted for 

(f) performance levels/levels of service are monitored in conjunction 

with the budget and necessary action is taken to align service 

outputs and budget. 

(g) issues that may arise in managing and controlling the revenue 

budget are reported as soon as they are identified. 

Responsibilities of the chief finance officer 

4.32. To establish an appropriate framework of budgetary management and 

control that ensures that: 

(a) budget management is exercised within annual cash limits unless 

the full council agrees otherwise. 

Page 173



[Type here] 
 

(b) each chief officer has available timely information on receipts and 

payments on each budget which is sufficiently detailed to enable 

managers to fulfil their budgetary responsibilities. 

(c) expenditure is committed only against an approved budget head. 

(d) all officers responsible for committing expenditure comply with 

the financial Regulations. 

(e) each cost centre has a single named manager, determined by the 

relevant chief officer. As a general principle, budget responsibility 

should be aligned as closely as possible to the decision-making 

processes that commits expenditure. 

(f) significant variances from approved budgets are investigated and 

reported by budget managers regularly. 

 

4.33. To administer the Council’s scheme of virement. 

4.34. To submit reports to the executive and to the full council, in 

consultation with the relevant chief officer, where a chief officer is 

unable to balance expenditure and resources within existing approved 

budgets under his or her control. 

4.35. To prepare and submit reports on the authority’s projected income 

and expenditure compared with the budget on a regular basis. 

Responsibilities of chief officers 

4.36. To maintain budgetary control within their departments, in adherence 

to the principles in 4.32, and to ensure that all income and 

expenditure are properly recorded and accounted for. 

4.37. To ensure that an accountable budget manager is identified for each 

item of income and expenditure under the control of the chief officer 

(grouped together in a series of cost centres). As a general principle, 

budget responsibility should be aligned as closely as possible to the 

decision-making that commits expenditure. 

4.38. To ensure that spending remains within the service’s overall cash 

limit, and that individual budget heads are not overspent, by 

monitoring the budget and taking appropriate corrective action where 

significant variations from the approved budget are forecast. 

Page 174



[Type here] 
 

4.39. To ensure that a monitoring process is in place to review performance 

levels/levels of service in conjunction with the budget and is operating 

effectively. 

4.40. To provide information to the chief finance officer to enable reports 

on the service’s projected expenditure compared with its budget to be 

made to the executive. 

4.41. To ensure prior approval by the full council or executive (as 

appropriate) for new proposals, of whatever amount, that: 

(a) create financial commitments in future years. 

(b) change existing policies, initiate new policies or cease existing 

policies. 

(c) materially extend or reduce the authority’s services. 

4.42. To ensure compliance with the scheme of virement. 

4.43. To agree with the relevant chief officer where it appears that a budget 

proposal, including a virement proposal, may impact materially on 

another service area or chief officer’s level of service activity. 

Budget and medium-term planning 

Why is this important? 

4.44. The authority is a complex organisation responsible for delivering a 

wide variety of services. It needs to plan effectively and to develop 

systems to enable scarce resources to be allocated in accordance with 

carefully weighed priorities. The budget is the financial expression of 

the authority’s plans and policies. 

4.45. The revenue budget must be constructed so as to ensure that 

resource allocation properly reflects the service plans and priorities of 

the full council. Budgets (spending plans) are needed so that the 

authority can plan, authorise, monitor and control the way money is 

allocated and spent. It is illegal for an authority to budget for a deficit. 

4.46. Medium-term planning involves a planning cycle in which managers 

develop their own plans. As each year passes, another future year will 

be added to the medium-term plan. This ensures that the authority is 

always preparing for events in advance. 

Key controls 

4.47. The key controls for budgets and medium-term planning are: 

Page 175



[Type here] 
 

(a) specific budget approval for all expenditure. 

(b) budget managers are consulted in the preparation of the budgets 

for which they 

(c) will be held accountable within the delegated limits set by the 

executive for their budgets and the level of service to be 

delivered. 

(d) a monitoring process is in place to review regularly the 

effectiveness and operation of budget preparation and to ensure 

that any corrective action is taken. 

Responsibilities of the chief finance officer 

4.48. To prepare and submit reports on budget prospects for the executive, 

including resource constraints set by the Government. Reports should 

take account of medium-term prospects, where appropriate. 

4.49. To determine the detailed form of revenue estimates and the 

methods for their preparation, consistent with the budget approved 

by the full council, and after consultation with the executive and chief 

officers. 

4.50. To prepare and submit reports to the executive on the aggregate 

spending plans of service units and on the resources available to fund 

them, identifying, where appropriate, the implications for the level of 

council tax to be levied. 

4.51. To advise on the medium-term implications of spending decisions. 

4.52. To encourage the best use of resources and value for money by 

working with chief officers to identify opportunities to improve 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness, and by encouraging good 

practice in conducting financial appraisals of development or savings 

options, and in developing financial aspects of service planning. 

4.53. To advise the full council on executive proposals in accordance with 

his or her responsibilities under section 151 of the Local Government 

Act 1972. 

Responsibilities of chief officers 

4.54. To prepare estimates of income and expenditure, in consultation with 

the chief finance officer, to be submitted to the executive. 

Page 176



[Type here] 
 

4.55. To prepare budgets which are consistent with any relevant cash limits, 

with the authority’s annual budget cycle and with guidance issued by 

the executive. The format should be prescribed by the chief finance 

officer in accordance with the full council’s general directions. 

4.56. To integrate financial and budget plans into service planning, so that 

budget plans can be supported by financial and non-financial 

performance measures. 

4.57. In consultation with the chief finance officer and in accordance with 

the laid-down guidance and timetable, to prepare detailed draft 

revenue and capital budgets for consideration by the appropriate 

committee. 

4.58. When drawing up draft budget requirements, to have regard to: 

(a) spending patterns and pressures revealed through the budget 

monitoring process 

(b) legal requirements 

(c) policy requirements as defined by the full council in the approved 

policy framework 

(d) initiatives already under way. 

Resource allocation 

Why is this important? 

4.59. A mismatch often exists between available resources and required 

resources to meet needs and desires. It is therefore imperative that 

needs/desires are carefully prioritised and that resources are fairly 

allocated, in order to fulfil all legal responsibilities. Resources may 

include staff, money, equipment, goods and materials. 

Key controls 

4.60. The key controls for resource allocation are: 

(a) resources are acquired in accordance with the law and using an 

approved authorisation process 

(b) resources are used only for the purpose intended, to achieve the 

approved policies and objectives, and are properly accounted for 

(c) resources are securely held for use when required 

(d) resources are used with the minimum level of waste, inefficiency 

or loss for other reasons. 

Page 177



[Type here] 
 

Responsibilities of the chief finance officer 

4.61. To advise on methods available for the funding of resources, such as 

grants from central government and borrowing requirements. 

4.62. To assist in the allocation of resources to budget managers. 

Responsibilities of chief officers 

4.63. To work within budget limits and to utilise allocated resources in the 

most efficient, effective and economic way. 

4.64. To identify opportunities to minimise or eliminate resource 

requirements or consumption without having a detrimental effect on 

service delivery. 

Capital programmes 

Why are these important? 

4.65. Capital expenditure involves acquiring or enhancing fixed assets with a 

long-term value to the authority, such as land, buildings, and major 

items of plant, equipment or vehicles. Capital assets shape the way 

services are delivered in the long term and create financial 

commitments for the future in the form of financing costs and 

revenue running costs. 

4.66. The Government places strict controls on the capital financing 

capacity of the Council. This means that capital expenditure should 

form part of an investment strategy and should be carefully prioritised 

in order to maximise the benefit of scarce resources. 

Key controls 

4.67. The key controls for capital programmes are: 

(a) specific approval by the full council for the programme of capital 

expenditure. 

(b) expenditure on capital schemes is subject to the approval of the 

executive and chief finance officer. 

(c) a scheme and estimate, including project plan, progress targets 

and associated revenue expenditure is prepared for each capital 

project, for approval by the executive. 

(d) approval by the executive where capital schemes are to be 

financed from revenue sources, up to a specified amount, and 

Page 178



[Type here] 
 

subject to the approval of the full council, where the expenditure 

exceeds this amount. 

(e) proposals for improvements and alterations to buildings must be 

approved by the appropriate chief officer. 

(f) schedules for individual schemes within the overall budget 

approved by the full council must be submitted to the executive 

for approval (for example, minor 

(g) works), or under other arrangements approved by the full council. 

(h) the development and implementation of asset management 

plans. 

(i) accountability for each proposal is accepted by a named manager. 

(j) monitoring of progress on a capital scheme, particularly 

monitoring spending against an approved budget is carried out on 

a regular basis, at least monthly. 

Responsibilities of the chief finance officer 

4.68. To prepare a capital programme jointly with chief officers and the 

head of paid service and obtain the approval of the executive for the 

programme. The executive will make recommendations on the 

budgets within the capital programme estimates and on any 

associated financing requirements to the full council. Executive 

member approval is required where a chief officer proposes to bid for 

or exercise an additional borrowing approval not anticipated in the 

capital programme. This is necessary as extra borrowing may create 

future capital financing commitments to be met from the revenue 

budget. 

4.69. To prepare and submit reports to the executive on the projected 

income, expenditure and resources compared with the approved 

estimates. 

4.70. To issue guidance concerning capital schemes and controls, for 

example, on project appraisal techniques. The definition of ‘capital’ 

will be determined by the chief finance officer, having regard to 

government regulations and accounting requirements. 

4.71. To obtain authorisation from the executive for individual schemes 

where the estimated expenditure exceeds the capital programme 

provision. 

Page 179



[Type here] 
 

Responsibilities of chief officers 

4.72. To comply with the guidance concerning capital schemes and controls. 

4.73. To ensure that all capital proposals have undergone a project 

appraisal in accordance with the above guidance. 

4.74. To prepare regular reports, at least quarterly, reviewing the capital 

programme provisions for their services. As schemes near completion, 

a quarterly return of estimated final costs of schemes in the approved 

capital programme should be prepared for submission to the chief 

finance officer. 

4.75. To ensure that adequate records are maintained for all capital 

contracts. 

4.76. To proceed with projects only when there is adequate provision in the 

capital programme and with the agreement of the chief finance 

officer, where required. 

4.77. To prepare and submit reports, jointly with the chief finance officer, 

to the executive, of any material variation in contract costs. 

4.78. To prepare and submit reports, jointly with the chief finance officer, 

to the executive, on completion of all contracts where the final 

expenditure exceeds the approved contract sum by more than a 

specified amount. 

4.79. To ensure that credit arrangements, such as leasing agreements, are 

not entered into without the prior approval of the chief finance officer 

and, if applicable, approval of the scheme through the capital 

programme. 

Maintenance of reserves 

Why is this important? 

4.80. The Council must decide the level of general reserves it wishes to 

maintain before it can decide the level of council tax. Reserves are 

maintained as a matter of prudence. They enable the authority to 

provide for unexpected events and thereby protect it from 

overspending, should such events occur. Reserves earmarked for 

specific purposes may also be maintained, following approval by the 

chief finance officer and/or the executive. 

Page 180



[Type here] 
 

Key controls 

4.81. To maintain reserves in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local 

Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom: A Statement of 

Recommended Practice (CIPFA/LASAAC) and agreed accounting 

policies. 

4.82. For each reserve established, the purpose, usage and basis of 

transactions should be clearly identified. 

4.83. Expenditure to be financed from reserves is authorised by the chief 

finance officer in consultation with the appropriate chief officer. 

Responsibilities of the chief finance officer 

4.84. To advise the executive and/or the full council on prudent levels of 

reserves for the authority, and to take account of the advice of the 

external auditor in this matter. 

4.85. To agree the forecast use of earmarked reserves with chief officers for 

any financial year and obtain approval from the executive for the use 

of earmarked reserves. 

4.86. If the purpose of the earmarked reserve has changed from that 

originally approved by council, then approval for the change will be 

required by council. 

4.87. Any forecast increase in the use of general reserves will require the 

approval of council. 

Responsibilities of chief officers 

4.88. To ensure that reserves are used only for the purposes for which they 

were intended. 

4.89. To agree with the chief finance officer the use of earmarked reserves 

within any one financial year. 

5. Risk Management and Control of Resources 

Risk Management 

Why is this important? 

5.1. All organisations, whether private or public sector, face risks to 

people, property and continued operations. Risk is the chance or 

possibility of loss, damage, injury or failure to achieve objectives 

Page 181



[Type here] 
 

caused by an unwanted or uncertain action or event. Risk 

management is the planned and systematic approach to the 

identification, evaluation and control of risk. 

5.2. Its objectives are to secure the assets of the organisation and to 

ensure the continued financial and organisational well-being of the 

organisation. In essence it is, therefore, an integral part of good 

business practice. Risk management is concerned with evaluating the 

measures an organisation already has in place to manage identified 

risks and then recommending the action the organisation needs to 

take to control these risks effectively. 

5.3. It is the overall responsibility of the executive to approve the 

authority’s Risk Management Framework and to promote a culture of 

risk management awareness throughout the authority. 

Key controls 

5.4. The key controls for risk management are: 

(a) procedures are in place to identify, assess, prevent or contain 

material known risks, and these procedures are operating 

effectively throughout the authority 

(b) a monitoring process is in place to review regularly the 

effectiveness of risk reduction strategies and the operation of 

these controls. The risk management process should be 

conducted on a continuing basis. 

(c) managers know that they are responsible for managing relevant 

risks and in order to mitigate such risks are provided with relevant 

information on risk management initiatives. 

(d) provision is made for losses that might result from the risks that 

remain. 

(e) procedures are in place to investigate claims within required 

timescales. 

(f) acceptable levels of risk are determined and insured against 

where appropriate. 

(g) the authority has identified business continuity plans for 

implementation in the event of disaster that results in significant 

loss or damage to its resources. 

Page 182



[Type here] 
 

Responsibilities of the chief finance officer 

5.5. To prepare and promote the authority’s Risk Management 

Framework. 

5.6. To develop risk management controls and measures to mitigate risk in 

conjunction with other chief officers. 

5.7. To include all appropriate employees of the authority in a suitable 

fidelity guarantee insurance. 

5.8. To effect corporate insurance cover, through external insurance and 

internal funding, and to negotiate all claims in consultation with other 

officers, where necessary. 

Responsibilities of chief officers 

5.9. To notify the chief finance officer immediately of any loss, liability or 

damage that may lead to a claim against the authority, together with 

any information or explanation required by the chief finance officer or 

the authority’s insurers. 

5.10. To take responsibility for risk management, having regard to advice 

from the chief finance officer and other specialist officers (e.g. crime 

prevention, fire prevention, health and safety). 

5.11. To ensure that there are regular reviews of risk within their service 

units. 

5.12. To notify the chief finance officer promptly of all new risks, properties 

or vehicles that require insurance and of any alterations affecting 

existing insurances. 

5.13. To consult the chief finance officer and the monitoring officer on the 

terms of any indemnity that the authority is requested to give. 

5.14. To ensure that employees, or anyone covered by the authority’s 

insurances, do not admit liability or make any offer to pay 

compensation that may prejudice the assessment of liability in respect 

of any insurance claim. 

Page 183



[Type here] 
 

Internal Controls 

Why are these important? 

5.15. The authority is complex and beyond the direct control of individuals. 

It therefore requires internal controls to manage and monitor 

progress towards strategic objectives. 

5.16. The authority has statutory obligations, and, therefore, requires 

internal controls to identify, meet and monitor compliance with these 

obligations. 

5.17. The authority faces a wide range of financial, administrative and 

commercial risks, both from internal and external factors, which 

threaten the achievement of its objectives. Internal controls are 

necessary to manage these risks. 

5.18. The system of internal controls is established in order to provide 

measurable achievement of: 

(a) efficient and effective operations, 

(b) reliable financial information and reporting, 

(c) compliance with laws and regulations, 

(d) risk management. 

Key controls 

5.19. The key controls and control objectives for internal control systems 

are: 

(a) key controls should be reviewed on a regular basis and the 

authority should make a formal statement annually to the effect 

that it is satisfied that the systems of internal control are 

operating effectively, 

(b) managerial control systems, including defining policies, setting 

objectives and plans, monitoring financial and other performance 

and taking appropriate anticipatory and remedial action. The key 

objective of these systems is to promote ownership of the control 

environment by defining roles and responsibilities, 

(c) financial and operational control systems and procedures, which 

include physical safeguards for assets, segregation of duties, 

authorisation and approval procedures and information systems, 

Page 184



[Type here] 
 

(d) an effective internal audit function that is properly resourced. It 

should operate in accordance with the principles contained in the 

Auditing Practices Board’s auditing guideline Guidance for Internal 

Auditors, CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Internal Audit in Local 

Government in the United Kingdom and with any other statutory 

obligations and regulations. 

Responsibilities of the chief finance officer 

5.20. To assist the authority to put in place an appropriate control 

environment and effective internal controls which provide reasonable 

assurance of effective and efficient operations, financial stewardship, 

probity and compliance with laws and regulations. 

Responsibilities of chief officers 

5.21. To manage processes to check that established controls are being 

adhered to and to evaluate their effectiveness, in order to be 

confident in the proper use of resources, achievement of objectives 

and management of risks. 

5.22. To review existing controls in the light of changes affecting the 

authority and to establish and implement new ones in line with 

guidance from the chief finance officer. Chief officers should also be 

responsible for removing controls that are unnecessary or not cost or 

risk effective – for example, because of duplication. 

5.23. To ensure staff have a clear understanding of the consequences of 

lack of control. 

Audit Requirements 

Internal Audit 

Why is this important? 

5.24. The requirement for an internal audit function for local authorities is 

implied by section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, which 

requires that authorities “make arrangements for the proper 

administration of their financial affairs”. The Accounts and Audit 

Regulations 2015require that a “relevant body shall maintain an 

adequate and effective system of internal audit of its accounting 

Page 185



[Type here] 
 

records and of its system of internal control in accordance with proper 

internal audit practices”. 

5.25. Accordingly, internal audit is an independent appraisal function 

established by the authority for the review of the internal control 

system as a service to the organisation. It objectively examines, 

evaluates and reports on the adequacy of internal control as a 

contribution to the proper, economic, efficient and effective use of 

resources. 

Key controls 

5.26. The key controls for internal audit are: 

(a) that it is independent in its planning and operation, 

(b) the head of internal audit has direct access to the head of paid 

service, all levels of management and directly to elected 

members, 

(c) the internal auditors comply with CIPFA’s Code of Practice for 

Internal Audit in Local Government in the United Kingdom. 

Responsibilities of the chief finance officer 

5.27. To ensure that internal auditors have the authority to: 

(a) access authority premises at reasonable times, 

(b) access all assets, records, documents, correspondence and control 

systems, 

(c) receive any information and explanation considered necessary 

concerning any matter under consideration, 

(d) require any employee of the authority to account for cash, stores 

or any other authority asset under his or her control, 

(e) access records belonging to third parties, such as contractors, 

when required, 

(f) directly access the head of paid service, the executive and audit 

committee as and when necessary. 

5.28. To approve the strategic and annual audit plans prepared by the head 

of internal audit, which take account of the characteristics and relative 

risks of the activities involved. 

5.29. To ensure that effective procedures are in place to investigate 

promptly any fraud or irregularity. 

Page 186



[Type here] 
 

Responsibilities of chief officers 

5.30. To ensure that internal auditors are given access at all reasonable 

times to premises, personnel, documents and assets that the auditors 

consider necessary for the purposes of their work and to ensure that 

all staff are made aware of the requirements. 

5.31. To ensure that auditors are provided with any information and 

explanations that they seek in the course of their work. 

5.32. To consider and respond promptly to recommendations in audit 

reports. 

5.33. To ensure that any agreed actions arising from audit 

recommendations are carried out in a timely and efficient fashion. 

5.34. To notify the chief finance officer immediately of any suspected fraud, 

theft, irregularity, improper use or misappropriation of the authority’s 

property or resources. Pending investigation and reporting, the chief 

officer should take all necessary steps to prevent further loss and to 

secure records and documentation against removal or alteration. 

5.35. To ensure that new systems for maintaining financial records, or 

records of assets, or changes to such systems, are discussed with and 

agreed by the head of internal audit prior to implementation. 

External Audit 

Why is this important? 

5.36. The arrangements for the appointment of auditors from 31 March 

2015 is set out in primary legislation - Local Audit and accountability 

Act 2014 and the secondary legislation – Local Audit Regulations. 

5.37. The external auditor has rights of access to all documents and 

information necessary for audit purposes. 

5.38. The authority’s accounts are scrutinised by external auditors, who 

must be satisfied that the Statement of Accounts ‘presents a true and 

fair view’ of the financial position of the authority and its income and 

expenditure for the year in question and complies with the legal 

requirements. 

5.39. The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 include detailed provisions 

in respect of the preparation of the annual Statement of Accounts, the 

advertisement of rights to inspect the accounts, the arrangements for 

Page 187



[Type here] 
 

inspection and the review by the authority’s appointed to external 

auditors. 

Key controls 

5.40. External auditors are appointed as set out above normally for a 

minimum period of 5 years. There is a code of audit practice, which 

external auditors follow when carrying out their audits. 

Responsibilities of the chief finance officer 

5.41. To ensure that external auditors are given access at all reasonable 

times to premises, personnel, documents and assets that the external 

auditors consider necessary for the purposes of their work. 

5.42. To ensure there is effective liaison between external and internal 

audit. 

5.43. To work with the external auditor and advise the full council, 

executive and chief officers on their responsibilities in relation to 

external audit. 

Responsibilities of chief officers 

5.44. To ensure that external auditors are given access at all reasonable 

times to premises, personnel, documents and assets which the 

external auditors consider necessary for the purposes of their work. 

5.45. To ensure that all records and systems are up to date and available for 

inspection. 

Preventing fraud and corruption 

Why is it this important? 

5.46. The authority will not tolerate fraud and corruption in the 

administration of its responsibilities, whether from inside or outside 

the authority. 

5.47. The authority’s expectation of propriety and accountability is that 

members and staff at all levels will lead by example in ensuring 

adherence to legal requirements, rules, procedures and practices. 

5.48. The authority also expects that individuals and organisations (e.g. 

suppliers, contractors, service providers) with whom it comes into 

contact will act towards the authority with integrity and without 

thought or actions involving fraud and corruption. 

Page 188



[Type here] 
 

Key controls 

5.49. The key controls regarding the prevention of financial irregularities 

are that: 

(a) the authority has an effective anti-fraud and anti-corruption 

strategy and maintains a culture that will not tolerate fraud or 

corruption, 

(b) all members and staff act with integrity and lead by example, 

(c) senior managers are required to deal swiftly and firmly with those 

who defraud or attempt to defraud the authority or who are 

corrupt, 

(d) high standards of conduct are promoted amongst members by the 

standards committee, 

(e) the maintenance of a register of interests in which any hospitality 

or gifts accepted must be recorded, 

(f) whistle blowing procedures are in place and operate effectively, 

(g) legislation including the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 is 

adhered to. 

Responsibilities of the chief finance officer 

5.50. To develop and maintain an anti-fraud and corruption strategy. 

5.51. To maintain adequate and effective internal control arrangements. 

5.52. To ensure that all suspected irregularities are reported to the head of 

internal audit, the head of paid service, the executive and the audit 

committee. 

Responsibilities of chief officers 

5.53. To ensure that all suspected irregularities are reported to the chief 

finance officer. 

5.54. To instigate the authority’s disciplinary procedures where the 

outcome of an audit investigation indicates improper behaviour. 

5.55. To ensure that where financial impropriety is discovered, the chief 

finance officer is informed, and where sufficient evidence exists to 

believe that a criminal offence may have been committed, the police 

are called in to determine with the Crown Prosecution 

5.56. Service whether any prosecution will take place. 

Page 189



[Type here] 
 

5.57. To maintain a departmental register of interests. 

Assets 

Security 

Why is this important? 

5.58. The authority holds assets in the form of property, vehicles, 

equipment, furniture and other items worth many millions of pounds. 

It is important that assets are safeguarded and used efficiently in 

service delivery, and that there are arrangements for the security of 

both assets and information required for service operations. An up-to-

date asset register is a prerequisite for proper non-current asset 

accounting and sound asset management. 

Key controls 

5.59. The key controls for the security of resources such as land, buildings, 

fixed plant, machinery, equipment, software and information are: 

(a) resources are used only for the purposes of the authority and are 

properly accounted for; 

(b) resources are available for use when required; 

(c) resources no longer required are disposed of in accordance with 

the law and the regulations of the authority so as to maximise 

benefits; 

(d) an asset register of non-current assets is maintained for the 

authority, assets are recorded when they are acquired by the 

authority and this record is updated as changes occur with respect 

to the location and condition of the asset; 

(e) all staff are aware of their responsibilities with regard to 

safeguarding the authority’s assets and information, including the 

requirements of the Data Protection Act and software copyright 

legislation; 

(f) all staff are aware of their responsibilities with regard to 

safeguarding the security of the authority’s computer systems, 

including maintaining restricted access to the information held on 

them and compliance with the authority’s computer and internet 

security policies; 

(g) inventories are maintained for stocks of consumable items and 

assets. 

Page 190



[Type here] 
 

Responsibilities of the chief finance officer 

5.60. To ensure that an asset register is maintained in accordance with good 

practice. All assets with either a purchase price (if known) or an 

approximate replacement value of over £10,000 should be included. 

Highly desirable portable assets with a lower value may also be 

included. The function of the asset register is to provide the authority 

with information about fixed assets so that they are: 

• safeguarded, 

• used efficiently and effectively, 

• adequately maintained. 

5.61. To receive the information required for accounting, costing and 

financial records from each chief officer. 

5.62. To ensure that assets are valued in accordance with the Code of 

Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom: A 

Statement of Recommended Practice (CIPFA/LASAAC). 

Responsibilities of chief officers 

5.63. The appropriate Chief Officer shall maintain a property database in a 

form approved by the chief finance officer for all land and property 

currently owned or used by the authority. Any use of land or property 

by a service unit should be supported by documentation identifying 

terms, responsibilities and duration of use. 

5.64. To ensure that lessees and other prospective occupiers of council land 

are not allowed to take possession or enter the land until a lease or 

agreement, in a form approved by the chief officer in consultation 

with the chief finance officer, has been established as appropriate. 

5.65. To ensure the proper security of all buildings and other assets under 

their control. 

5.66. Where land or buildings are surplus to requirements, a 

recommendation for sale should be the subject of a joint report by the 

chief officer and the chief finance officer. 

5.67. Where items of equipment become surplus to requirements or 

obsolete, recommendations for disposal, including the potential re-

use of the equipment by the voluntary sector shall be agreed with the 

chief finance officer. 

Page 191



[Type here] 
 

5.68. To pass title deeds to the appropriate chief officer who is responsible 

for custody of all title deeds. 

5.69. To ensure that no authority asset is subject to personal use by an 

employee without proper authority. 

5.70. To ensure the safe custody of vehicles, equipment, furniture, stock, 

stores and other property belonging to the authority. 

5.71. To ensure that the service unit maintains a register of moveable assets 

in accordance with arrangements defined by the chief finance officer. 

5.72. To ensure that assets are identified, their location recorded and that 

they are appropriately marked and insured. 

5.73. To consult the chief finance officer in any case where security is 

thought to be defective or where it is considered that special security 

arrangements may be needed. 

5.74. To ensure cash holdings on premises are kept to a minimum. 

5.75. To ensure that keys to safes and similar receptacles are carried on the 

person of those responsible at all times; loss of any such keys must be 

reported to the chief finance officer as soon as possible. 

5.76. To record all disposals or part exchange of land and buildings that 

should normally be by competitive tender or public auction, unless, 

following consultation with the chief finance officer, the executive 

agrees otherwise. 

5.77. To assist with the valuation of assets for accounting purposes to meet 

requirements specified by the chief finance officer. 

5.78. To ensure that all employees are aware that they have a personal 

responsibility with regard to the protection and confidentiality of 

information, whether held in manual or computerised records. 

Information may be sensitive or privileged, or may possess some 

intrinsic value, and its disclosure or loss could result in a cost to the 

authority in some way. 

Inventories 

5.79. To maintain inventories and record an adequate description of 

furniture, fittings, equipment, plant and machinery. All assets with 

either a purchase price (if known) or an approximate replacement 

Page 192



[Type here] 
 

value of over £100 should be included. Highly desirable portable 

assets with a lower value may also be included. 

5.80. To carry out an annual check of all items on the inventory in order to 

verify location, review condition and to take action in relation to 

surpluses or deficiencies, annotating the inventory accordingly. 

Attractive and portable items such as computers, cameras and video 

recorders should be identified with security markings as belonging to 

the authority. 

5.81. To make sure that property is only used in the course of the 

authority’s business, unless the chief officer concerned has given 

permission otherwise. 

Stocks and stores 

5.82. To make arrangements for the care and custody of stocks and stores 

in the department. 

5.83. To ensure stocks are maintained at reasonable levels and are subject 

to a regular independent physical check. All discrepancies should be 

investigated and pursued to a satisfactory conclusion. 

5.84. To investigate and remove from the authority’s records (i.e. write off) 

discrepancies as necessary, subject to the following approval limits; 

• up to £10,000 – chief officers  

• up to £50,000 – chief finance officer  

• over £50,000 – the executive 

5.85. To authorise or write off disposal of redundant stocks and equipment. 

Procedures for disposal of such stocks and equipment should be by 

competitive quotations or auction, unless, following consultation with 

the chief finance officer, the executive decides otherwise in a 

particular case. 

5.86. To seek executive approval to the write-off of redundant stocks and 

equipment in excess of a predetermined sum. 

Intellectual property 

Why is this important? 

5.87. 3.86 Intellectual property is a generic term that includes inventions 

and writing. If these are created by the employee during the course of 

employment, then, as a general rule, they belong to the employer, not 

Page 193



[Type here] 
 

the employee. Various acts of Parliament cover different types of 

intellectual property. 

5.88. Certain activities undertaken within the authority may give rise to 

items that may be patentable, for example, software development. 

These items are collectively known as intellectual property. 

Key controls 

5.89. In the event that the authority decides to become involved in the 

commercial exploitation of intellectual property, the matter should 

proceed in accordance with the authority’s approved procedures. 

Responsibilities of chief officers 

5.90. To develop and disseminate good practice through the authority’s 

intellectual property procedures. 

5.91. To ensure that controls are in place to ensure that staff do not carry 

out private work in council time and that staff are aware of an 

employer’s rights with regard to intellectual property. 

Asset disposal 

Why is this important? 

5.92. It would be uneconomic and inefficient for the cost of assets to 

outweigh their benefits. Obsolete, non-repairable or unnecessary 

resources should be disposed of in accordance with the law and the 

authority’s contract procedure rules / scheme of delegation. The 

disposal should be recorded in the non-current asset register. 

Key controls 

5.93. Assets for disposal are identified and are disposed of at the most 

appropriate time, and only when it is in the best interests of the 

authority, bearing in mind other factors, such as environmental issues. 

The chief finance officer, in conjunction with the appropriate chief 

officer, may approve the donation of assets which are surplus to 

requirements and have little or no residual value to the voluntary 

sector. For items of vehicles, plant and equipment with a value of 

£10,000 or less, disposal should be on the best terms available and if 

of more significant value, over £10,000, disposal should be by formal 

offer for sale. 

Page 194



[Type here] 
 

5.94. Disposals of land and property are covered within section 23 of 

Contract Standing Orders 

5.95. Procedures protect staff involved in the disposal from accusations of 

personal gain. 

Responsibilities of the chief finance officer 

5.96. To issue guidelines representing best practice for disposal of assets. 

5.97. To ensure appropriate accounting entries are made to remove the 

value of disposed assets from the authority’s records and to include 

the sale proceeds if appropriate. 

Responsibilities of chief officers 

5.98. To comply with the guidelines representing best practice for the 

disposal of assets issued by the chief finance officer. 

5.99. To ensure that income received for the disposal of an asset equals its 

sale price and is properly banked and accounted for within the 

Council’s financial system. 

Treasury Management 

Why is this important? 

5.100. Many millions of pounds pass through the authority’s accounts 

each year. This has led to the setting up of the CIPFA Code of Practice 

on Treasury Management and the Prudential Code to provide 

assurances that the authority’s money is properly managed in a way 

that balances risk with return, but with the overriding consideration 

being given to the security of the authority’s capital sum. 

Key controls 

5.101. That the authority’s borrowings and investments comply with the 

CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management and with the 

authority’s treasury policy statement. 

Responsibilities of chief finance officer – treasury management and 

banking 

5.102. To arrange the borrowing and investments of the authority in such 

a manner as to comply with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 

Management and the authority’s treasury management policy 

statement and strategy. 

Page 195



[Type here] 
 

5.103. To report quarterly year on treasury management activities to the 

executive. 

5.104. To operate such bank accounts as are considered necessary. Any 

changes to the number of bank accounts operated by the authority 

shall require the approval of the chief finance officer. 

5.105. To use the NatWest Bankline system for treasury management 

activities and ensure appropriate authorisations are in place. Bankline 

transactions can only be input be nominated Accountancy staff and be 

authorised by any of the authorised signatories at the time in 

accordance with Chief Finance Officers delegations for amounts up to 

£10,000 and by any 2 of the authorised signatories at the time in 

accordance with Chief Finance Officers delegations for amounts over 

£10,000. 

Responsibilities of chief officers – treasury management and banking 

5.106. To follow the instructions on banking issued by the chief finance 

officer. 

Responsibilities of chief finance officer – investments and borrowing 

5.107. To ensure that all investments of money are made in the name of 

the authority. 

5.108. To ensure that all securities that are the property of the authority 

or its nominees and the title deeds of all property in the authority’s 

ownership are held in the custody of the appropriate chief officer. 

5.109. To effect all borrowings in the name of the authority. 

5.110. To act as the authority’s registrar of stocks, bonds and mortgages 

and to maintain records of all borrowing of money by the authority. 

Responsibilities of chief officers – investments and borrowing 

5.111. To ensure that loans are not made to third parties and that 

interests are not acquired in companies, joint ventures or other 

enterprises without the approval of the full council, following 

consultation with the chief finance officer. 

Page 196



[Type here] 
 

Responsibilities of chief officers – trust funds and funds held for third 

parties 

5.112. To arrange for all trust funds to be held, wherever possible, in the 

name of the authority. All officers acting as trustees by virtue of their 

official position shall deposit securities, etc. relating to the trust with 

the chief finance officer, unless the trust deed provides otherwise. 

5.113. To arrange, where funds are held on behalf of third parties, for 

their secure administration, approved by the chief finance officer, to 

maintain written records of all transactions and where appropriate 

maintain separate bank accounts. 

5.114. To ensure that trust funds are operated within any relevant 

legislation and the specific requirements for each trust. 

Responsibilities of the chief finance officer – imprest accounts 

5.115. To provide employees of the authority with cash or bank imprest 

accounts to meet minor expenditure on behalf of the authority and to 

prescribe rules for operating these accounts. Minor items of 

expenditure should not exceed £50 unless in exceptional 

circumstances and in advance of the expenditure being incurred. In 

cases where expenditure in excess of £50 is being met from an 

imprest account, then the supporting voucher should be counter-

signed by the respective chief officer. 

5.116. To determine the petty cash limit and to maintain a record of all 

transactions and petty cash advances made, and periodically to review 

the arrangements for the safe custody and control of these advances. 

5.117. To reimburse imprest holders as often as necessary to restore the 

imprests, but normally not more than monthly. 

Responsibilities of chief officers – imprest accounts 

5.118. To ensure that employees operating an imprest account: 

(a) obtain and retain vouchers to support each payment from the 

imprest account. Where appropriate, an official receipted VAT 

invoice must be obtained. 

(b) obtain the approval and signature of a chief officer on any 

voucher supporting expenditure over £50 which is being met from 

an imprest account. 

Page 197



[Type here] 
 

(c) make adequate arrangements for the safe custody of the account. 

(d) produce upon demand by the chief finance officer cash and all 

vouchers to the total value of the imprest amount. 

(e) record transactions promptly. 

(f) reconcile and balance the account at least monthly; reconciliation 

sheets to be signed and retained by the imprest holder. 

(g) provide the chief finance officer with a certificate of the value of 

the account held at 31 March each year. 

(h) ensure that travel and training expenses are not reimbursed 

through an imprest account 

(i) ensure that the float is never used to cash personal cheques or to 

make personal loans and that the only payments into the account 

are the reimbursement of the float and change relating to 

purchases where an advance has been made 

(j) on leaving the authority’s employment or otherwise ceasing to be 

entitled to hold an imprest advance, an employee shall account to 

the chief finance officer for the amount advanced to him or her. 

Staffing 

Why is this important? 

5.119. In order to provide the highest level of service, it is crucial that the 

authority recruits and retains high calibre, knowledgeable staff, 

qualified to an appropriate level. 

Key controls 

5.120. The key controls for staffing are: 

(a) an appropriate staffing strategy and policy exists, in which staffing 

requirements and budget allocation are matched. 

(b) procedures are in place for forecasting staffing requirements and 

their cost. 

(c) controls are implemented that ensure that staff time is used 

efficiently and to the benefit of the authority. 

(d) checks are undertaken prior to employing new staff to ensure that 

they are appropriately qualified, experienced and trustworthy. 

Page 198



[Type here] 
 

Responsibilities of the chief finance officer 

5.121. To act as an advisor to chief officers on areas such as National 

Insurance and pension contributions, as appropriate 

Responsibilities of chief officers 

5.122. To ensure that budget provision exists for all their existing and any 

new employees prior to appointment. 

5.123. To produce an annual staffing budget. 

5.124. To ensure that the staffing budget is an accurate forecast of 

staffing levels and is equated to an appropriate revenue budget 

provision (including on-costs and overheads). 

5.125. To monitor staff activity to ensure adequate control over such 

costs as sickness, overtime, training and temporary staff. 

5.126. To ensure that the staffing budget is not exceeded without due 

authority and that it is managed to enable the agreed level of service 

to be provided. 

5.127. To ensure that the head of human resources and the chief finance 

officer are immediately informed if the staffing budget is likely to be 

materially over- or underspent. 

6. Financial Regulation D – Financial Systems and Procedures 

Introduction 

6.1. Robust systems and procedures are essential to an effective 

framework of accountability and control. 

General 

6.2. The chief finance officer is responsible for the operation of the 

authority’s accounting systems, the form of accounts and the 

supporting financial records. Any changes made by chief officers to 

the existing financial systems or the establishment of new systems 

must be approved by the chief finance officer. However, chief officers 

are responsible for the proper operation of financial processes in their 

own departments. 

6.3. Any changes to agreed procedures by chief officers to meet their own 

specific service needs should be agreed in advance with the chief 

finance officer. 

Page 199



[Type here] 
 

6.4. Chief officers should ensure that their staff receive relevant financial 

training, as approved by the chief finance officer. 

6.5. Chief officers must ensure that, where appropriate, computer and 

other systems are registered in accordance with data protection 

legislation. Chief officers must ensure that staff are aware of their 

responsibilities under freedom of information legislation. 

Income and expenditure – Scheme of delegation 

6.6. It is the responsibility of chief officers to ensure that a proper scheme 

of delegation has been established within their area and is operating 

effectively. The scheme of delegation should identify staff authorised 

to act on the chief officer’s behalf, or on behalf of the executive, in 

respect of payments, income collection and placing orders, together 

with the limits of their authority. The executive is responsible for 

approving procedures for writing off debts as part of the overall 

control framework of accountability and control and in accordance 

with procedures approved by the Chief Finance Officer. 

Payments to employees and Members 

6.7. The chief finance officer is responsible for all payments of salaries and 

wages to all staff, including payments for overtime, Chief officers are 

responsible for authorising these payments as correct and eligible 

payments in accordance with business need, within their allocated 

budgets and in line with the council’s human resources policies. 

6.8. The chief finance officer is responsible for payment of allowances to 

members in accordance with the Scheme of Members Allowances. 

Taxation 

6.9. The chief finance officer is responsible for advising chief officers, in 

the light of guidance issued by appropriate bodies and relevant 

legislation as it applies, on all taxation issues that affect the authority. 

6.10. The chief finance officer is responsible for maintaining the authority’s 

tax records, making all tax payments, receiving tax credits and 

submitting tax returns by their due date as appropriate. 

Trading accounts/Business units 

6.11. It is the responsibility of the chief finance officer to advise on the 

establishment and operation of trading accounts. Such arrangements 

Page 200



[Type here] 
 

are subject to  these financial regulations, contract procedure rules 

and the constitution. 

6.12. It is the responsibility of the chief officer to ensure when setting up 

such arrangements that the executive approve the arrangements, 

setting out whether there is a business case for the work, whether the 

work is a priority, detailing how the work can be managed effectively 

alongside the delivery of other priorities, ensure full cost recovery and 

that no cross subsidisation of activities takes place. 

6.13. It is the responsibility of the chief officer to ensure that the 

management of the trading accounts complies with the criteria, 

relevant accounting policies and is subject to these financial 

regulations. 

General 

Why is this important? 

6.14. Service units have many systems and procedures relating to the 

control of the authority’s assets, including purchasing, costing and 

management systems. Service units are increasingly reliant on 

computers for their financial management information. The 

information must therefore be accurate and the systems and 

procedures sound and well administered. They should contain 

controls to ensure that transactions are properly processed and errors 

detected promptly. 

6.15. The chief finance officer has both a professional and a statutory 

responsibility to ensure that the authority’s financial systems are 

sound and should therefore be notified of any new developments or 

changes. 

Key controls 

6.16. The key controls for systems and procedures are: 

(a) basic data exists to enable the authority’s objectives, targets, 

budgets and plans to be formulated. 

(b) performance is communicated to the appropriate managers on an 

accurate, complete and timely basis. 

(c) early warning is provided of deviations from target, plans and 

budgets that require management attention. 

Page 201



[Type here] 
 

(d) operating systems and procedures are secure. 

Responsibilities of the chief finance officer 

6.17. To make arrangements for the proper administration of the 

authority’s financial affairs, including to: 

(a) issue advice, guidance and procedures for officers and others 

acting on the authority’s behalf. 

(b) determine the accounting systems, form of accounts and 

supporting financial records. 

(c) establish arrangements for audit of the authority’s financial 

affairs. 

(d) approve any new financial systems to be introduced. 

(e) approve any changes to be made to existing financial systems. 

Responsibilities of chief officers 

6.18. To ensure that accounting records are properly maintained and held 

securely. 

6.19. To ensure that vouchers and documents with financial implications 

are not destroyed, except in accordance with arrangements approved 

by the chief finance officer. 

6.20. To ensure that a complete management trail, allowing financial 

transactions to be traced from the accounting records to the original 

document, and vice versa, is maintained. 

6.21. To incorporate appropriate controls to ensure that, where relevant: 

(a) all input is genuine, complete, accurate, timely and not previously 

processed. 

(b) all processing is carried out in an accurate, complete and timely 

manner. 

(c) output from the system is complete, accurate and timely. 

6.22. To ensure that the organisational structure provides for an 

appropriate segregation of duties to provide adequate internal 

controls and to minimise the risk of fraud or other malpractice. 

6.23. To ensure there is a documented and tested disaster recovery plan to 

allow information system processing to resume quickly in the event of 

an interruption. 

Page 202



[Type here] 
 

6.24. To ensure that systems are documented and staff trained in their 

operation. 

6.25. To consult with the chief finance officer before changing any existing, 

or introducing new systems that may change the treatment of 

financial transactions. 

6.26. To establish a scheme of delegation identifying officers authorised to 

act upon the chief officer’s behalf in respect of payments, income 

collection and placing orders, including variations, and showing the 

limits of their authority. 

6.27. To supply the chief finance officer with details of authorised officers, 

delegated limits and where appropriate specimen signatures, together 

with any subsequent variations. 

6.28. To ensure that effective contingency arrangements, including back-up 

procedures, exist for computer systems. Wherever possible, back-up 

information should be securely retained in a fireproof location, 

preferably off site or at an alternative location within the building. 

6.29. To ensure that, where appropriate, computer systems are registered 

in accordance with data protection legislation and that staff are aware 

of their responsibilities under the legislation. 

6.30. To ensure that relevant standards and guidelines for computer 

systems are observed. 

6.31. To ensure that computer equipment and software are protected from 

loss and damage through theft, vandalism, etc. 

6.32. To comply with the copyright, designs and patents legislation and, in 

particular, to ensure that: 

(a) only software legally acquired and installed by the authority is 

used on its computers 

(b) staff are aware of legislative provisions 

(c) in developing systems, due regard is given to the issue of 

intellectual property rights. 

Page 203



[Type here] 
 

Income and expenditure 

Income 

Why is this important? 

6.33. Income can be a vulnerable asset and effective income collection 

systems are necessary to ensure that all income due is identified, 

collected, receipted and banked properly. It is preferable to obtain 

income in advance of supplying goods or services as this improves the 

authority’s cash flow and also avoids the time and cost of 

administering debts. 

Key controls 

6.34. The key controls for income are: 

(a) all income due to the authority is identified and charged correctly, 

in accordance with an approved charging policy, which is regularly 

reviewed. 

(b) all income is collected from the correct person, at the right time, 

using the correct procedures and the appropriate stationery. 

(c) where income is to be collected by raising a sundry debtors 

invoice, there must be nominated debtor officers within that 

department to monitor collection of the debt, receiving and 

commenting on the monthly aged debt report issued by recovery 

team. All sundry debtors invoices are raised only by appropriate 

persons and are correctly recorded, for this purpose the 

authorisation limits are set out in the corporate debt recovery 

policy. 

(d) all money received by an employee on behalf of the authority is 

paid without delay to the chief finance officer or, as he or she 

directs, to the authority’s bank account, and properly recorded. 

The responsibility for cash collection should be separated from 

that: 

• for identifying the amount due, 

• for reconciling the amount due to the amount received. 

(e) effective action is taken to pursue non-payment within defined 

timescales. 

(f) formal approval for debt write-off is obtained. 

Page 204



[Type here] 
 

(g) appropriate debt write-off action is taken within defined 

timescales The relevant Chief Officer agreement of all write offs is 

required before formal agreement of write offs is obtained in 

accordance with the following approval limits; 

• to £50,000 and unlimited in respect of bankruptcies – Chief 

Finance Officer as section 151 officer; 

• over £50,000 – the executive. 

(h) appropriate accounting adjustments are made following write-off 

action. 

(i) all appropriate income documents are retained and stored for the 

defined period in accordance with the document retention 

schedule. 

(j) money collected and deposited is reconciled to the bank account 

by a person who is not involved in the collection or banking 

process. 

Responsibilities of the chief finance officer 

6.35. To agree arrangements for the collection of all income due to the 

authority and to approve the procedures, systems and documentation 

for its collection. 

6.36. To approve the form of all receipt forms, books or tickets and similar 

items and to satisfy himself or herself regarding the arrangements for 

their control. 

6.37. To separate the responsibility for identifying amounts due and the 

responsibility for collection, as far as is practicable. 

6.38. To establish and initiate appropriate recovery procedures, including 

legal action where necessary, for debts that are not paid promptly. 

6.39. To ensure that money collected and deposited is reconciled to the 

bank account on a regular basis. 

6.40. To agree the write-off of bad debts up to £50,000 in each case, and 

unlimited in the case of bankruptcies. 

6.41. To obtain the approval of the executive for writing off debts in excess 

of £50,000. 

6.42. To approve all debts to be written off in consultation with the relevant 

chief officer and to keep a record of all sums written off up to the 

Page 205



[Type here] 
 

approved limit and to adhere to the requirements of the Accounts and 

Audit Regulations 2015. 

6.43. To ensure that appropriate accounting adjustments are made 

following write-off action. 

6.44. To report all write-offs on a quarterly basis to the executive for 

information. 

Responsibilities of chief officers 

6.45. To establish a departmental charging policy for the supply of goods or 

services in conjunction with the chief finance officer that sets out the 

fees and charges levied by the department and the basis of each 

charge. The charging policy should include the appropriate charging of 

VAT, and reviewed annually, in line with corporate policies. 

6.46. To issue official receipts or to maintain other documentation for 

income collection. 

6.47. To hold securely receipts, tickets and other records of income for the 

appropriate period. 

6.48. To lock away all income to safeguard against loss or theft, and to 

ensure the security of cash handling. 

6.49. To ensure that income is paid fully and promptly into the appropriate 

authority bank account in the form in which it is received. Appropriate 

details should be recorded on to paying-in slips to provide an audit 

trail. 

6.50. To ensure income is not used to cash personal cheques or other 

payments. 

6.51. To ensure that details relating to work done, goods supplied, services 

rendered or other amounts due are recorded correctly, the sums due 

to the authority are invoiced promptly and the appropriate 

authorizations are obtained before invoicing takes place. 

Ordering and paying for work, goods and services 

Why is this important? 

6.52. Public money should be spent with demonstrable probity and in 

accordance with the authority’s policies. Authorities have a statutory 

duty to achieve best value in part through economy and efficiency. 

Page 206



[Type here] 
 

The authority’s procedures should help to ensure that services obtain 

value for money from their purchasing arrangements. These 

procedures should be read in conjunction with the authority’s Staff 

Guide to Procurement. 

General 

6.53. Every officer and member of the authority has a responsibility to 

declare any links or personal interests that they may have with 

purchasers, suppliers and/or contractors if they are engaged in 

contractual or purchasing decisions on behalf of the authority, in 

accordance with appropriate codes of conduct. 

6.54. All official orders must be placed on the Authority's financial system. 

Official orders must be issued for all work, goods or services to be 

supplied to the authority. Any exceptions must be agreed with the 

chief finance officer. 

6.55. All orders on receipt must be checked and correctly recorded on the 

Authority's financial system. 

6.56. Apart from petty cash and other payments from advance accounts, 

the normal method of payment from the authority shall be by BACS. 

Any exception to this shall be by agreement with the chief finance 

officer. 

6.57. Official orders must not be raised for any personal or private 

purchases, nor must personal or private use be made of authority 

contracts. 

Key controls 

6.58. The key controls for ordering and paying for work, goods and services 

are: 

(a) all goods and services are ordered only by appropriate persons 

and are correctly recorded.  

(b) all goods and services shall be ordered in accordance with the 

authority’s contract standing orders that includes the 

authorisation limits. 

(c) goods and services received are checked to ensure they are in 

accordance with the order. 

Page 207



[Type here] 
 

(d) payments are not made unless goods have been received by the 

authority to the correct price, quantity and quality standards with 

the exception of internet purchasing where this is agreed in 

advance and reasonable steps are taken to ensure security of the 

payment and terms and conditions allow for returns and refunds. 

(e) all payments are made to the correct person, for the correct 

amount and are properly recorded, regardless of the payment 

method. 

(f) all appropriate evidence of the transaction and payment 

documents are retained and stored for the defined period, in 

accordance with the document retention schedule. 

(g) all expenditure, including VAT, is accurately recorded against the 

right budget and any exceptions are corrected. 

(h) In specific purposes where business need applies, the Chief 

Finance Officer will be authorised to increase the limits for specific 

payments (e.g. Copeland Community Fund) 

(i) In exceptional circumstances where an emergency event 

occurred, standard authorisation process may not be functional. 

Full details of emergency procedures are outlined in the Finance 

Business Continuity Plan held within the Finance Department. 

Responsibilities of the chief finance officer 

6.59. To ensure that all the authority’s financial systems and procedures are 

sound and properly administered. 

6.60. To approve any changes to existing financial systems and to approve 

any new systems before they are introduced. 

6.61. To approve the form of official orders and associated terms and 

conditions. 

6.62. To make payments from the authority’s funds on the chief officer’s 

authorisation that the expenditure has been duly incurred in 

accordance with financial regulations. 

6.63. To make payments, whether or not provision exists within the 

estimates, where the payment is specifically required by statute or is 

made under a court order. 

6.64. To make payments to contractors on the certificate of the appropriate 

chief officer, which must include details of the value of work, 

Page 208



[Type here] 
 

retention money, amounts previously certified and amounts now 

certified. 

6.65. To make payments by the most economical means. There is a 

presumption for electronic payment methods. 

Responsibilities of chief officers 

6.66. To ensure that official orders have a unique reference number and are 

used for all goods and services, other than exceptions agreed with the 

chief finance officer. 

6.67. To ensure that orders are only used for goods and services provided 

to the service unit individuals must not use official orders to obtain 

goods or services for their private use. 

6.68. To ensure that only those staff authorised by him or her approve / 

authorise orders and to maintain a list of such authorised staff, 

identifying in each case the limits of their authority. 

6.69. To ensure that goods and services are checked on receipt to verify 

that they are in accordance with the order. This check should, where 

possible, be carried out by a different officer from the person who 

authorised the order. Where appropriate entries should then be made 

in inventories or stores records. 

6.70. To ensure that payment is not made unless a proper VAT invoice has 

been received, checked, coded and certified for payment, confirming: 

(a) receipt of goods or services, 

(b) that the invoice has not previously been paid, 

(c) that expenditure has been properly incurred and is within budget 

provision, 

(d) that prices and arithmetic are correct and accord with quotations, 

tenders, contracts or catalogue prices, 

(e) correct accounting treatment of tax, 

(f) that the invoice is correctly coded 

(g) that discounts have been taken where available 

(h) that appropriate entries will be made in accounting records. 

6.71.  To ensure that two authorised members of staff are involved in the 

ordering and receiving process. 

Page 209



[Type here] 
 

6.72. To ensure that the department maintains and reviews periodically a 

list of staff approved to authorise invoices. Names of authorising 

officers and details of the limits of their authority shall be forwarded 

to the chief finance officer. 

6.73. To ensure that payments are not made on a statement or other 

document other than the formal invoice. 

6.74. To ensure that the department obtains best value from purchases by 

taking appropriate steps to obtain competitive prices for goods and 

services of the appropriate quality, with regard to the best practice 

guidelines issued by the Corporate Procurement Team, which are in 

line with best value principles and contained in the authority’s Staff 

Guide to Procurement. 

6.75. To utilise the central purchasing procedures established by the 

Council in putting purchases, where appropriate, out to competitive 

quotation or tender as outlined in the Contract Standing Orders and 

Staff Guide to Procurement. 

6.76. To ensure that employees are aware of the national code of conduct 

for local government employees. 

6.77. To notify the chief finance officer of outstanding expenditure relating 

to the previous financial year as soon as possible after 31 March in 

line with the timetable determined by the chief finance officer. 

6.78. With regard to contracts for construction and alterations to buildings 

and for civil engineering works, to document and agree with the chief 

finance officer the systems and procedures to be adopted in relation 

to financial aspects, including certification of interim and final 

payments, checking, recording and authorising payments, the system 

for monitoring and controlling capital schemes and the procedures for 

validation of subcontractors’ tax status. 

6.79. To notify the chief finance officer immediately of any expenditure to 

be incurred as a result of statute/court order where there is no 

budgetary provision. 

6.80. To ensure that all appropriate payment records are retained and 

stored for the defined period, in accordance with the document 

retention schedule. 

Page 210



[Type here] 
 

Payments to employees and Members 

Why is this important? 

6.81. Staff costs are the largest item of expenditure for most authority 

services. It is therefore important that payments are accurate, timely, 

made only where they are due for services to the authority and that 

payments accord with individuals’ conditions of employment. It is also 

important that all payments are accurately and completely recorded 

and accounted for and that members’ allowances are authorised in 

accordance with the scheme adopted by the full council. 

Key controls 

6.82. The key controls for payments to employees and members are: 

(a) proper authorisation procedures are in place and that there is 

adherence to corporate timetables in relation to: 

• starters 

• leavers 

• variations 

• Enhancements 

and that payments are made on the basis of timesheets or claims. 

(b) frequent reconciliation of payroll expenditure against approved budget 

and bank account. 

(c) all appropriate payroll documents are retained and stored for the 

defined period in accordance with the document retention schedule. 

(d) that Inland Revenue regulations are complied with. 

Responsibilities of the chief finance officer 

6.83. To arrange and control secure and reliable payment of salaries, wages, 

compensation or other emoluments to existing and former 

employees, in accordance with procedures prescribed by him or her, 

on the due date. 

6.84. To record and make arrangements for the accurate and timely 

payment of tax, superannuation and other deductions. 

6.85. To make arrangements for payment of all travel and subsistence 

claims or financial loss allowance. 

6.86. To make arrangements for paying members travel or other allowances 

upon receiving the prescribed form, duly completed and authorised. 

Page 211



[Type here] 
 

6.87. To provide secure payment of salaries and wages by the most 

economical means. 

6.88. To ensure that there are adequate arrangements for administering 

superannuation matters on a day-to-day basis. 

6.89. To ensure that the payroll provider is provided with signatures of 

personnel officers and officers authorised to sign timesheets and 

claims. 

6.90. To ensure that all appropriate payroll documents are retained and 

stored for the defined period in accordance with the document 

retention schedule. 

Responsibilities of chief officers 

6.91. To ensure appointments are made in accordance with the regulations 

of the authority and approved establishments, grades and scale of pay 

and that adequate budget provision is available. 

6.92. To notify the relevant Chief officer of all appointments, terminations 

or variations which may affect the pay or pension of an employee or 

former employee, in the form and to the timescale required by the 

chief finance officer. 

6.93. To ensure that adequate and effective systems and procedures are 

operated, so that: 

• payments are only authorised to bona fide employees, 

• payments are only made where there is a valid entitlement, 

• conditions and contracts of employment are correctly applied, 

• employees’ names listed on the payroll are checked at regular 

intervals to verify accuracy and completeness. 

6.94. To send an up-to-date list of the names of officers authorised to sign 

records to the chief finance officer, together with specimen 

signatures. 

6.95. To ensure that payroll transactions are processed only through the 

payroll system. Chief officers should give careful consideration to the 

employment status of individuals employed on a self-employed 

consultant or subcontract basis. The Inland Revenue applies a tight 

definition for employee status, and in cases of doubt, advice should be 

sought from the chief finance officer. 

Page 212



[Type here] 
 

6.96. To certify travel and subsistence claims and other allowances. 

Certification is taken to mean that journeys were authorised and 

expenses properly and necessarily incurred, and that allowances are 

properly payable by the authority, ensuring that cost effective use of 

travel arrangements is achieved. Due consideration should be given to 

tax implications and that the chief finance officer is informed where 

appropriate. 

6.97. To ensure that the chief finance officer is notified of the details of any 

employee benefits in kind, to enable full and complete reporting 

within the income tax self-assessment system. 

Responsibilities of members 

6.98. To submit claims for members’ travel and subsistence allowances on a 

monthly basis and, in any event, within one month of the year end. No 

payment will be made on travel and expenses over 3 months old 

unless agreed by the chief finance officer. 

Taxation 

Why is this important? 

6.99. Like all organisations, the authority is responsible for ensuring its tax 

affairs are in order. Tax issues are often very complex and the 

penalties for incorrectly accounting for tax are severe. It is therefore 

very important for all officers to be aware of their role. 

Key controls 

6.100. The key controls for taxation are: 

(a) budget managers are provided with relevant information and kept 

up to date on tax issues, 

(b) budget managers are instructed on required record keeping, 

(c) all taxable transactions are identified, properly carried out and 

accounted for within stipulated timescales, 

(d) records are maintained in accordance with instructions, 

(e) returns are made to the appropriate authorities within the 

stipulated timescale. 

Responsibilities of the chief finance officer 

6.101. To complete all Inland Revenue returns regarding PAYE. 

Page 213



[Type here] 
 

6.102. To complete a monthly return of VAT inputs and outputs to HM 

Customs and Excise. To provide details to the Inland Revenue 

regarding the construction industry tax deduction scheme. 

6.103. To maintain up-to-date guidance for authority employees on 

taxation issues. 

6.104. To maintain and monitor the Council’s partial exemption position. 

Responsibilities of chief officers 

6.105. To ensure (in conjunction with the chief finance officer) that the 

correct VAT liability is attached to all income due and that all VAT 

recoverable on purchases complies with HM Customs and Excise 

regulations. 

6.106. To ensure that, where construction and maintenance works are 

undertaken, the contractor fulfils the necessary construction industry 

tax deduction requirements. 

6.107. To ensure that all persons employed by the authority are added to 

the authority’s payroll and tax deducted from any payments, except 

where the individuals are bona-fide self-employed or are employed by 

a recognised staff agency. 

6.108. To follow the guidance on taxation issued by the chief finance 

officer. 

7. Financial Regulation E - External Arrangements 

Introduction 

7.1. The local authority provides a distinctive leadership role for the 

community and brings together the contributions of the various 

stakeholders. It must also act to achieve the promotion or 

improvement of the economic, social or environmental well-being of 

its area. 

Partnerships 

7.2. The executive is responsible for approving delegations, including 

frameworks for partnerships. The executive is the focus for forming 

partnerships with other local public, private, voluntary and 

community sector organisations to address local needs. 

Page 214



[Type here] 
 

7.3. The executive can delegate functions – including those relating to 

partnerships – to officers. These are set out in the scheme of 

delegation that forms part of the authority’s constitution. Where 

functions are delegated, the executive remains accountable for them 

to the full council. 

7.4. The head of paid service and chief officers represent the authority on 

partnership and external bodies, in accordance with the scheme of 

delegation. 

7.5. The monitoring officer is responsible for promoting and maintaining 

the same high standards of conduct with regard to governance, 

decision making and behaviour in partnerships as those that apply 

throughout the authority. 

7.6. The chief officers with the approval of the chief finance officer must 

ensure that the accounting arrangements to be adopted relating to 

partnerships and joint ventures are satisfactory. He or she must also 

consider the overall corporate governance arrangements and legal 

issues when arranging contracts with external bodies. He or she must 

ensure that the risks have been fully appraised before agreements are 

entered into with external bodies. 

7.7. Chief officers are responsible for ensuring that the chief financial 

officer is fully consulted and appropriate executive/ full council 

approvals are obtained before any negotiations are concluded in 

relation to work with external bodies. 

External funding 

7.8. The chief finance officer is responsible for ensuring that all funding 

notified by external bodies is received and properly recorded in the 

authority’s accounts. 

Work for third parties 

7.9. The executive is responsible for approving the contractual 

arrangements for any work for third parties or external bodies. 

External Funding 

Why is this important? 

7.10. External funding is potentially a very important source of income, but 

funding conditions need to be carefully considered to ensure that they 

Page 215



[Type here] 
 

are compatible with the aims and objectives of the authority. Local 

authorities are increasingly encouraged to provide seamless service 

delivery through working closely with other agencies and private 

service providers. Funds from external agencies such as the National 

Lottery provide additional resources to enable the authority to deliver 

services to the local community. However, in some instances, 

although the scope for external funding has increased, such funding is 

linked to tight specifications and may not be flexible enough to link to 

the authority’s overall plan in addition there may be specific claw back 

conditions attached to the award of any grants should the necessary 

outcomes not be achieved. 

Key controls 

7.11. The key controls for external funding are: 

(a) to ensure that key conditions of funding and any statutory 

requirements are complied with. 

(b) that if the council bids for and subsequently accepts external 

funding, the following approval limits apply; 

• external funding up to £20,000 – relevant Chief Officer in 

consultation with the chief finance officer and relevant portfolio 

holder; 

• external funding from £20,000 - £75,000 –head of paid service in 

consultation with the chief finance officer 

• external funding  £75,001 - £150,000 – head of paid service in 

consultation chief finance officer with the relevant portfolio 

holder 

• external funding  £150,001- £250,000 Executive 

• external funding £250,001 - £500,000 the Chief Executive with the 

consents of the Section 151 Officer, the Mayor and the Chair of 

the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Chair of latter may refer 

matter to full Committee for a view; if any consent is not given 

then decision to accept lies with Council) 

• external funding over £ above £500,000 – Council. 

(c) that if the council accepts accountable body status for external 

funding that the responsibilities arising from that decision are 

clearly understood. Accountable body status can only be accepted 

if the following approvals are in place; 

Page 216



[Type here] 
 

• external funding up to £20,000 – relevant Chief Officer in 

consultation with the chief finance officer and relevant portfolio 

holder; 

• external funding from £20,000 - £75,000 –head of paid service in 

consultation with the chief finance officer 

• external funding  £75,001 - £150,000 – head of paid service in 

consultation chief finance officer with the relevant portfolio 

holder 

• external funding  £150,001- £250,000 Executive 

• external funding £250,001 - £500,000 the Chief Executive with the 

consents of the Section 151 Officer, the Mayor and the Chair of 

the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Chair of latter may refer 

matter to full Committee for a view; if any consent is not given 

then decision to accept lies with Council) 

• external funding over £ above £500,000 – Council. 

 

Urgent action rules will apply on those occasions when quick decisions 

are required that do not tie in with scheduled meeting dates. 

(d) to ensure that funds are acquired only to meet the priorities 

approved in the policy framework by the full council. 

(e) to ensure that any match-funding requirements are given due 

consideration prior to entering into long-term agreements and 

that future revenue budgets reflect these requirements. 

(f) to ensure that, where appropriate (in the view of the decision 

maker) a management fee is charged for the costs of 

administering such accountable bodies 

(g) to ensure that any claw back conditions are considered prior to 

accepting the grant. 

Responsibilities of the chief finance officer 

7.12. To ensure that all funding notified by external bodies is received and 

properly recorded in the authority’s accounts. 

7.13. To ensure that the level of external funding and the arrangements for 

the payment of the funding, together with any claw back conditions, 

does not present a risk to the councils own cash flow or financial and 

budget position. 

Page 217



[Type here] 
 

7.14. To ensure the appropriate management fee is applied to accountable 

body arrangements to cover the costs of administration. 

Responsibilities of chief officers 

7.15. To ensure that the match-funding requirements are considered prior 

to entering into the agreements and that future revenue budgets 

reflect these requirements. 

7.16. To ensure that audit requirements and terms and conditions of the 

grants are met. 

7.17. To provide quarterly update reports on accountable body spend, 

performance against grant and external conditions and the progress 

on deliver. Any risk of non payment should be highlighted 

7.18. To ensure that the approval limits for external funding bids and 

acceptance are followed. 

7.19. To ensure that all claims for funds are made by the due date. 

7.20. To ensure that the project progresses in accordance with the agreed 

project and that all expenditure is properly incurred and recorded. 

7.21. To ensure that the project progresses in accordance with the agreed 

project and that all expenditure is properly incurred and recorded. 

Work for third parties 

Why is this important? 

7.22. Current legislation enables the authority to provide a range of services 

to other bodies. Such work may enable a unit to maintain economies 

of scale and existing expertise. 

7.23. Arrangements should be in place to ensure that any risks associated 

with this work is minimised and that such work can legally be carried 

out by the authority. 

Key controls 

7.24. The key controls for working with third parties are: 

(a) to ensure that the costs and income arising from any proposals 

are properly calculated in accordance with guidance provided by 

the chief finance officer. 

Page 218



[Type here] 
 

(b) to ensure that contracts are drawn up using guidance provided by 

the  Solicitor and that the formal approvals process is adhered to. 

The approval limits for costs and income for this type of work as 

set out in the contract procedure rules. 

(c) to issue guidance with regard to the financial aspects of third 

party contracts and the maintenance of the contract register. 

Responsibilities of chief finance officer 

7.25. To issue guidance with regard to the financial aspects of third party 

contracts and the maintenance of the contract register. 

Responsibilities of chief officers 

7.26. To ensure that all necessary approvals are obtained before any 

negotiations are concluded to work for third parties. 

7.27. To maintain a register of all contracts entered into with third parties in 

accordance with procedures specified by the chief finance officer. 

7.28. To ensure that appropriate insurance arrangements are made. 

7.29. To ensure that the authority is not put at risk from any bad debts. 

7.30. To ensure that no contract is subsidised by the authority. 

7.31. To ensure that, wherever possible, payment is received in advance of 

the delivery of the service. 

7.32. To ensure that the service unit has the appropriate expertise to 

undertake the contract. 

7.33. To ensure that such contracts do not impact adversely upon the 

services provided for the authority. 

7.34. To ensure that all contracts are properly documented. 

7.35. To provide appropriate information to the chief finance officer to 

enable a note to be entered into the statement of accounts. 

Page 219



This page is intentionally left blank



Council: 28th July 2021 
 
FINANCIAL MATTERS RELATING TO COVID-19 – DISTRIBUTION OF FURTHER 
CENTRAL GOVERNMENT ‘ADDITIONAL RESTRICTIONS GRANT SCHEME’ – 
NOTING OF URGENT ACTION 
 
Executive member:  Mike Starkie, Mayor (Portfolio Holder for Finance). 
Lead Officer:   Steven Brown, Director of Financial Resources. 
Report Author:   Clinton Boyce, Solicitor. 
 
SUMMARY 
 
This report updates Council on a decision made by the Chief Executive, in 
accordance with chapters 7 and 19 of the Constitution (matters outside 
budget/urgent business), relating to financial matters as a result of Covid-19. 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION:  That the urgent action taken by the Chief Executive as 
attached to this report be noted.  
 

 
1.   INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1. Council will recall receiving a report on the 15th December 2020 advising 

them of central Government funding which was being received to assist 
the Council in dealing with the Covid-19 outbreak and to support local 
businesses affected by lock downs and restrictions. 
 

1.2. That report noted that the Government had made payments to the  
Council in mid-November of two amounts one of which was a payment 
of £1,363,660 under the Additional Restrictions Grant Scheme (ARG). 

 
1.3. Chapter 20 of the Constitution which dealt with Covid-19 issues and 

virtual meetings allowed grants to be received into budget without 
Council approval. A further ARG sum of £605,673 was received from 
Government during the third national lockdown in January 2021 and 
received into budget in accordance with that chapter 20 and applied in 
accordance with the criteria reported in December 2020.  
 

Page 221

Agenda Item 6



1.4. Chapter 20 expired on the 7th May 2021 with the expiry of the virtual 
meetings secondary legislation meaning that receipt of external funds 
dealing with Covid-19 issues now needs to be dealt with in accordance 
with the remainder of the Constitution. 

 
1.5 A further ARG grant is due to be received in the sum £444,277 in July 

2021. It is intended to launch the new scheme from the 12 July 2021. 
Given the importance of continuing to promptly support local businesses  
the Chief Executive, with the agreement of the Mayor and Chair of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee agreed to use the urgent action 
procedure set out in the Constitution to receive and approve spend of 
the grant. Chapter 7 allows the Chief Executive to make a decision 
contrary to approved budget if the decision is a matter of urgency 
provided a quorate meeting of Council is not practical and the Chair of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee agrees. Further, chapter 19 allows 
urgent action to be taken by the Chief Executive where it is impractical 
to convene a meeting of the Executive or a Committee provided that 
relevant officers and members are consulted. The Section 151 Officer, 
the Monitoring Officer, the Solicitor, the Elected Mayor and the Chair of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee were consulted and agreed with 
the proposed action. 

 
1.6  With such agreement the Chief Executive made the decision to receive 

the section 31 grant for the total amount of £444,277 (with the 
consequential increase to the Council’s budget) and to distribute it in 
accordance with advice from Government and the policy attached to the 
urgent action decision. 

 
1.7 The urgent action taken by the Chief Executive on the 1st July 2021 is 

attached to this report. Council is asked to note the action taken. 
 
2.  STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS 
 
2.1.  Monitoring Officer/Legal Comments: No legal issues arise from the 

report.  
 

2.2  Section 151 Officer’s comments: The financial implications are contained 
in the report and officer urgent decision record appended. 

 
2.3  EIA Comments: Not applicable. 

Page 222



 
2.4  Policy Framework: Not applicable. 
 
2.5  Other Consultee comments, if any: None. 
 
3.  RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS 
 

Contained within the report. The grants are being administered by 
Revenues and Benefits staff. 

 
4. HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS BE PROJECT MANAGED AND HOW ARE 

THE RISKS GOING TO BE MANAGED? 
 

The proposals will be managed by Director of Financial Resources. 
 
5.  WHAT MEASURABLE OUTCOMES OR OUTPUTS WILL ARISE FROM THIS 

REPORT? 
 

Contained within the body of the report and supporting businesses 
continuing to be affected by lockdown and Covid-19 
restrictions/precautions. 

 
Appendices: 
Appendix A: Officer decision record; and 
Appendix B: ARG Policy. 
 
Background information: 
As Appendices and section 31 grant determination. 

Page 223



This page is intentionally left blank



OFFICER DECISION RECORD 

Receipt and spend of grant for business support  

 
Officer:   
 
Pat Graham, Chief Executive 
 

 
Service:   
 
Revenues and Benefits 

 
Delegated Power Being Exercised/Subject of Decision:   
 
(a)    The receiving and distributing of a section 31 grant for £444,277 under the 
Additional Restrictions Grant scheme (‘ARG’). The budget is set to increase  by that sum; 
and 
 
(b) The decision to distribute the above grants to all qualifying businesses in accordance 
with the attached policy document.   
 
Decisions (a) and (b) permitted by paragraph 4 of the Budget and Policy Framework Rules 
contained within chapter 7 of the Constitution which allows the Chief Executive or the 
Executive to make a decision not in accordance with approved budget where it is not 
practical to convene a quorate meeting of Council and the Chair of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee agrees that the matter is urgent.  
 

 
Background information:   
 

1.  In response to the restrictions imposed on 5 November 2020, the government 
announced that there would be support for businesses unable to access other 
grant funding. This grant fund is referred to as the Additional Restrictions Grant 
(ARG) scheme. 

 
2. Copeland was awarded £1,363,660 under tranche 1, which coincided with the 

second national lockdown between 5 November 2020 and 2 December 2020. This 
was topped up during the third national lockdown in January 2021 by £605,673. 
The third tranche of funding will be paid in July 2021 - Copeland will receive 
£444,277.  

 
3. Councils are unable to access the third tranche of funding until the first two 

allocations have been distributed to businesses. Councils have been given until 30 
July 2021 to use the first two allocations.  
 

4. Copeland has distributed £1,969,333 and has submitted a request to Government 
for the final payment of £444,277. 
 

 

Page 225



 
5. A small amount of the final payment will be used to ensure bespoke advice is 

available for Copeland’s businesses. The remainder will be used to pay direct 
discretionary grants to those that meet the conditions set out in the refreshed 
ARG policy document attached.  
 

6. The following businesses will be supported under this scheme: 
 

i. Businesses with fixed property costs that are specifically excluded from the 
business rates system, or are not the direct ratepayer and are therefore 
not eligible for the Restart Grant, including B&Bs registered for council tax 
or small businesses in shared spaces with fixed costs who provide in-
person services, including hair and beauty businesses; 
 

ii. Freelance and mobile businesses, including caterers, event organisers, 
personal care and wedding related businesses;  

 
iii. Transport and travel businesses, including travel agents, coach and group 

travel operators, couriers and taxi drivers; 
 

iv. Wholesalers or supply chain companies supplying the non-essential retail, 
leisure and hospitality sectors, including breweries; 

 
v. Sector specific businesses that are impacted following the decision to delay 

stage 4 of the government roadmap, including those businesses that have 
received a Restart Grant, such as theatres and nightclubs; 

 
vi. Any other business not covered above with fixed costs, which is able to 

demonstrate that they have been severely impacted by the phased lifting 
of restrictions and/or postponement of reopening linked to the 
government roadmap only. Or, where they have been mandated to isolate 
by a test and trace service, due to testing positive or coming into contact 
with someone who has tested positive, and they must close the business 
completely. Businesses will be asked for further evidence if applying under 
this section.  

 
7. Copeland will launch the new scheme from 12 July 2021. 

 
8. On 4 March 2021 new subsidy allowances were established for the COVID-19 

business grant schemes. This scheme is covered by three subsidy allowances: 
 

 Small Amounts of Financial Assistance Allowance 
 COVID-19 Business Grant Allowance 
 COVID-19 Business Grant Special Allowance 

 
9. Copeland Borough Council will maintain a record of grant expenditure under this 

scheme.  

Page 226



 
Decision on urgency: 
 
This matter cannot wait until the 27th July 2021 (Executive) and 28th July (Council). Most 
people are affected by Covid-19 one way or another and many are suffering financial 
strain as a result of it. Any support to be offered needs to be provided quickly.  The 
Guidance issued to local authorities is available via this link -   
 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachme
nt_data/file/984335/additional-restrictions-grant-la-guidance.pdf 
 
The decision is of two parts – to amend the budget to record receipt of the grants and to 
distribute the grant in accordance with Government guidance. 
 
In view of the above I agree that the decision is urgent. 
 
Authorised by email dated 1st July 2021 from Councillor John Kane, Chair, Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee: 
 
-----Original Message----- 
From: Cllr John Kane <John.Kane@copeland.gov.uk>  
Sent: 01 July 2021 07:56 
To: Clinton Boyce <Clinton.Boyce@copeland.gov.uk> 
Subject: Re: Urgent - COVID Business Grant Support - Approval to Distribute Grants to Businesses - 
ARG 
 
Clinton, 
 
No problem please proceed. 
 
John  

 
 

 
Others consulted: 
 
(1)   Section 151 Officer:  authorised by email dated 1st July 2021 from Steven Brown, 
section 151 officer: 
 
From: Steven Brown <Steven.Brown@copeland.gov.uk>  
Sent: 01 July 2021 09:49 
To: Clinton Boyce <Clinton.Boyce@copeland.gov.uk> 
Subject: RE: Urgent - COVID Business Grant Support - Approval to Distribute Grants to Businesses - 
ARG 
 
Yeah ok to this too thanks 

 
 
 

Page 227

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/984335/additional-restrictions-grant-la-guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/984335/additional-restrictions-grant-la-guidance.pdf


(2)   Monitoring Officer: authorised by email dated 30th June 2021 from Sarah Pemberton, 
Director of Corporate Resources and Commercial Strategy: 
 
From: Sarah Pemberton <Sarah.Pemberton@copeland.gov.uk>  
Sent: 30 June 2021 13:53 
To: Clinton Boyce <Clinton.Boyce@copeland.gov.uk>; Steven Brown 
<Steven.Brown@copeland.gov.uk>; Cllr John Kane <John.Kane@copeland.gov.uk>; Mike Starkie 
<Mike.Starkie@copeland.gov.uk> 
Cc: Janet Sinnott <Janet.Sinnott@copeland.gov.uk> 
Subject: RE: Urgent - COVID Business Grant Support - Approval to Distribute Grants to Businesses - 
ARG 
 
Clint 
 
Happy to proceed as detailed – agreed. 

 
 
 
(3)   Solicitor:  Agreed, 30th June 2021. 
 

 
Mayor’s approval: 
 
I agree with the amendment to the Council’s budget to receive the grant of £444,277 for 
the ARG scheme and to the distribution of that grant as advised by Government. 
 
Authorised by email dated 30th June 2021 from Mike Starkie, Elected Mayor: 
 
From: Mike Starkie <Mike.Starkie@copeland.gov.uk>  
Sent: 30 June 2021 11:56 
To: Clinton Boyce <Clinton.Boyce@copeland.gov.uk> 
Cc: Steven Brown <Steven.Brown@copeland.gov.uk>; Sarah Pemberton 
<Sarah.Pemberton@copeland.gov.uk>; Cllr John Kane <John.Kane@copeland.gov.uk>; Janet 
Sinnott <Janet.Sinnott@copeland.gov.uk> 
Subject: RE: Urgent - COVID Business Grant Support - Approval to Distribute Grants to Businesses - 
ARG 
 

Thanks Clinton  
 
Happy to proceed as detailed  
 
Mike  
 

 
Decision to be taken: 
 
To receive a section 31 grant for £444,277 (with the consequential increase to the 
Council’s budget) and to distribute it as advised by Government and in accordance with 
the attached policy document. 

Page 228



 
Reasons for the decision (specify all reasons for taking the decisions including where 
necessary reference to Council policy): 
 
It is necessary to deliver the Government’s response to Covid-19 in relation to business 
support. 
 

 
Alternative options considered (if appropriate) 
 
None. 
 

 
Whether any conflict of interest arose whether of the decision maker or any consultee 
in the decision and if any was declared whether the head of paid service granted a 
dispensation: 
 
None. 
 

 
Background/Reports/Information considered and attached (legal, personnel, financial 
implications, etc.) 
 
COVID-19 Business Support Grant Funding Schemes– Local Authority Guidance – 
Additional Restrictions Grant Scheme (updated 16 June 2021 version). 
 

 
Approval 
 
I agree, and make the decision as set out above, to receive a section 31 grant for the total 
amount of £444,277 (with the consequential increase to the Council’s budget) and to 
distribute as advised by Government and in accordance with the attached policy 
document.  
 
Authorised by email dated 1st July 2021 from Pat Graham, Chief Executive: 
 
From: Clinton Boyce <Clinton.Boyce@copeland.gov.uk>  
Sent: 01 July 2021 10:35 
To: Pat Graham <Pat.Graham@copeland.gov.uk> 
Cc: Janet Sinnott <Janet.Sinnott@copeland.gov.uk> 
Subject: Covid-19 business grant support  
 
Pat 
 
Please see attached. All self-explanatory. Are you happy to authorise as an urgent action. If yes, 
the decision, as taken, will be reported to the next Council meeting. 
 
Thanks. 

Page 229

mailto:Clinton.Boyce@copeland.gov.uk
mailto:Pat.Graham@copeland.gov.uk
mailto:Janet.Sinnott@copeland.gov.uk


 
Clint. 

 
 
From: Pat Graham <Pat.Graham@copeland.gov.uk>  
Sent: 01 July 2021 10:49 
To: Clinton Boyce <Clinton.Boyce@copeland.gov.uk> 
Cc: Janet Sinnott <Janet.Sinnott@copeland.gov.uk> 
Subject: RE: Covid-19 business grant support  
 

yes 
 
Pat Graham 
Chief Executive 
 
 

 

 

Page 230



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Additional Restriction Grant  

 Policy Document – July 2021 
 

 
 

 

 

Version: Final  
Policy Date: July 2021 
Strategy date: Nov 20 – March 22 
 
 
 

Page 231



Discretionary Grant Fund 

Page 2 of 10 

2 
 

Document Control  
 

Organisation Copeland Borough Council 

Title Local Authority Discretionary Grant Fund 

Version 1 

Author Janet Sinnott 

Filename ARG Discretionary Grant Fund – Tranche 3 

Owner Steven Brown 

Subject  

Protective Marking  

Review Date March 22 

 
Note: This document is uncontrolled if printed or reproduced 
 

Revision History 
 

Version 
Reviewed 

Date Reviewed Reviewed By Description of Revision 

    

 

Document Approval  
 

Version Approved By Date 

 Human Resources  

 Corporate Leadership Team  

 Trade Union Consultation  

 Executive  

 Full Council  

 

Document Distribution 
 
This policy is to be distributed to all staff and elected members of Copeland Borough Council 
and placed on the Council’s Intranet Site. A copy must also be provided to contractors and 3rd 
parties undertaking work on Copeland Borough Council premises.   
 

Contributors 
 

 

Janet Sinnott Revenues Team Leader 

  

  

  

  

Page 232



Discretionary Grant Fund 

Page 3 of 10 

3 
Contents 

 
Title ....................................................................................................................... 1 
Date ....................................................................................................................... 1 
Document Control ................................................................................................. 2 

Revision History ................................................................................................. 2 
Document Approval ........................................................................................... 2 
Document Distribution ...................................................................................... 2 
Contributors ....................................................................................................... 2 

Contents ................................................................................................................ 3 
Purpose ................................................................................................................. 4 
Policy Benefits ....................................................................................................... 4 
Introduction .......................................................................................................... 4 
Scope ..................................................................................................................... 4 
Policy Details Including Procedure……………………………………………………………………. 5 
Monitoring of Policy Adherance……………………………………………………………………. 10  
 
 

Page 233

file://///cbc-shareserv/Policy%20and%20Transformation/Change%20Programme%20Board/Business%20Theme/Working%20Differently/Policies/Policy%20Template.doc%23_Toc433618858


Discretionary Grant Fund 

Page 4 of 10 

4 
1.  Purpose 
 

1.1 This document is a revision to the first Additional Restrictions Grant (ARG) 
scheme, and details the revised eligibility criteria that will apply to the third 
tranche of ARG funding, which relates specifically to the reopening of 
businesses in line with the roadmap, effective from 1 April 2021 onwards.  

 

2. Policy Benefits  
 

2.1  ARG funding aims to support businesses severely impacted by COVID-19 
restrictions. This may primarily take the form of discretionary grants to 
businesses, but Local Authorities can also use the funding for wider 
business support measures.  

 

3.  Introduction 
 

3.1 In response to the restrictions imposed on 5 November 2020, the 
government announced that there would be support for businesses that 
were unable to access other grant funding.  

   
3.2 Copeland was awarded £1,363,660 under tranche 1, which coincided with 

the second national lockdown between 5 November 2020 and 2 December 
2020. This was topped up during the third national lockdown in January 
2021 by £605,673. The third tranche of funding will be paid in July 2021 
and Copeland is due to receive £444,277.  

 
3.3 Councils are unable to access the third tranche of funding until the first 

two allocations have been distributed to businesses. Councils have been 
given until 30 July 2021 to use the first two allocations.  

 
3.4 Copeland has distributed £1,969,333 and has submitted a request to 

Government for the final payment of £444,277.  
 
3.5 A small amount of the third tranche will be used to ensure bespoke advice 

is available for Copeland’s businesses. The remainder will be used to pay 
direct discretionary grants to those that meet the conditions set out in this 
policy.  

 
3.6 To date, the ARG scheme has supported approximately 350 local 

businesses with a regular monthly payment since the second national 
lockdown. In total 1,776 grants have been awarded under this scheme.  

 

Page 234



Discretionary Grant Fund 

Page 5 of 10 

5 
3.7 The final payment of £444,277 must be used before 31 March 2022.   
  

4.  Policy Details Including Procedures 
 

4.1 Eligible Businesses 
 
4.2 Businesses must be trading in order to access grant funding. Previously 

eligible trading dates were provided for each of the grant schemes. This is 
no longer the case. For the purpose of this grant scheme, a business is 
considered to be trading if it is engaged in business activity. This should be 
interpreted as carrying on a trade or profession, or buying and selling 
goods in order to generate turnover. Other trading indicators are: 

 
i. The business has staff on furlough; 
ii. The business trades on-line or via click and collect; 
iii. The business is engaged in business activity such as managing 

accounts and preparing for re-opening by planning and 
implementing COVID safe measures.  

 
4.3      The following businesses will be supported under this scheme: 
 

i. Businesses with fixed property costs that are specifically excluded 
from the business rates system, or are not the direct ratepayer and 
are therefore not eligible for the Restart Grant, including B&Bs 
registered for council tax or small businesses in shared spaces with 
fixed costs who provide in-person services, including hair and beauty 
businesses; 

ii. Freelance and mobile businesses, including caterers, event 
organisers, personal care and wedding related businesses;  

iii. Transport and travel businesses, including travel agents, coach and 
group travel operators, couriers and taxi drivers; 

iv. Wholesalers or supply chain companies supplying the non-essential 
retail, leisure and hospitality sectors, including breweries; 

v. Sector specific businesses that are impacted following the decision 
to delay stage 4 of the government roadmap, including those 
businesses that have received a Restart Grant, such as theatres and 
nightclubs; 

vi. Any other business not covered above with fixed costs, which is able 
to demonstrate that they have been severely impacted by the 
phased lifting of restrictions and/or postponement of reopening 
linked to the government roadmap only. Or, where they have been 

Page 235



Discretionary Grant Fund 

Page 6 of 10 

6 
mandated to isolate by a test and trace service, due to testing 
positive or coming into contact with someone who has tested 
positive, and they must close the business completely. Businesses 
will be asked for further evidence if applying under this section.  

 
 

5.0  Ineligible Businesses 
 

5.1 The following businesses are ineligible for funding under this scheme: 
 
i. Businesses that are not based in Copeland, or where the majority of 

trade operates outside of Copeland;  
ii. Businesses that are insolvent or where a striking off notice has been 

made; 
iii. Businesses that have already received grants that equal the 

maximum permitted levels of subsidy; 
iv. Businesses that are attempting to use ARG funding as a wage 

support mechanism, rather than direct support for the business;  
v. Residential landlords, as it is appropriate for tenants in arrears to 

access the relevant government support such as Universal Credit and 
Housing Benefit to help with housing costs.  

 
 

6.  Grant Amount 
 
6.1 Awards under the Additional Restrictions Grant fund are cash limited and 

therefore expenditure will not exceed the amount determined under 3.7 of 
this policy.  

 
6.2 If the fund is oversubscribed, the Council reserve the right to amend grant 

levels based on applications received and approved.  
 
6.3 Any changes to grant amounts will be approved by the Director of Financial 

Resources (s151 Officer) for the authority.  
 
6.4 The following will be taken into account when determining the appropriate 

grant amount: 
 
 Level of annual fixed ongoing business costs or the rateable value, if 

applicable.  
 

Page 236



Discretionary Grant Fund 

Page 7 of 10 

7 
6.5 Estimated grant amount: 
 
 

Fixed ongoing annual business costs Amount of 
Grant to be 

received 

Fixed ongoing business costs or rateable value up to £5,000 Up to £500 

Fixed ongoing business costs or rateable value between 
£5,001- £20,000 

Up to £2,000 

Fixed ongoing business costs or rateable value between 
£20,001 - £30,000 

Up to £3,000 

Fixed ongoing business costs or rateable value between 
£30,001 - £40,000 

Up to £4,000 

Fixed ongoing business costs or rateable value between 
£40,001- £50,000 

Up to £5,000 

Fixed ongoing business costs or rateable value greater than 
£50,000 

Up to £6,000 

 
 
6.6 Applications will be considered using the above criteria and using the 

following hierarchy: 
 

i. Rateable value 
ii. Fixed ongoing business related costs  

 
6.7 A two week application window will open from 12 July 2021 to 25 July 

2021. Following this period, The Director of Financial Resources may alter 
the grant amounts detailed above, based on applications received and 
processed.  This will ensure the maximum number of businesses receive 
support and will reduce the risk regarding any overspend for the authority. 
Businesses will be informed of their grant amount accordingly.   

 
7.  Information Required to Support Applications 
 

7.1 Each application must be accompanied with the following evidence:- 
 
 A business bank statement dated in the last 2 months; 
 A utility bill for the business dated in the last 2-3 months; 
 Confirmation of annual fixed property related costs for the business; 
 Confirmation of employee numbers; 
 Confirmation of turnover for 2019-20 and 2020-21 either by providing 

copies of accounts, or a covering letter from the business Accountant, if 
required.  

Page 237



Discretionary Grant Fund 

Page 8 of 10 

8 
 
7.2 The council reserves the right to request additional evidence from the 

business, if required.  
 

8. Application 
 
8.1 On line – https://www.copeland.gov.uk/additional-restrictions-grant  
 

9. Payment 
 

9.1 If Copeland Borough Council is provided with a completed application, 
along with all requested evidence specified under 7.1 of this policy, 
payment will be made to the bank account provided within 14 days of the 
application closure date.  

  

10. Subsidy Allowance 
 
10.1 On 4 March 21 new subsidy allowances were established for the COVID-19 

business grant schemes.  
 
10.2 This scheme is covered by three subsidy allowances: 
 
 Small Amounts of Financial Assistance Allowance – businesses are allowed 

up to £335,000 subject to exchange rates over any period of 3 years. 

Businesses may elect not to receive grants under the Small Amounts of 

Financial Assistance Allowance and instead receive grants only using the 

below allowances.  

 COVID-19 Business Grant Allowance – businesses are allowed up to 

£1,600,000. This allowance includes any grants previously received under 

the COVID-19 business grant schemes and any State aid previously 

received. This allowance can be combined with the Small Allowance to 

equal a threshold of £1,935,000.  

 COVID-19 Business Grant Special Allowance – if a business has reached the 

limits under the Small Amounts of Financial Assistance Allowance and the 

COVID-19 Business Grant Allowance, it may be able to access a further 

allowance of funding under these scheme rules of up to £9,000,000 

providing certain conditions are met: 

a. The Special Allowance covers only the applicant’s uncovered fixed costs 
incurred during the period between 1 March 2020 and the date of 

Page 238

https://www.copeland.gov.uk/additional-restrictions-grant


Discretionary Grant Fund 

Page 9 of 10 

9 
application, including such costs incurred in any part of that period 
(‘eligible period’);  
 

b. Applicants must demonstrate a decline in turnover during the eligible 
period of at least 30% compared to the same period in 2019. The 
calculation of losses will be based on audited accounts or official 
statutory accounts filed at Companies House, or approved accounts 
submitted to HMRC which includes information on the applicant’s profit 
and loss;  

 
c. ‘Uncovered fixed costs’ means fixed costs not otherwise covered by 

profit, insurance or other subsidies;  
 
d. The grant payment must not exceed 70% of the applicant’s uncovered 

fixed costs, except for micro and small enterprises (for the purposes of 
this scheme defined as less than 50 employees and less than £9,000,000 
of annual turnover and/or annual balance sheet), where the grant 
payment must not exceed 90% of the uncovered fixed costs;  

 
e. Grant payments under this allowance must not exceed £9,000,000 per 

single economic actor. This allowance includes any grants previously 
received in accordance with Section 3.12 of the European Commission’s 
Temporary Framework; all figures used must be gross, that is, before 
any deduction of tax or other charge;  

 
f. Grants provided under this allowance shall not be cumulated with other 

subsidies for the same costs. 
 

10.3 Applicants must be able to provide the necessary documentation to 
demonstrate eligibility for funding under the COVID-19 Business Grant 
Special Allowance.  

 
 

11. Refusals and the Right to Appeal  
 

11.1 There is no statutory right of appeal under this scheme.  
 
11.2 Where the conditions of this policy are not satisfied, Copeland Borough 

Council will write to the business setting out the reasons for refusal.  
 

Page 239



Discretionary Grant Fund 

Page 10 of 10 

10 
11.3 If the business remains aggrieved, they must write to the Council outlining 

the reasons for their appeal. 
 
11.4 Where an appeal is received, an officer other than the original decision 

maker will reconsider the decision and notify the business accordingly. The 
Director of Financial Resources will be consulted, if appropriate. 

 

12.  Fraud 
 

12.1 Copeland Borough Council will not accept deliberate manipulation and 
fraud – and any business caught falsifying their records to gain a grant will 
face prosecution. Any funding will be subject to claw back, as will any 
grants paid in error.  

 
12.2 The governments Grant Management and Counter Fraud Function has 

been made available to assist local authorities in identifying fraud swiftly.  

 
13. Monitoring & Review 
 
13.1 This policy will be reviewed on a regular basis and updated as appropriate 

to ensure it remains fit for purpose.  
 

14. Data Protection and Sharing Information 
 

14.1 The information provided by the Business, or applicant on their behalf, will 
be treated as confidential in accordance with the law. The Council has a 
duty to protect the public funds it administers, and may use information 
held about the business where the law permits, including but not limited to 
the prevention and detection of fraud. This may include sharing 
information with other council services and other organisations who 
administer public funds. 

 

15. Government Guidance 
 
15.1 The full government guidance can be viewed here: 
  
 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uplo

ads/attachment_data/file/984335/additional-restrictions-grant-la-
guidance.pdf  

Page 240

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/984335/additional-restrictions-grant-la-guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/984335/additional-restrictions-grant-la-guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/984335/additional-restrictions-grant-la-guidance.pdf


 

 

Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

Dated: 10 July 2021 
 
Please see below motion which I would like to be submitted for full council to 
vote on.  
 
“This council believes planning works best when developers and the local 
community work together to shape local areas and deliver necessary new 
homes; and therefore calls on the Government to protect the right of 
communities to object to individual planning applications.” 
 
 
Thanks, 
 
Joseph Ghayouba 
 

Page 241

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Parliamentary Boundary Review 2023
	Appendix 1 - 2021-06-08-Initial-Proposals-North-West-Region
	Contents
	Summary
	Who we are and what we do
	The 2023 Review
	Initial proposals
	What is changing in the North West region?
	How to have your say

	1	What is the Boundary Commission for England?
	2	Background to the 2023€Review
	The rules in the legislation
	Timetable for our review
	Stage one – development of initial proposals
	Stage two – consultation on initial proposals
	Stage three – consultation on representations received
	Stage four – development and publication of revised proposals
	Stage five – development and publication of the final report and recommendations


	3	Initial proposals for the North West region
	Initial Proposals for the Cumbria and Lancashire sub-region
	Initial Proposals for the Cheshire and Merseyside sub-region
	Initial proposals in the Greater Manchester sub-region

	4	How to have your say
	How can you give us your views?
	What do we want views on?

	Appendix: Initial proposals for constituencies, including wards and electorates
	Glossary

	Appendix 2 - Map
	Appendix 3 - AlternativeProposalMap

	5 Constitution
	App A (i) Part 3.13 Scheme of Delegations - v2 SS-CB-SP 12042021
	App A (ii) 3.14 Appointment of proper officers
	App B  Council procedure rules budget v6 SP CB SP SB SP 09042021
	Appendix C - Planning
	Financial Regulation v5

	6 Financial Matters Relating To Covid-19 - Distribution of Further Central Government 'Additional Restrictions Grant Scheme' - Noting of Urgent Action
	Officer decision record - Business Rates Grant - ARG - 1st July 2021
	ARG Policy Document (002)

	7 Motion, received under rule 12 of Chapter 5 of the Constitution, from Councillor Joseph Ghayouba



